A big house in the country: Assessing the biodiversity and ecosystem service values of trees and their management trade-offs in the Harewood Estate parkland

Louise Rebecca Leslie Henry

Submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of Master of Science by Research

University of Leeds

School of Geography

July 2021

The candidate confirms that the work submitted is their own and that appropriate credit has been given where reference has been made to the work of others.

This copy has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the thesis may be published without proper acknowledgement.

Acknowledgements

Firstly I would like to thank my supervisors Dr Julie Peacock, Dr Karen Bacon and Professor Jon Lovett for their support, guidance and expertise throughout my Masters by Research.

I would also like to thank the team at the Harewood Estate for their support throughout fieldwork and enthusiasm about my research, in particular Ben Lascelles and Ailsa Henderson, without whom this project would not have been possible.

I am also grateful to the friends, family, colleagues and anyone else I've managed to strike up a conversation with about trees, who have helped inform my ideas along the way, and helped me start and complete my Master's degree during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Special thanks to James Westgate, Jake Anderson and Professor Nick Henry who have helped me across the final hurdles of putting my thesis together.

A final thankyou to the University of Leeds Ecology and Global Change research group for a tuition fee bursary and research budget to part support my Masters by Research.

Abstract

Wood-pasture and parkland estates are managed landscapes which represent an important part of UK conservation and cultural heritage. The landscapes have historically been multifunctional, yet their values in meeting 21st century societal needs, such as tackling ecosystem degradation and biodiversity loss, have been overlooked. This thesis aims to value the Harewood Estate parkland to determine its biodiversity and ecosystem service (ES) benefits, identify the characteristics that influence these values, and identify trade-offs between these values to support management decisions. Values were generated using the Tree-related Microhabitats (TreMs) methodology, i-Tree Eco software and CAVAT tool and statistically modelled to determine the main tree and landscape drivers of these values. This thesis found the historic parkland estate is a complex landscape which is valuable due to its dominance of veteran and ancient trees. Despite relatively low levels of diversity within the tree communities themselves. TreM diversity was higher in parkland trees than trees found in broadleaf European forests. Parkland trees currently provide 1,224,030 kg of carbon storage, 14,522 kg/year of gross carbon sequestration, 693 m³/year avoided stormwater runoff and 412 kg/year air pollution removal regulating ES values and £28,117,919 in cultural amenity ES value. The consistent dominant driver of these values was tree size and age, agreeing with the previous literature that it is the largest and oldest trees that contribute disproportionately to biodiversity and ES. Biodiversity, regulating ES and cultural ES were overwhelmingly synergistic when trade-off analysis was carried out, suggesting the Harewood Estate parkland is a successfully multifunctional landscape. A parkland tree management plan should be created, with future management initially focused on maintaining and retaining veteran and ancient trees, as these trees provide greater benefits the larger and older they become. Wood-pasture and parkland estates have an important part to play in meeting 21st century societal challenges and under the correct sustainable management regime they can help achieve this.

Table of contents

Acknow	Acknowledgementsii				
Abstrac	٠ t	iii			
Table of	f contents	iv			
List of f	igures	vii			
List of t	ables	. viii			
1 Intr	oduction	1			
1.1	Ecosystem services, biodiversity and their importance within the UK landscape	1			
1.2	Wood-pasture and parkland in the UK	2			
1.3	Veteran trees in wood-pasture and parkland	3			
1.4	Tree valuation	4			
1.5	Managing wood-pasture and parkland in stately homes	5			
1.6	Research aims	6			
1.7	Thesis structure	7			
2 Met	hodology	8			
2.1	Study site	8			
2.2	1999 parkland tree survey	9			
2.3	Field data collection	9			
2.4	TreM	. 10			
2.5	i-Tree Eco	.11			
2.6	CAVAT	.11			
2.7	GIS analysis	. 13			
2.8		.13			
3 The	biodiversity values of parkland estate trees	. 16			
3.1		. 16			
3.2		. 17			
3.2.	1 I ree community diversity analysis	.17			
3.2.	2 TreM richness analysis	. 18			
3.2.	3 TreM community composition analysis	. 19			
3.3	Results	. 19			
3.3.	1 Parkland tree community diversity	. 19			
3.3.	2 Parkland tree microhabitat diversity	. 22			
3.4	Discussion	. 27			
3.4.	1 Quantified tree diversity	. 27			
3.4.	2 Large, old trees are most important for TreM diversity	. 29			
3.4.	3 Greater species diversity could lead to greater TreM diversity	. 30			

3.4.4 Landscape management can affect TreM diversity but is		4	Landscape management can affect TreM diversity but is not a main driver	31
	3.4.5 Conclusions		32	
4	The	ecc	osystem service values provided by parkland trees	34
4	4.1	Intro	oduction	34
4	4.2	Met	hods	35
	4.2.	1	Regulating and cultural ES valuation	35
	4.2.	2	Tree and landscape characteristics analysis	35
	4.2.	3	20 year changes analysis	36
4	4.3	Res	sults	36
	4.3.	1	Regulating and cultural ES values provided by parkland trees	36
	4.3.	2	Tree and landscape characteristics driving ES values in parkland trees	38
	4.3.	3	20 year parkland tree changes	41
4	4.4	Dise	cussion	43
	4.4.	1	Quantified ES benefits	43
	4.4.	2	Tree size is most important for high ES values	45
	4.4.	3	Both native and non-native species are important for ES values	46
	4.4.	4	ES values increased and decreased in 20 years	47
	4.4.	5	Conclusions	48
5	The	e tra	de-offs and synergies between biodiversity, regulating ecosystem servic	es and
cu	ltural	есо	system services in parkland trees	49
į	5.1	Intro	oduction	49
į	5.2	Met	hods	49
	5.2.	1	Statistical analysis	50
ę	5.3	Res	sults	50
į	5.4	Dise	cussion	52
	5.4.	1	Relationships are synergistic between biodiversity and ES	52
	5.4.	2	Parkland is still a multifunctional landscape	53
	5.4.	3	Tree size and age underlie synergistic relationships	54
	5.4.	4	Conclusions	54
6	Dis	cuss	sion	56
(6.1	Big	trees are best	56
(6.2	Par	kland is a landscape mosaic	57
(6.3	Thr	eats to Harewood Estate parkland continuity	58

	6.4	Parkland management recommendations	58
	6.5	Results in the broader context of parkland estates	61
7	Cor	nclusion	62
8	Bib	liography	63
9	Арр	pendices	86
	Appe	ndix A. The Tree-related Microhabitat (TreM) hierarchical typology	86
	Appe	ndix B. Description of input variables used in i-Tree Eco and CAVAT	89
	Appe	ndix C. Taxonomic details of tree species identified in the Harewood Estate parkland	90
	Appe	ndix D. Microhabitat type and total number of observed tree-related microhabitats	91
	Appe	ndix E. Results of ecosystem service Kruskal-Wallis and Spearman's Rank correla	ation
	analys	sis	93

List of figures

Figure 1. The relationship between biodiversity, ecosystem function and human well-being in the
ecosystem service cascade2
Figure 2. Harewood Estate map of the three parkland study sites
Figure 3. Relative abundance of tree species in the South Park, Deer Park and North Front21
Figure 4. Tree size class distribution based on diameter at breast height of trees in the South Park,
Deer Park, and North Front21
Figure 5. Relationship between tree microhabitat richness and diameter at breast height
Figure 6. Tree microhabitat richness by diameter at breast height veteran age class
Figure 7. Tree microhabitat richness by tree species
Figure 8. Two-way interaction between Deer Park and South Park and leaf area by tree microhabitat
richness
Figure 9. Relative abundance of tree microhabitat groups by tree species27
Figure 10. Relationships between tree size and ES values
Figure 11. Relationships between DBH and carbon storage, gross carbon sequestration, avoided
stormwater runoff, air pollution removal and amenity value of individual parkland trees by species
Figure 12. Annual trunk growth rate by diameter at breast height size class of parkland trees 41
Figure 13. Annual trunk growth rate of parkland trees by species
Figure 14. Changes in carbon storage, gross carbon sequestration, avoided stormwater runoff and
air pollution removal ecosystem service values of trees in the Harewood Estate parkland between
1999 and 2017/2020
Figure 15. Pairwise Spearman's Rank correlation coefficients between biodiversity and ecosystem
service values
Figure 16. PCA plot highlighting the discrimination between biodiversity, regulating ecosystem
services and cultural ecosystem services variables51

List of tables

Table 1. Diversity data comparing the South Park, Deer Park, North Front and total study area20
Table 2. Generalised linear model results for the prediction of TreM richness for individual trees after
multi-model inference selection using scaled predictors
Table 3. Multivariate generalised linear model results for the predictors of tree microhabitat
community composition of parkland trees25
Table 4. Univariate generalised linear model results 26
Table 5. Total regulating ecosystem service values of the parkland trees in the South Park, Deer
Park, North Front and total study area
Table 6. Per hectare regulating ecosystem service values of the parkland trees in the South Park,
Deer Park, North Front and total study area37
Table 7. Total and per hectare cultural amenity ecosystem service values of the parkland trees in
the South Park and Deer Park
Table 8. Significant results of Kruskal-Wallis and Spearman's Rank correlation analysis confirming
which ecosystem service values provided by parkland trees can be explained by different tree and
landscape characteristics

1 Introduction

There is increasing global recognition that natural ecosystems provide services to life on Earth, and that this makes them valuable (Costanza et al., 2014; Sheng et al., 2019; Dasgupta, 2021). However, natural ecosystems and biodiversity are in decline (IPBES, 2019). In the UK, 71% of ecosystems (quantified as natural capital assets by the Natural Capital Committee) are deteriorating (Natural Capital Committee, 2020), with 41% of species declining in abundance, 27% of species decreasing in distribution and 15% threatened with extinction (Hayhow et al., 2019). These declines have left the UK as one of the most nature-depleted countries on Earth, ranking 189 out of 218 countries for biodiversity intactness (Steffen et al., 2015; Hayhow et al., 2016). In recent years, ecosystem collapse has been listed in the top five global risks to human's way of life (IPBES, 2019; World Economic Forum, 2020). Human activity, including land use change, pollution and climate change, is responsible for these declines (Hayhow et al., 2019; Díaz et al., 2019) and is now the dominant driver of change on Earth (Vitousek et al., 1997; Waters et al., 2016).

1.1 Ecosystem services, biodiversity and their importance within the UK landscape

Declines in ecosystems and biodiversity are reflected in the decline of ecosystem services. Ecosystem services (ES) are the contributions that natural ecosystems make to human well-being (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005; Haines-Young and Potschin, 2018). Approximately 30% of UK ecosystem services are in decline, with many others reduced or degraded (UK National Ecosystem Assessment, 2011; UK National Ecosystem Assessment, 2014). ES have historically been split in to four categories: provisioning, regulating, cultural, and supporting services (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005; TEEB, 2010). However, these categories overlap and are interdependent on each other. This, coupled with supporting services having an underpinning role on the three other ES categories, has led to debate and refinement of ES categorisation. The most recent Common International Classification of Ecosystem Services (CICES) now classifies ES in to three categories: provisioning; regulating and maintenance; and cultural services (Haines-Young and Potschin, 2012; Haines-Young and Potschin, 2018).

The importance of biodiversity in underpinning the delivery of ES and human well-being is well recognised (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005; Díaz et al., 2006; Cardinale et al., 2012), as well as its role as a final ES (e.g. pollination) (Klein et al., 2006; Mace et al., 2012). ES relationships with ecosystems, biodiversity, ecosystem function and human well-being can be illustrated in an ecosystem service cascade (Figure 1). Changes in these biodiversity-ES relationships will have an impact on the flow of ES in this cascade, and therefore impact the benefits and values derived by humans.



POLICY AND DECISION-MAKING

Figure 1. The relationship between biodiversity, ecosystem function and human well-being in the ecosystem service cascade. Policy and decision-making feed back into the cascade and ultimately have control over increases or decreases in human well-being. Adapted from Haines-Young and Potschin (2010) and Martín-López et al. (2014).

The link between declines in biodiversity and declines in ES is increasingly understood (Balvanera et al., 2006; Cardinale et al., 2006), and consequently the link between policy and management decisions on biodiversity and land use and the supplying of these services (Figure 1; Ruckelshaus et al., 2015; Geijzendorffer et al., 2017). It is important then to manage ecosystems and biodiversity through policy and decision-making, to maintain healthy ecosystems and restore previous degradation, and to achieve greater benefits and value for humans. A key requirement to do this is the valuation of localised ES by governments, public and private organisations to understand the range and balance of benefits for people, the environment and the economy (Guerry et al., 2015; Lear et al., 2020; Dasgupta, 2021). The problem remains that such valuation of localised ES is still developing, especially in its coverage of different land use types (Pandeya et al., 2016).

For example, the publication of the 25 Year Environmental Plan by the UK government highlights the need to tackle ecosystem degradation and biodiversity loss, including the need to update the UK National Ecosystem Assessment (2011), to quantify the current ecosystem service values provided by the UK environment, and embed biodiversity net gain within development and land management (Defra, 2018). Without robust data driving policy and land management decisions, decisions will continue to be made that negatively affect biodiversity and ecosystem services and therefore human well-being.

1.2 Wood-pasture and parkland in the UK

An important yet overlooked land use type relevant to biodiversity and ES is wood-pasture and historic parkland. This is one of the oldest land use types in Europe (Vera, 2000; Luick, 2008), and represents an important part of UK conservation and cultural heritage (Read and Bengtsson, 2019).

Wood-pasture and parkland are social–ecological ecosystems that are comprised broadly of human-managed habitat mosaics of open-grown trees with a grazed understorey (Bergmeier et al., 2010; JNCC, 2011; Reid et al., 2021). Rather than being a particular plant community, they represent a vegetation structure. They can vary based on the historic land use and current management (Gillet, 2008; Chételat et al., 2013), with different types including old wooded commons, medieval deer parks, Royal Forests and landscape parks (Rackham, 1986; Hartel et al., 2013; Read and Bengtsson, 2019).

In the UK, wood-pasture and parkland is valuable on a national level, being recognised as a priority habitat of conservation significance in the UK (JNCC, 2019). Wood-pasture and parkland are particularly valued for their trees, especially veteran and ancient trees, with the unique species assemblages they support (Manning et al., 2006; Plieninger, Hartel, et al., 2015) and cultural heritage value (Woodland Trust, 2008a). The high UK concentration of ancient and veteran trees relative to the rest of Europe (Kirby et al., 1995; Butler et al., 2002; Nolan et al., 2020) is also a valued habitat at a European level (Plieninger, Hartel, et al., 2015). It is the importance of its landscape continuity which has created important and unique components of particularly high biodiversity and social–cultural value.

One of the main threats to the habitat is land use change (Plieninger, 2012; Read and Bengtsson, 2019). For example, conversion to more intensive agriculture meaning high-intensity grazing and grassland management and no new tree recruitment into the population (Bergmeier et al., 2010). Therefore quantifying the importance of biodiversity and ES in wood-pasture and parkland is important to put a value on a threatened landscape that is affected by management decisions.

1.3 Veteran trees in wood-pasture and parkland

Of particular significance to the value of wood-pasture and parkland is open-grown veteran and ancient trees: 26% of veteran and ancient trees recorded in the UK are located in wood-pasture and parkland (Reid et al., 2021; Woodland Trust, 2021).

Trees broadly develop in three phases (White, 1998; Read, 2000; Dujesiefken et al., 2016). These are the young phase, from seedling establishment until maturity; the mature phase, when the maximum crown size is reached; and the ancient senescent phase, when crown retrenchment begins whilst trunk girth still increases. Characteristics associated with veteran and ancient trees arise during this final developmental phase, including trunk hollowing, cavities and holes, bark loss, canopy deadwood and the presence of saproxylic organisms (Read, 2000; Rust and Roloff, 2002).

Veteran and ancient trees provide numerous benefits to humans. Like all trees, they contribute to ecosystem services such as carbon storage (Lutz et al., 2018). They are 'keystone structures' for biological communities (Lindenmayer et al., 2014), and have been linked with high levels of biodiversity, supporting specialised species including saproxylic invertebrates (Siltonen and Ranius,

2015; Seibold et al., 2018), saprotrophic and mycorrhizal fungi (Boddy, 2001), epiphytes (e.g. lichens and ferns) (Ranius et al., 2008), bats (Kalcounis-Riippell et al., 2005; Tillon et al., 2016) and birds (Loyn and Kennedy, 2009). Veteran and ancient trees are an integral part of many traditional landscapes and sacred sites (Lindenmayer and Laurance, 2017; Nolan et al., 2020), especially wood-pasture and parkland due to their management continuity and open-grown planting regimes. They can also be used as evidence for changes over time. For example, changes in land use practises and tree management such as pollarding and coppicing (Petit and Watkins, 2003), as well as past changes in temperature, water availability and disease outbreaks (Briffa, 2000; Ballesteros et al., 2010; Bengtsson et al., 2021). Veteran and ancient trees are also important safeguards for genetic resources for the future (Read, 2000; Lonsdale, 2013; Paprštein et al., 2015), with the trees potentially harbouring genes for stress tolerance or pest resistance (Major, 1967) which will become important for managing anthropogenic threats such as a changing climate and introduced tree pests and diseases. However veteran and ancient trees are being lost from landscapes, including from wood-pasture and parkland, causing conservation concern, with negative consequences on biodiversity and ecosystem services (Lindenmayer et al., 2012; Miklín and Čížek, 2014; McDowell et al., 2020). Appropriate management of these veteran and ancient trees is therefore important when discussing the management of wood-pasture and parkland (Read, 2000; Lonsdale, 2013; Lindenmayer, 2017).

1.4 Tree valuation

It is clear that taking stock of the biodiversity and ES trees provide is critically important for the management of wood-pasture and parkland and the values these landscapes deliver. Valuation can be monetary or non-monetary (Gómez-Baggethun et al., 2010; Laurila-Pant et al., 2015). Both monetary and non-monetary valuation have been demonstrated to be important to land managers and policy-makers when valuing biodiversity and ES (Ruckelshaus et al., 2015; Handmaker et al., 2021), due to both the importance of monetary valuation in cost-benefit management decisions (de Groot et al., 2012; Dasgupta, 2021), and 'priceless' intrinsic values ascribed to places or species (Daniel et al., 2012; Scholte et al., 2015). Therefore it is important to consider whether to value biodiversity and ES in monetary and/or non-monetary terms depending on the aim of the valuation.

Assessing the biodiversity value of individual trees can either be done by quantifying the microhabitats on trees or quantifying the species associated with these microhabitats (Laurila-Pant et al., 2015; Paillet et al., 2018). Microhabitats could be indicators for the biodiversity that uses them (Lassauce et al., 2011; Gao et al., 2015; Asbeck et al., 2021). Microhabitats are akin to veteran tree features, therefore assessing tree microhabitats also give an insight in to other regulating and cultural ecosystem service values the trees may provide through being older. Continuing on from the initial Veteran Trees Initiative Specialist Survey Methodology, the Tree-related Microhabitats (TreMs) methodology and typology was formalised in 2018 to standardise tree biodiversity monitoring for

forest sites (Kraus et al., 2016; Larrieu et al., 2018). This thesis will be the first study to use the TreMs methodology for veteran trees in a parkland habitat.

Beyond biodiversity value, trees are known to provide many ES benefits including timber (UK National Ecosystem Assessment, 2011), carbon sequestration (Nowak and Greenfield, 2018) and human well-being (Salmond et al., 2016). However, ES research on trees has mainly focused on forest (Gamfeldt et al., 2013), agricultural (Barrios et al., 2018) and urban ecosystems (Hall et al., 2018; Turner-Skoff and Cavender, 2019). A habitat under-researched in tree ES literature is wood-pasture and parkland. Veteran trees are also underrepresented in the current ES valuation literature, with studies focused on younger tree populations rather than larger, older trees (Hand et al., 2019). i-Tree Eco is a programme which has been successfully used to quantify forest structure, regulating ecosystem services and the economic value of tree communities (Nowak, 2020).

Capital Asset Value for Amenity Trees (CAVAT) is a tool developed in the UK for public authorities to estimate the replacement value of trees based on their aesthetic qualities and value to the community (Neilan, 2017; Doick et al., 2018). The amenity value of trees is a cultural ES, and despite CAVAT's arguably subjective judgements (Price, 2020), it is still a useful, reproducible tool for indicating how valuable individual trees are based on their aesthetic qualities. Aesthetic cultural value is important in historic wood-pasture and parkland, with landscape design being an crucial feature of their aesthetic appeal and cultural heritage value (Tengberg et al., 2012; Walerzak et al., 2015). The incorporation of cultural value in ES valuation is also important for inclusive valuation, taking in to account social sciences and local practitioners perspectives, to arrive at holistic and sustainable management recommendations (Plieninger, Bieling, et al., 2015; Díaz et al., 2018).

1.5 Managing wood-pasture and parkland in stately homes

Wood-pasture and parkland in the UK is often associated with historic estates, with many estates of stately homes falling within this habitat type. Wood-pasture and parkland covers approximately 278,100 hectares (2.1%) of the total England landcover (data is not available for Wales, Scotland or Northern Ireland) (Natural England, 2020). Approximately 129,539 hectares (46.6%) of this habitat is made up of the estates of stately homes (Roberts, 1995; Historic England, 2018). The estates of stately homes are designed parklands that provide a habitat between urban and intensively managed agricultural landscapes, with many located closer to urban limits due to urban sprawl since the stately homes were originally constructed, making them unique in their ecological placement (Peacock et al., 2018; Šantrůčková et al., 2019).

Previous research on stately homes has mainly focused on their biodiversity values (Liira et al., 2012; Jonsell, 2012; Lõhmus and Liira, 2013; Walerzak et al., 2015; Šantrůčková et al., 2019), yet historic parkland estates have known aesthetic and cultural heritage values. Many in the UK are designated as Registered Parks and Gardens for example (Roberts, 1995), yet their cultural ES

values in the UK are still yet to be fully studied (Askwith, 1999; Lawton et al., 2020). They also have other values. Most recently, regulating ES have been the focus of ES valuation study, where the economic value of carbon storage and sequestration, runoff prevention and pollution removal have been studied as additional values provided by trees in the grounds of stately homes (Peacock et al., 2018). However these former studies lack a holistic approach to the valuation of historic parkland which is a key in the management of these multifunctional landscapes, where no value is necessarily more important than the others. Biodiversity, regulating and cultural ES are then important benefits that are provided by parkland estates. Yet in order to make management decisions that provide all these benefits understanding the effects of management decisions, which can change the type, magnitude, and relative mix of ES provided - i.e. trade-off analysis - is needed between them (Carpenter et al., 2009).

In conclusion, stately homes, their parkland and veteran trees are a key land use of local, national and European significance offering a range of services, benefits and values to humans. Yet existing studies have lacked integrated valuation and have overlooked the ES values of parkland estates; there has been only one previous study on the regulating ES of parkland estates, with the cultural ES value understudied in the UK. As an integral part of parkland estates and their value, veteran trees are particularly underrepresented in biodiversity and ES research. There are difficult decisions to be made in terms of the management priority of parkland estate going forward. Despite the importance of biodiversity, regulating and cultural values in the identity of parkland estates, they are faced with other land use challenges such as conversion to intensive agriculture. To inform their management, they need to be able to assess the different values. Indeed, it is evident that some values are potentially in conflict in decision-making management scenarios, such as cultural heritage values with economic carbon storage values.

1.6 Research aims

It is the overarching aim of this thesis to support understanding in historic parkland estate management scenarios through applications of parkland value assessments based on tree valuation. This will include one of the first ever investigations of some of the potential trade-off relationships between the important values parkland estates provide. The objectives of this thesis are to:

- Advance the understanding of the valuation of parkland landscapes through the valuation of trees,
- Achieve this through the application of different tree valuation approaches, namely biodiversity and ES valuation,
- Use this information to make recommendations for the future management of the parkland estate.

In order to do this, this thesis addresses the following research questions:

- 1. What are the biodiversity values of parkland estate trees?
- 2. What are the regulating and cultural ecosystem service values of the parkland estate trees?
- 3. How can trade-offs or synergies between these values support the management of parkland estates?

1.7 Thesis structure

Following this introductory Chapter 1 setting out the context, aims and objectives, the thesis continues with Chapter 2 which sets out the research design and methodology chosen to undertake the empirical fieldwork. Chapters 3, 4 and 5 provide three separate results chapters, including detailed processes of data analysis. Chapter 3 values the parkland tree community and tree microhabitat diversity, and identifies the driving factors at the tree and landscape scale of the tree microhabitat diversity value. Chapter 4 values the regulating and cultural ES of the parkland trees and identifies the driving factors at the tree and landscape scale of these values. It then goes on to quantify how the parkland and its ES values have changed in 20 years. Chapter 5 identifies whether there are trade-offs or synergies between these tree-scale biodiversity and ES values and why this may be the case. Each of the findings chapters provides an initial discussion. Chapter 6 brings these together to return to the aims, objectives and research questions and to demonstrate how these findings can be used to inform future parkland management.

2 Methodology

2.1 Study site

The study field site is located on the Harewood Estate, West Yorkshire, United Kingdom, approximately 10 km north of Leeds city centre. Harewood House is a Grade I listed building, now over 260 years old, and one of England's foremost stately homes (Treasure Houses of England, 2021). The house is set in a prominent 400 hectare 'Capability' Brown landscape comprising open parkland, ancient and managed woodland, and a large lake. The landscape is designated as a Grade I Registered Park and Garden (Historic England, 1984).

This study focuses on three areas of parkland: Deer Park, North Front and South Park (centroid grid references SE 31161 45378, SE 31165 44815 and SE 31778 44433 respectively) (Figure 2). These were chosen to represent differing parkland management regimes. The Deer Park is a restored medieval deer park, grazed by a managed herd of red deer *Cervus elaphus* and fallow deer *Dama dama*. The North Front is a frequently mown parkland used by visitors and for outdoor events. The South Park is managed by a mixture of mowing, hay cropping and grazing by sheep.



Figure 2. Harewood Estate map of the three parkland study sites: Deer Park (red), North Front (yellow), South Park (blue) with surrounding waterbodies, parkland and woodland habitat.

2.2 1999 parkland tree survey

A comprehensive parkland tree survey was carried out on the Harewood Estate in summer 1999 (Hutton Forestry, 1999). Information was recorded on the species; diameter at breast height (DBH) (cm), measured at 1.3 m above ground level; height (m); age classification (young growing phase, semi-mature, mature); and an individual ID number for each trees. Notes were also made on the trees' current condition, with particular reference to any major defects that were apparent and recommended tree removals.

The 1999 survey data was digitised and georeferenced (Supplementary Appendix S1). For quality assurance, the grid reference coordinates and descriptions of the trees in 1999 were aligned during 2020 fieldwork, to confirm the trees had been correctly georeferenced.

2.3 Field data collection

566 trees were surveyed as part of this study (Supplementary Appendix S2). Information on the tree species and location was recorded, along with detailed field measurements to assess the size and condition of each tree.

Field data collection combined methodologies from the Veteran Tree Specialist Survey Methodology (Fay and De Berker, 1997), i-Tree Eco (i-Tree, 2020a), Capital Asset Value for Amenity Trees (CAVAT) (Neilan, 2017; Doick et al., 2018), the catalogue of Tree-related Microhabitats (TreMs) (Kraus et al., 2016; Larrieu et al., 2018) and signs and symptoms of notable tree pests and diseases (OPAL, 2013; Forest Research, 2020) (Supplementary Appendix S2).

Fieldwork was carried out during the tree leaf-on season in August-October 2020 for trees in the South Park and Deer Park. In the North Front, 64 trees were assessed in July-August 2017 as part of the Peacock et al. (2018) study, with an additional 5 trees assessed in 2020 to correspond with all those surveyed in 1999.

For this study, a tree was defined as a woody plant species with a DBH of greater than or equal to 7 cm (Larrieu et al., 2018; Gugan et al., 2019), or at least 2 m in height (Rural Payments Agency and Natural England, 2016). Trees that were initially surveyed in the South Park, Deer Park and North Front in the 1999 parkland tree survey (Hutton Forestry, 1999) were re-surveyed, as well as all the protected sapling trees planted since 1999. Tree species identification was reconfirmed to confirm the initial 1999 identification. Shrubs and other herbaceous plants were not surveyed in detail as part of the study.

DBH was measured at a height of 1.3 m (Hutton Forestry, 1999) unless swellings, burrs, branches or other irregular features occurred at 1.3 m height, then measurements were taken at the nearest point where the trunk was more regular (Fay and De Berker, 1997; White, 1998; i-Tree, 2020a).

2.4 TreM

In the UK, the standard methodology for surveying veteran trees is the Veteran Trees Initiative Specialist Survey Methodology (Fay and De Berker, 1997). This was developed to record veteran trees and their veteran tree features in a standardised way. However the aim of the methodology was not to produce data for scientific analysis and thus the methodology is unsuitable for this (Natural England, 2015), with subsequent research taking elements of the methodology and amending it to suit specific research aims (Read et al., 2010; Hall and Bunce, 2011). Therefore this loses the standardisation and ability to compare research carried out using the same methodology.

The Tree-related Microhabitats (TreMs) methodology and typology was formalised in 2018 to standardise tree biodiversity monitoring for forest sites (Kraus et al., 2016; Larrieu et al., 2018). Although not specifically designed for surveying veteran trees, there is much crossover between the TreMs and Specialist Survey methodologies, making it useful for studying veteran trees. The TreMs methodology has also been used to predict the drivers of TreM occurrence (Asbeck et al., 2019), assess TreM suitability as biodiversity indicators (Basile et al., 2020), and inform the management of commercial forests (Asbeck et al., 2021). However up until this study, it has predominantly been used in managed forestry habitats and the typically younger trees associated with these forestry sites. Therefore this thesis will be the first study to use the TreMs methodology for veteran trees in a parkland habitat.

The TreM catalogue includes 64 individual TreM types which can be grouped in to 8 forms (Appendix A). The additional category of fallen deadwood units was added to the fieldwork collection methodology from the Veteran Tree Specialist Survey Method (Fay and De Berker, 1997), to further quantify important deadwood habitat which is not possible in closed-canopy forest habitats.

A sub-set of 249 trees were fully assessed for TreMs in South Park and Deer Park as part of the study. Planted sapling trees were found to have no TreMs and were therefore excluded from further analysis. The North Front was not sampled for any tree microhabitats due to time constraints.

In the literature, the terms 'veteran', 'ancient', 'large old', 'notable', 'heritage' and 'champion' are often used interchangeably (Read, 2000; Fay, 2002; Pautasso and Chiarucci, 2008; Lindenmayer and Laurance, 2017) despite subtle distinctions in their definitions, which are important to clarify when classifying trees with reference to size, age or other characteristics (Woodland Trust, 2008b; Lonsdale, 2013; Nolan et al., 2020). For the purpose of this thesis, a veteran tree is defined as a tree showing 'veteran' characteristics e.g. crown retrenchment, trunk hollowing, fissured bark, and the presence of saproxylic organisms (Fay and De Berker, 1997; Dujesiefken et al., 2016; VETcert, 2019). An ancient tree is defined as a tree showing 'veteran' characteristics and is of great chronological age for the species. Age is primarily based on trunk DBH (White, 1998), and approximate age-diameter relationships have been calculated for most common UK tree species

(Mitchell, 1974; Defra, 2007; Hand et al., 2019). All ancient trees are veteran trees, therefore any use of the term 'veteran' in this thesis refers to both veteran and ancient trees unless specified otherwise.

2.5 i-Tree Eco

The i-Tree suite of software was initially developed for use in urban areas by the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) Forest Service, and has now been adapted for use in other countries, including the UK (with Forest Research), using location-specific inputs. Previous regulating ES valuation of trees has involved published formulas to work out specific ecosystem service values, for example allometric equations to work out carbon storage values (Chave et al., 2005), whereas i-Tree Eco combines this in to one programme. i-Tree also allowed the valuation of ES on an individual tree-scale, being more appropriate for open-grown individual parkland trees, as opposed to previous methods which analysed ES on a landscape-scale (Torralba et al., 2016).

This study used i-Tree Eco version 6.0.22 (i-Tree, 2020c) to quantify the forest structure, regulating ES and economic value of the parkland trees. A complete tree inventory software configuration was used for each parkland site. Pollution and weather data from the Church Fenton weather station near Leeds in 2013 was used for modelling to correspond with the i-Tree project configuration used by Peacock et. al. (2018) and Gugan et al. (2019).

i-Tree Eco can be run using the minimum mandatory data of tree species and DBH. The addition of recommended field data allows for greater accuracy of the model outputs and includes: height of tree, height of canopy, size of canopy, light exposure, crown percentage missing, crown percentage dieback, and land use type. Tree measurements are then combined with local pollution and weather data, and tree reference data sets to model tree structure (including leaf area and biomass, canopy cover), structural 'tree replacement' value as well as estimated carbon storage, carbon sequestration, hydrology effects (avoided run-off, interception, transpiration), and air pollution removal ecosystem service benefits and monetary valuations of these services (Appendix B; i-Tree, 2020b). i-Tree Eco analysis on 2017 and 2020 field data was run with the full recommended field data set. To allow for comparison in outputs of tree services in 1999 and 2020, trees species, DBH, height of tree, light exposure, and land use type were used in analysis as this information was present in both datasets.

2.6 CAVAT

This study used CAVAT (Capital Asset Value for Amenity Trees) to quantify the amenity value of parkland trees by estimating their replacement cost. This study surveyed 497 trees in the South Park and Deer Park using the Full Method (Neilan, 2017; Doick et al., 2018). The North Front was not surveyed for amenity value due to time constraints.

Field data was collected on: crown percentage condition, reduced if canopy functionality was impaired by poor tree health; amenity value, factors taken in to account that increase the benefit of the tree to the community; appropriateness of the tree to the location, factors that decrease the benefits of the tree to the community; and life expectancy, based on 80 years; in addition to DBH and crown percentage completeness, which was based on the inverse of i-Tree crown percentage missing values rounded to the nearest 10% (Neilan, 2017; Doick et al., 2018).

Amenity values were adjusted based on tree characteristics specified in the CAVAT methodology (Neilan, 2017; Doick et al., 2018). All trees surveyed were automatically assigned an amenity value of 10%, as they are an integral part of a designed, protected parkland landscape (Firth, 1980; Historic England, 1984). Trees that were observed to be of particular importance to other wildlife (barn owl *Tyto alba* nest site, bat roost, woodpecker nest holes), or had local or commemorative importance ('two brothers' trees, wedding anniversary planting) were given an additional amenity value of 10%. Trees classified as veteran or ancient were given an additional amenity value of 30%. Veteran tree categorisation was estimated based on the presence of multiple ancient and veteran tree features (Fay and De Berker, 1997; Dujesiefken et al., 2016; VETcert, 2019), in particular:

- Whether the tree had been previously recorded in the Woodland Trust's Ancient Tree Inventory (Woodland Trust, 2021),
- Large DBH or of great chronological age for the species, established by Appendix 10 in the UK Hedgerow Survey Handbook (Defra, 2007),
- Trunk hollowing and the loss of a continuous functional sapwood 'outer shell' (Ranius et al., 2009),
- Crown retrenchment,
- Formation of a secondary tree crown,
- Reiterative and epicormic growth (Drénou et al., 2015),
- Visible fungal activity.

Tree appropriateness to location was decreased by 10% for trees that were causing obstruction, inconvenience or were noticeably unsightly (potential branch failures over public footpaths and roads, severe recent storm damage). Inappropriateness to location was still taken in to account in South Park despite the trees being only visible from private land, as visitors to the estate could still encounter them (Doick et al., 2018).

Tree life expectancy was estimated for all trees based on categories up to 80 years. Less than 80 years life expectancy and life expectancy value was reduced, more than 80 years life expectancy and life expectancy value was not reduced. Life expectancy was defined as the timescale that a tree can be reasonably retained in its location and substantially in its present form (British Standards Institution, 2012; Doick et al., 2018). No reduction was made for condition, such as a structural weakness, where life expectancy was not shortened and the tree was judged to be safe.

Ash *Fraxinus excelsior* trees were estimated to have a life expectancy of 10 years if they showed signs of significant ash dieback *Hymenoscyphus fraxineus* (Coker et al., 2019; Bengtsson et al., 2021). Life expectancy was also decreased if any tree showed signs of hollowing, major structural damage (natural pollarding, major trunk hollowing), and the presence of certain wood-decay fungi (honey fungus *Armillaria mellea*, beefsteak fungus *Fistulina hepatica*, chicken of the woods *Laetiporus sulphureus*, hen of the woods *Grifola frondosa*). Presence and location of epicormic growth increased the estimated life expectancy of a tree as it can indicate vitality of different regions of a tree (Fay and De Berker, 1997; Dujesiefken et al., 2016).

Field measurements were then combined with data on: the unit value factor (UVF), an annually adjusted price to represent the cost of a newly planted tree in £ per cm², currently set at £16.26 (London Tree Officers Association, 2021); community tree index (CTI) factor, which accounts for population density, adjusted to Leeds (100%) as the Harewood Estate falls within the Leeds conurbation (London Tree Officers Association, 2021); and location or 'public accessibility factor', defined as how visible each tree is from a public place (Doick et al., 2018; London Tree Officers Association, 2021). The location factor was set at 25% for South Park as it is only visible from private land; Deer Park was set at 100% as there are multiple public rights of way footpaths within the parkland, meaning all surveyed trees were visible from a public place.

However, CAVAT valuation is arguably a subjective judgement due to the need for previous arboricultural knowledge as well as differing opinions on positive or negative characteristics, despite the reproducible methodology (Doick et al., 2018; Price, 2020). Regardless, many i-Tree studies done in the UK have also supplemented their studies with CAVAT to address a lack of cultural ecosystem service considerations by the i-Tree software – including studies in London (London i-Tree Eco Project, 2015), Wrexham (Rumble et al., 2015), Leeds (Gugan et al., 2019; Mooney et al., 2020), and Hyde Park in London (Rogers et al., 2017). i-Tree Eco and CAVAT field measurements overlap, so this is easily done without adding significant additional time to surveying.

2.7 GIS analysis

ArcGIS Pro mapping and analysis software version 2.7.1 (ESRI, 2020) was used to measure the distance from an individual tree to the next nearest tree and to the nearest woodland. Datasets of woodland (Forestry Commission, 2018) and ancient woodland (Natural England, 2021) land cover were downloaded from data.gov.uk and combined in order to calculate the distance to any type of woodland in the vicinity.

2.8 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis and modelling was carried out using R statistical software package version 3.6.3 (R Core Team, 2020).

The trees were grouped broadly into DBH size classes for analysis: ≤35 cm young phase, all the planted sapling trees fall within this size class; 36-65 cm semi-mature phase; 66-95 cm mature phase; 96-125 cm mature phase; ≥126 cm over-mature and veteran phase based on the previous 1999 parkland tree survey (Hutton Forestry, 1999), BS 5837:2012 tree categorisation assessment (British Standards Institution, 2012) and Hand et al. (2019) tree age classifications. This was for a better understanding of the relationship between tree size and the dependent variables. Trees were further classified in to veteran tree ages based on a large DBH or great chronological age for the specific species, established by Appendix 10 in the UK Hedgerow Survey Handbook (Defra, 2007), and age classification ranges based on the maximum achievable size and age recorded for tree species in Great Britain (Hand et al., 2019). Veteran trees were either classed as 'not veteran', 'notable', 'valuable' or 'ancient'. This further classification allowed for small stature trees (e.g. Crab Apple *Malus sylvestris* with a DBH of 64 cm), which would be classed as veteran based on their relative size for the species, to be correctly analysed as veteran to account for their old age which would be incorrectly analysed as young or semi-mature if grouped in to a low DBH size class.

Cedar *Cedrus* species (Cedar of Lebanon *Cedrus libani*, Atlas Cedar *Cedrus atlantica*, Blue Atlas Cedar *Cedrus atlantica* 'Glauca') were pooled for analysis as they are phenotypically similar (Pijut, 2000; Jasińska et al., 2013). Beech *Fagus sylvatica* and Copper Beech *Fagus sylvatica* 'Purpurea' were analysed together as they are genetically similar (Gallois et al., 1998; Packham et al., 2012). Species with less than six individuals were grouped for analysis into the category 'Other species' (Field Maple *Acer campestre*, Norway Maple *Acer platanoides*, Walnut *Juglans regia*, Crab Apple *Malus sylvestris*, Scots Pine *Pinus sylvestris*, Wild Cherry *Prunus avium*, Scarlet Oak *Quercus coccinea*, Daimyo Oak *Quercus dentata*, White Willow *Salix alba*, Crack Willow *Salix fragilis*) to prevent over-parameterisation. The species analysed were Sycamore *Acer pseudoplatanus*, Horse Chestnut *Aesculus hippocastanum*, Alder *Alnus glutinosa*, Sweet Chestnut *Castanea sativa*, *Cedrus spp.*, *Fagus sylvatica*, Ash *Fraxinus excelsior*, London Plane *Platanus x hispanica*, Pedunculate Oak *Quercus robur*, Small-leaved Lime *Tilia cordata* (Appendix C).

Percentage tree crown dieback was used as a proxy for tree condition, as specified in i-Tree Eco for estimating the compensatory value of trees (Nowak, 2020):

- Excellent (< 1% dieback)
- Good (1-10%)
- Fair (11-25%)
- Poor (26-50%)
- Critical (51-75%)
- Dying (76-99%)
- Dead (100%)

Dead trees were kept in analysis as a tree condition category. Further details of statistical analysis methods are given in the relevant chapters.

The input for the statistical analysis and models was largely based on human collected field data, which is subject to unavoidable errors and biases. However, human collected data also benefitted analysis by allowing a large number of trees to be assessed, the same individual carrying out both data collection and analyses, and resampling of previously assessed trees for temporal analysis.

3 The biodiversity values of parkland estate trees

3.1 Introduction

The parkland estates of stately homes have been shown to be refugia for biodiversity (Liira et al., 2012; Šantrůčková et al., 2017; Liira et al., 2020), acting as habitat 'islands' whilst urbanisation and rural intensification occur around them (Glendell and Vaughan, 2002; Fornal-Pieniak et al., 2018; Šantrůčková et al., 2019). Trees are important for this biodiversity, both in terms of their individual contribution to biodiversity and in the role they play in providing habitats for other species. Their value can be quantified at a community and individual tree level. Tree community diversity is important as it affects the dynamics of wider biodiversity. Canopy cover and tree species diversity are well used in forestry as simple valuation metrics that can be a good proxy for the benefits provided by tree communities and their climate change and pest resilience (del Río et al., 2016; Doick et al., 2020; Trees and Design Action Group, 2021). Tree density and age structure, including the number of veteran trees, also give an indication of how valuable a tree community is for biodiversity (Kowarik et al., 2016; Schall et al., 2018), and these are particularly important to quantify for parkland estates where the trees are open-grown and often of an old age (Latham et al., 2018).

Open-grown trees (also known as scattered trees and trees outside woodland) have been shown to be keystone structures, having a disproportionate positive effect on biodiversity and ecosystem function relative to the small area they occupy (Manning et al., 2006; Gibbons et al., 2008; Prevedello et al., 2018). Specifically, they act as habitat 'islands': providing shelter, feeding, breeding resources and distinct microclimates and microhabitats (Paltto et al., 2011; Horák and Rébl, 2013; Barth et al., 2019); and increasing landscape connectivity, by acting as stepping stones across intensively managed landscapes (Fischer et al., 2010; Frey-Ehrenbold et al., 2013). They could also help mitigate biodiversity loss by acting as biological legacies in disturbed landscapes: increasing genetic connectivity of tree populations (Lander et al., 2010) and functioning as centres for ecosystem regeneration (Derroire et al., 2016), as well as helping species adapt to climate change by facilitating movement through landscapes (Manning et al., 2009). The spatial configuration of parkland trees is also important aesthetically and culturally, for example in creating the 'green and pleasant land' planting regimes of 'Capability' Brown parkland landscapes (Alcock et al., 2015; Handley and Rotherham, 2017). However, these trees have been previously overlooked by researchers and their importance for biodiversity still remains unclear (Prevedello et al., 2018).

Different individual trees support different levels and types of biodiversity (Asbeck et al., 2019). This is largely determined by the types and amount of microhabitats present on the trees, as trees support other species largely through the provisioning of microhabitats. Studying tree microhabitats (TreMs) is therefore a useful approach for understanding what and how much diversity a tree can support. The TreMs typology was developed to formally quantify tree microhabitats (Larrieu et al., 2018). Research on TreMs using this typology has primarily focused on forestry habitats, with no studies in

wood-pasture and parkland (Asbeck et al., 2021). They have also been limited in their range, predominantly within Central-Europe and the Mediterranean, with no studies looking at trees in the UK (Asbeck et al., 2021). Veteran open-grown trees are missing from the literature on TreMs, which are found in wood-pasture and parkland landscapes. Most TreM studies have used DBH as a proxy for tree age, yet the relationship between tree diameter and tree age can be extremely variable, particularly in uneven-aged forests (del Río et al., 2016; Asbeck et al., 2021). Veteran trees are underrepresented in the current TreM literature, so the use of veteran trees as a tree age category would allow the analysis of tree size and tree age to be combined.

There are a number of variables that can potentially influence the type and number of TreMs provided by a tree. For example, tree characteristics such as size, age, species and condition; as well as characteristics of the landscape in which they are found, such as isolation and land management (Asbeck et al., 2021).

The amount and types of diversity supported and provided by open-grown veteran parkland trees in these estates is currently unclear, as are the controlling factors of this diversity. The aims for this chapter are to quantify the parkland tree community diversity and tree-related microhabitat (TreM) diversity, and identify the driving factors at the tree and landscape scale of diversity (richness and community composition) of TreM structures for individual trees. Multiple tree-level and landscape-level parkland attributes were investigated which represent different features of a parkland stand which can be altered through management. It was hypothesised that:

- the richness of TreMs can be explained by tree characteristics including: DBH; veteran tree age category, as a proxy for tree age; tree species; tree condition, expressed as tree canopy condition and whether the tree is alive or dead; and leaf area.
- the richness of TreMs can be explained by the landscape management including: parkland site, as a proxy for differing management regimes; distance to the nearest area of woodland, as a proxy for landscape connectivity; and parkland structural complexity, expressed as crown light exposure and distance to the next nearest parkland tree.
- Individual TreM community composition is influenced by a combination of tree and landscape characteristics.

3.2 Methods

Field data was collected using the methodology outlined in Chapter 2.

3.2.1 Tree community diversity analysis

To quantify tree community diversity, field data and i-Tree Eco output data was analysed. Specifically, tree canopy cover and tree leaf area were calculated using the i-Tree Eco tool to show tree community diversity and tree size in relation to tree canopy size. The Simpson's diversity index (1-*D*) was calculated to summarise the diversity of parkland trees in each parkland site.

3.2.2 TreM richness analysis

To test the hypothesis that TreM richness is influenced by a combination of tree and landscape characteristics, generalised linear models (GLMs) were used to analyse the relationship between the response variable TreM richness and the predictor variables DBH size class, age category, species, tree condition, leaf area, parkland site, distance to nearest woodland, distance to nearest tree and crown light exposure of each individual tree. TreM richness was calculated as the sum of each different TreM group per tree (TreM diversity). DBH was added as a categorical variable to get a more specific result for DBH size from the main model and also act as a proxy for tree age class, applicable to the majority of broadleaf, large stature trees in the sample. Trees were also classified in to age categories to encompass trees which were of a large DBH for their species but not large in comparison to other species (e.g. Crab Apple *Malus sylvestris*).

Seven species (Acer pseudoplatanus, Castanea sativa, Fagus sylvatica, Fraxinus excelsior, *Platanus* x hispanica, Quercus robur, Tilia cordata) were analysed in the models. Species with less than six individuals were grouped for modelling into an eighth category 'Other species' (Acer campestre, Acer platanoides, Aesculus hippocastanum, Juglans regia, Malus sylvestris, Prunus avium, Salix alba, Salix fragilis) to prevent over-parameterisation of the models.

3.2.2.1 Model selection

In order to prevent overfitting of the final main model, two sub-models were produced to test the two TreM richness hypotheses. The first sub-model identified the most important tree-level characteristics that explain the TreM richness, whilst the second sub-model identified the most important landscape-level characteristics. The most suitable models were selected using Akaike's information criterion (AIC) values (Thomas et al., 2017). The model with the lowest AIC was chosen, except if simpler models had an AIC less than 2 units higher (Burnham and Anderson, 2004).

DBH size class, age class, tree species and parkland site were identified as being the most important predictor variables in determining TreM richness (p<0.05), so were included in the combined main model. TreM richness was count data therefore a normal error distribution was not appropriate. The analyses for both sub-models and the main model were performed with the glm function using a Poisson error distribution, as no under- or over-dispersion was detected, with a log link function.

The main model was further refined to identify why parkland site was found to be important for TreM richness. Parkland site was analysed in the main model with interaction effects for all the other variables. Leaf area was found to be the most important interaction variable with parkland site as the model had to lowest AIC score. The final main model consisted of these predictors:

TreM richness per tree ~ parkland*leaf area + DBH size class + age category + species

Where * indicates both a main effect and an interaction effect calculation.

The glht function in the multcomp package was used to carry out Tukey post-hoc tests on each modelled categorical variable, in order to identify which categorical groups were significantly different from each other that were included in the final model (Hothorn et al., 2008).

3.2.3 TreM community composition analysis

To test the hypothesis that TreM composition is influenced by a combination of tree and landscape characteristics, multivariate modelling was used. The effects were analysed of DBH (as a continuous variable), age category, species, tree condition, leaf area, parkland site, distance to nearest woodland, distance to nearest tree and crown light exposure on the abundance of specific TreM types per tree (TreM density). The mvabund package was adapted to predict TreM community abundances for the different tree and landscape variables (David et al., 2017). The package allowed both the full TreM community as well as the occurrence of specific TreMs per tree to be tested for the effects of the stated variables (Wang et al., 2012).

The analyses for both multivariate and univariate TreM abundance were performed with the anova.manyglm function using a negative binomial error distribution. The significance of the tree and landscape variables was examined with the log-likelihood ratio test (LRT) statistic; *P*-values were calculated using 999 resampling iterations via Probability Integral Transform residual bootstrap (PIT-trap) resampling (Warton et al., 2017). The model was simplified by removing non-significant (p>0.05) predictor variables: age class, crown light exposure and distance to the nearest tree and then repeating analysis of deviance, with all the remaining predictors found to be highly significant (p<0.01). The final model consisted of these predictors:

TreM community per tree ~ DBH + species + distance to nearest woodland + condition + leaf area + parkland site

19 out of the initial 22 TreM groups surveyed were used in the community composition analysis. Only TreM groups with more than 10 observations were included in analysis, therefore the groups "myxomycetes" (EP2), "epiphytes" (EP3), and "sap and resin runs" (OT1) were excluded (Appendix D). Vertebrate nests (NE11 and NE12) and invertebrate nests (NE21) were grouped together for analysis due to their low number of observations when separated. The direction of the effect of the predictor variables on the continuous predictors was ascertained from the model coefficients.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Parkland tree community diversity

The density of parkland trees was similar between the Deer Park (7.5 trees/ha) and the North Front (6.8 trees/ha), with a lower density of trees in the South Park (2.6 trees/ha). The average density of parkland trees for the total parkland area surveyed was 4.6 trees/ha. Tree canopy cover was again

similar between the Deer Park (10.4%) and the North Front (12.3%), with a lower canopy cover in the South Park (3.6%). The North Front had a higher canopy cover despite having less trees per hectare. The average canopy cover of parkland trees for the total parkland area surveyed was 6.7%.

Despite the species richness of the three parkland areas being the same (*S*=11), the North Front had the greater species diversity, followed by the South Park and Deer Park respectively (Table 1). All the parkland areas were dominated by *Quercus robur*, with it constituting 84% of all trees in the Deer Park, 80% in the South Park, and 55% in the North Front (Figure 3). The majority of these trees were identified as *Quercus robur*, with some suspected hybrids between *Quercus robur* and Sessile Oak *Quercus petraea*. For ease of interpretation, all suspected *Quercus robur x petraea* hybrids are referred to as *Quercus robur*. The average relative abundance of *Quercus robur* for the total parkland area surveyed was 79%. The *Cedrus* genus also made up a large proportion of the North Front trees, constituting 23% of all trees. The remaining parkland tree population was made of up of low numbers of other tree species (Figure 3). Only *Quercus robur*, *Acer pseudoplatanus* and *Fagus sylvatica* were present in all of the parkland areas. Native trees made up 89%, non-native trees made up 11% of the parkland trees. The Deer Park is made up of 94% native species, compared to 92% for the South Park and 62% for the North Front.

Parkland site	Number of trees	Species richness	Simpson's diversity (1-D)
South Park	181	11	0.362
Deer Park	316	11	0.282
North Front	69	11	0.664
Study area	566	23	0.367

Table 1. Diversity data comparing the South Park, Deer Park, North Front and total study area.

Size classes of DBH followed a similar trend regardless of parkland site. The parkland tree age structure consisted of higher numbers of young, planted sapling trees (\leq 35 cm) (24% of all trees) and mature trees (66-125 cm) (61% of all trees), with lower numbers of semi-mature (66-95 cm) (8% of all trees) and over-mature and veteran trees (\geq 126) (7% of all trees) in the population (Figure *4*).

The density of veteran trees was 0.6 trees/ha (77 veteran trees), with the Deer Park having the highest number of veteran trees per hectare at 1.2 trees/ha (51 veteran trees) followed by the South Park at 0.4 trees/ha (25 veteran trees) and the North Front at 0.1 trees/ha (1 veteran tree). Of these veteran trees, 14 trees were classed as ancient with a density of 0.1 trees/ha. All the parkland sites had a comparable number of ancient trees per hectare at 0.1 trees/ha (6 ancient trees in the Deer Park; 7 ancient trees in the South Park; 1 ancient tree in the North Front).



Figure 3. Relative abundance (%) of tree species in the South Park (blue), Deer Park (red) and North Front (yellow).



Figure 4. Tree size class distribution based on diameter at breast height (DBH) of trees in the South Park (blue), Deer Park (red), and North Front (yellow).

3.3.2 Parkland tree microhabitat diversity

3.3.2.1 TreM richness

The mean TreM richness per tree was 10, ranging between 1 and 21 different TreM types on a single tree. None of the surveyed trees (n=249) had zero TreMs (Appendix D). The results of the model selection and multi-model inference of the GLM is shown in Table 2.

Table 2. Generalised linear model (GLM) results for the prediction of TreM richness for individual trees after multi-model inference selection using scaled predictors. GLM with Poisson distribution and log link function.

Variable	Levels	Estimate	SE	<i>p</i> -value	Sign. ^a
Intercept		1.5202	0.1517	< 2e - 16	***
DBH size class	66-95 cm	0.5364	0.1011	1.11e - 07	***
	96-125 cm	0.7362	0.1114	3.94e - 11	***
	≥126 cm	0.8849	0.1331	3.01e - 11	***
Age class	Ancient	0.4247	0.1607	0.00822	**
Tree species	Fagus sylvatica	-0.3306	0.1579	0.03621	*
	Fraxinus excelsior	0.3329	0.1356	0.01406	*
Parkland site	South Park	-0.1098	0.0432	0.01109	*
Leaf area (m ²)		-0.0505	0.0294	0.08589	
Interaction	South Park*	0.1132	0.0507	0.02569	*
	Leaf area (m ²)				

^a *** *p*<0.001, ** *p*<0.01, * *p*<0.05, . *p*<0.1.



Figure 5. Relationship between tree microhabitat (TreM) richness and diameter at breast height (DBH), modelled with a generalised linear model with a Poisson distribution. Grey bands represent the 95% confidence intervals, the rug plot underneath shows the DBH distribution of the individual inventoried trees.

Tree DBH had the strongest influence on TreM richness (Table 2), suggesting is it the best predictor for TreM richness. The richness of TreMs increased significantly (p<0.001) with increasing DBH (Figure 5). Trees classified as ancient also had a strong influence on TreM richness (Table 2). They were a significant predictor of TreM richness and provided a significantly higher (p<0.01) richness of TreMs than other veteran and non-veteran tree age classes (Table 2; Figure 6).



Figure 6. Tree microhabitat (TreM) richness by diameter at breast height (DBH) veteran age class. Significant differences amongst groups denoted by different letters (p<0. 05).



Figure 7. Tree microhabitat (TreM) richness by tree species. Significant differences amongst groups denoted by different letters (*p*<0.05). 'Other' species includes: Acer campestre, Acer platanoides, Aesculus hippocastanum, Juglans regia, Malus sylvestris, Prunus avium, Salix alba, Salix fragilis.

Only *Fraxinus excelsior* and *Fagus sylvatica* were significant predictors of TreM richness (Table 2). *Fraxinus excelsior* was found to be a significant (p<0.05) predictor of high TreM richness on an

individual tree, with *Fagus sylvatica* was found to be a significant (*p*<0.05) predictor of low TreM richness on an individual tree compared to other species. *Fraxinus excelsior* and *Quercus robur* had higher TreM richness on average, and *Fagus sylvatica* and *Platanus* x *hispanica* had lower TreM richness on average than other species (Figure 7). No relationships emerged when modelling two-way species interactions with other tree and landscape characteristics by TreM richness, suggesting species alone could be a good predictor of TreM richness.

The Deer Park was found to have a significantly (p<0.05) higher average TreM richness than the South Park. Modelling the interaction between parkland site with other effect variables to explain this result found that South Park had a significant negative relationship (p<0.05) with TreM richness when leaf area was taken in to account compared to Deer Park (Table 2). Independently, leaf area was found to have no significant relationship (p>0.05) with TreM richness. The modelled two-way interaction between parkland site and leaf area by TreM richness illustrated TreM richness increased with increasing leaf area in the South Park, whereas the opposite was true for the Deer Park (Figure ϑ). However, the large overlap of confidence intervals suggested there is a lot of similarity between the TreM richness of the two parkland sites, especially between 1000 m² and 2000 m² leaf area.

No relationships were observed for tree condition, distance to the nearest woodland, distance to the nearest tree and crown light exposure on TreM richness. None of these predictor variables were selected in the final TreM richness model when multi-model inference selection was performed.



Figure 8. Two-way interaction between Deer Park (light grey) and South Park (dark grey) and leaf area by tree microhabitat (TreM) richness modelled with a generalised linear model with a Poisson distribution. Grey bands represent the 95% confidence intervals.

3.3.2.2 TreM community composition

The mean TreM abundance per tree was 20, ranging between 1 and 89 individual TreMs per tree. Dead branches had the highest average abundance per tree, followed by root buttress cavities and fallen deadwood (Figure 9; Table 4). The results of the multivariate model indicated the majority of the predictor variables were significantly related to the abundance of TreMs. DBH, species, tree condition, leaf area, parkland site and distance to the nearest woodland were highly significant predictors of TreM community composition (Table 3).

Table 3. Multivariate generalised linear model (GLM) results for the predictors of tree microhabitat (TreM) communit
composition of parkland trees. GLM with negative binomial distribution.

Variable	df	Dev	<i>p-</i> value	Sign. ^a
DBH	1	208.8	0.001	***
Species	7	467.3	0.001	***
Distance to nearest woodland	1	45.2	0.001	***
Tree condition	5	142.5	0.001	***
Leaf area	1	42.9	0.003	**
Parkland site	1	58.8	0.001	***

^a *** *p*<0.001, ** *p*<0.01, * *p*<0.05, . *p*<0.1.

The results of the univariate model identified 6 predictor variables that explained the abundance of 16 specific TreM groups (Table 4). TreM groups differed in their response and direction of change to the predictor variables. DBH was a significant predictor of TreM abundance, with the abundance of CV2, CV3, IN2, IN3, DE1, GR1, OT2 increasing with increasing DBH.

Tree species was a significant predictor of TreM abundance for CV3, CV4, IN2, BA2, DE1, FDU, GR1, GR2, EP1, OT2 (Table 4), with certain species having greater relative abundance of certain TreM groups compared to other species. All species had a highest relative TreM abundance of DE1 and/or FDU, except *Fagus sylvatica* which had a highest relative TreM abundance of GR1 (Figure 9). However overall, *Fraxinus excelsior* had the greatest diversity of TreMs (1-*D*=0.857), followed by *Quercus robur* (1-*D*=0.825), *Acer pseudoplatanus* (1-*D*= 0.819), *Platanus x hispanica* (1-*D*=0.776), *Castanea sativa* (1-*D*=0.771), *Tilia cordata* (1-*D*=0.756), *Fagus sylvatica* (1-*D*=0.576).

Distance to the nearest woodland was a significant predictor of TreM abundance, with the abundance of CV5 and DE1 increasing with decreasing distance to the nearest woodland. Tree condition was a significant predictor of TreM abundance for IN1 and DE1. Parkland site was a significant predictor of TreM abundance for DE1 and FDU, with both TreMs occurring more frequently in the Deer Park than the South Park. Leaf area was not found to explain the abundance of specific TreM types, with no significance with any individual TreMs. The abundance of woodpecker cavities (CV1), bark space (BA1), cankers and burrs (GR3), and nests (NE) was not explained by any of the predictor variables.

Table 4. Univariate generalised linear model results. Significance^a of the effect of the predictors DBH, tree species, distance to the nearest woodland, tree condition, tree crown leaf area and parkland site on the abundance of individual tree microhabitat (TreM) types, including the direction of change for continuous predictors^b or comparison of average abundance for categorical predictors.

TreM group	Average abundance per tree	DBH	Species ^c	Distance to nearest woodland	Tree condition ^d	Leaf area	Parkland site
Trunk cavities	0.86	^**	Pxh < Tc < Fs				
(CV2)		'	< Cs < Qr < Ot				
()			< Ap < Fe .				
Branch holes	0.98	↑** *	Cs < Tc < Qr <				
(CV3)			Fs < Pxh < Ap				
. ,			< Ot < <i>F</i> e *				
Dendrotelms	0.38		Pxh < Cs < Qr				
(CV4)			< Fe < Ot < Fs				
			< Tc < Ap ***				
Insect galleries and bore holes (CV5)	0.30			↓*		↓.	
Bark loss (IN1)	0.05		Cs = Fe = Pxh		CR = FA =		
			< Q <i>r</i> < Ot < <i>F</i> s		EX < GO <		
			< Ap < Tc .		PO < DE *		
Exposed	0.90	↑***	Pxh = Tc < Fs				
heartwood			< Cs < Ap < Fe				
(IN2)			< Ot < Qr ***				
Cracks and scars (IN3)	0.29	↑**					
Bark texture	0.90		<i>F</i> s < <i>P</i> x <i>h</i> < Ot				
(BA2)			< Fe < Tc < Ap				
			< Cs = Qr **				
Dead	6.00	↑***	<i>Ap</i> = <i>F</i> s < Ot <	↓*	EX < DE <		DP > SP
branches			Pxh < Fe < Tc		GO < PO <		*
(DE1)			< Qr < Cs ***		FA < CR ***		
Fallen	3.08		Pxh = Tc < Fs				DP > SP
deadwood			< Cs < Qr < Ot				**
(FDU)			< Fe < Ap *				
Root buttress	3.77	↑** *	Cs < Ot < Pxh				
cavities (GR1)			< Fe < Qr < Ap				
			< Tc < Fs ***				
Twig tangles	1.37		Fs < Pxh < Ap				
(GR2)			< Ot < <i>Fe</i> < <i>Qr</i>				
			< Cs < 1c ***				
Burrs and cankers (GR3)	0.25					↓.	
Fruiting bodies	0.24		<i>Tc</i> < Ot < <i>Cs</i> <				
fungi (EP1)			Pxh < Qr < Fs				
			<				
Nests (NE)	0.14		Fe = Ot = Pxh				
			< Fs < Ap < Qr				
			< Cs = Tc .				
Microsoil	0.37	↑** *	Cs = Tc < Qr <				
(OT2)			<i>F</i> s < <i>Fe</i> < Ot <				
			Ap < Pxh **				

^a *** p < 0.001, ** p < 0.01, * p < 0.05, . p < 0.1. ^b \uparrow : increase in TreM abundance with increasing predictor, \downarrow : decrease in TreM abundance with increasing predictor.

^c Ap: Acer pseudoplatanus, Cs: Castanea sativa, Fs: Fagus sylvatica, Fe: Fraxinus excelsior, Pxh: Platanus x hispanica, *Qr. Quercus robur, Tc: Tilia cordata*, Ot: Other species. ^d DE: Dead, CR: Critical, PO: Poor, FA: Fair, GO: Good, EX: Excellent.



Figure 9. Relative abundance (%) of tree microhabitat (TreM) groups by tree species. Simpson's evenness ($E_{1/D}$) of TreMs for species: Acer pseudoplatanus ($E_{1/D}$ =0.345); Castanea sativa ($E_{1/D}$ =0.311); Fagus sylvatica ($E_{1/D}$ =0.157); Fraxinus excelsior ($E_{1/D}$ =0.436); Other species ($E_{1/D}$ =0.524); Platanus x hispanica ($E_{1/D}$ =0.496); Quercus robur ($E_{1/D}$ =0.287); Tilia cordata ($E_{1/D}$ =0.372). 'Other' species includes: Acer campestre, Acer platanoides, Aesculus hippocastanum, Juglans regia, Malus sylvestris, Prunus avium, Salix alba, Salix fragilis.

3.4 Discussion

3.4.1 Quantified tree diversity

At a parkland community level, tree species richness was 23. However 79% of all trees were *Quercus robur* with 68% of all trees mature or veteran age class. The similarity of species and age of the majority of parkland trees suggests relatively low levels of diversity within the tree communities themselves. However, parkland trees had a higher TreM diversity than trees found in broadleaf European forests, likely due to the dominance of larger, older trees.

3.4.1.1 Oaks dominate parkland estates

Over three quarters (79%) of parkland trees in the Harewood Estate were *Quercus robur* which could have implications for the future persistence of these parkland tree communities. This dominance of *Quercus robur* could be due to the original planting regime set out by 'Capability' Brown favouring oaks (Gregory et al., 2013), as well as the incorporation of them from the previous agricultural landscape of hedgerows into the parkland (Firth, 1980). This could also be due to oak being the natural tree cover of the majority of the site (Bennett, 1989), coupled with the preference for oaks in historic silviculture (Hartel et al., 2013; Williamson et al., 2017; Latham et al., 2018). In a review of the UK Ancient Tree Inventory by Nolan et al. (2020), *Quercus* spp. (*Q. robur* and *Q. petraea*) were
found to be the most common genus recorded across the UK, representing 44.2% of all records (Nolan et al., 2020). This also suggests the longevity of oaks has allowed them to persist in a once more diverse parkland landscape. There is evidence that the majority of *Quercus robur* in the parkland derives from local seed sources (Firth, 1980; Nocchi et al., 2021), suggesting they have a similar genotype, have very local regeneration and are replanted from UK crop. The skew towards a single species with similar genotypes in the parkland could leave the community more vulnerable to pests, diseases and future climate change scenarios (Alfaro et al., 2014; Ekroth et al., 2019). The dominance of oak trees in Harewood Estate parkland could therefore pose a threat to the long-term health and survival of parkland landscapes.

3.4.1.2 Tree generation gaps may threaten the persistence of veteran tree biodiversity

Mature, over-mature and veteran trees are more common in the Harewood Estate parkland compared to commercial and urban forests. Compared to 68% of trees in the parkland being classified as mature, over-mature and veteran, Hand et al. (2019) found only 14% of trees in British urban forests fell within these age classifications. Hartel et al. (2013) found large, old trees are more common in wood-pastures in Eastern Europe than in forests sites, with Nolan et al. (2020) finding ~50% of ancient trees in England are located in wood-pasture or parkland. Therefore the Harewood Estate parkland is an important landscape for these older trees.

The number of veteran and ancient trees per hectare suggests the Harewood Estate parkland is of medium value under SSSI (Site of Special Scientific Interest) criteria (Latham et al., 2018). The density of veteran trees was 0.6 trees/ha (77 veteran trees); 14 of these trees were classed as ancient. The density of veteran trees is particularly important for supporting key saproxylic invertebrate species (Bergman et al., 2012). Bergman (2006) proposed an average density of 2.8 ancient or hollow oak trees/ha within a 57 ha area – a total of 160 trees - to maintain a sustainable population of veteran parkland trees and ensure a rich saproxylic fauna. The amount of fallen and canopy deadwood is also an important consideration for supporting different saproxylic invertebrate assemblages (Milberg et al., 2016; Seibold et al., 2017; Seibold et al., 2018). Dead branches and fallen deadwood had the highest average TreM abundance per tree in the parkland (Table 4). This suggests suitable habitat is available for saproxylic species despite the moderate density of veteran trees, although the diversity of tree species and microclimates provided by this deadwood is also important for high saproxylic species diversity (Vogel et al., 2020).

However, the parkland tree age structure does not follow the tree diameter curve seen in the most sustainable continuous cover forestry management practises (Mason, 2007; Barsoum et al., 2016), alluding to a threat to the long-term persistence of the veteran tree community. The Harewood Estate parkland has an unequal tree population age, lacking semi-mature trees. This generation gap was previously identified both 20 years ago (Hutton Forestry, 1999) and 40 years ago (Firth, 1980) with the gap shifting with the ageing trees. Natural tree regeneration was and is still restricted by grazing

and mowing management regimes on the estate, with major tree planting efforts only within the last 15 years (Harewood Estate, 2021). This has created a time lag in the replacement of mature and veteran trees following the death of the current mature and veteran cohort, meaning there is a gap in time where there will be very few veteran tree habitats to support veteran tree biodiversity on site. Lag effects have serious implications for biodiversity associated with these trees, especially rare and threatened species which require specific TreMs only found in these larger, older, open-grown trees such as saproxylic invertebrates (Parmain and Bouget, 2018) and hollow-breeding species (Manning et al., 2013). In order to help mitigate the local absence of veteran tree-associated biodiversity, management should focus on protecting and extending the lives of the current tree stock to reduce the age gap between tree cohorts.

3.4.1.3 Parkland trees support higher diversity than other land use types

At a parkland tree level, average TreM richness was 10 per tree and average TreM abundance was 20 per tree. Whilst studies using the same TreM methodology as this study (as set out by Kraus et al. (2016)) are limited, results from those that do reveal that the larger trees found in the Harewood Estate parkland are likely able to support higher biodiversity as individuals than trees found in broadleaf European forests, due to a more diverse and greater number of TreMs present. Microhabitat richness is lower in French forest reserves, with an average TreM richness of 3 per tree for all Oak Quercus spp. trees and an average TreM abundance of 5 per tree for mature oaks over 66 cm DBH (Paillet et al., 2019). TreM richness and abundance is lower in the Black Forest, southwest Germany, with an average TreM richness of 2.6 per Fagus sylvatica tree with an average DBH of 51.5 cm and an average TreM abundance of 3.6 per Fagus sylvatica tree. Broadleaf species overall average TreM richness is 1.9 per tree and average TreM abundance 2.1 for an average DBH 45 cm tree (Asbeck et al., 2019). This suggests that the larger, older trees found in the Harewood Estate parkland are able to support more biodiversity than trees found in broadleaf European forests due to a more diverse and greater number of TreMs present. Thus, despite the relatively low levels of diversity within the tree communities themselves, parkland trees may actually support a greater diversity of other species than trees in more 'natural' landscapes, although these benefits could be offset by the relative paucity of trees in parklands compared with in broadleaf forests.

3.4.2 Large, old trees are most important for TreM diversity

Tree DBH was the strongest predictor of TreM richness and a strong predictor of TreM abundance in 37% of individual microhabitats. Many previous studies have found DBH to be the most significant driver of TreM diversity (Vuidot et al., 2011; Regnery et al., 2013; Paillet et al., 2017; Großmann et al., 2018; Paillet et al., 2019; Jahed et al., 2020), and large trees in general support a greater richness and abundance of TreMs (Paillet et al., 2017; Paillet et al., 2019; Jahed et al., 2020). This could be explained by the species-area relationship, with larger trees accumulating more (and a more diverse mosaic of) TreMs because they have the surface area to do so (Brändle and Brandl, 2001; Le Roux et al., 2015). This could also be explained by tree age, as older trees have had more time to accumulate damage and develop decay features associated with a greater diversity of TreMs, and therefore greater biodiversity (Lindenmayer and Laurance, 2017). In this study, trees classified as ancient were found to be a good predictor of TreM richness compared to younger trees, which confirms the link between larger and older trees having the greatest TreM diversity.

All the trees surveyed had at least one TreM present, with other studies of smaller, younger and evergreen trees recording a large proportion of trees without any TreMs (Larrieu and Cabanettes, 2012; Asbeck et al., 2019). The presence of TreMs could be linked to the trees in this study being older than other forest-orientated studies. The relationship between size and number of TreMs is used to formally classify trees as ancient or veteran, with trees either having to be large for that species, exhibit multiple TreMs (especially large decay features) or both (Fay and De Berker, 1997; Dujesiefken et al., 2016; VETcert, 2019). TreMs were also consistently found across size classes in parklands compared to forest trees (Asbeck et al., 2019). Therefore veteran, open-grown trees may be particularly good indicators of high biodiversity value compared to younger, healthier, crowded trees.

Few studies have investigated veteran tree TreM diversity therefore it is difficult to compare the levels of diversity amongst these parkland trees with those in other locations. However, many studies have examined standing dead trees in relation to TreM diversity. Previous studies in forests have found that TreM richness and abundance is higher on standing dead trees than live trees with comparable dimensions (Vuidot et al., 2011; Larrieu and Cabanettes, 2012; Paillet et al., 2017; Paillet et al., 2019). A small number of standing dead trees were sampled as part of this study, however many old, veteran trees were sampled. Similarities can be drawn between veteran trees and standing dead trees as they have both been found to have higher TreM diversity than younger, smaller trees and are classified by the presence of multiple TreM decay features. Indeed in this study the high volumes of dead branches and fallen deadwood suggest a similarity of microhabitats provided between the two. Trees typically enter a veteran phase before death (Dujesiefken et al., 2016), so similarities in TreM diversity are perhaps unsurprising. This suggests that if the population of veteran trees in the Harewood Estate parkland die, they will still support high levels of TreM diversity if left on site as standing dead trees. They could be used as a stop-gap to close the parkland tree population gap in the future, however species which cannot be supported by dead trees will likely still be lost.

3.4.3 Greater species diversity could lead to greater TreM diversity

Certain tree species were more important than others for TreM diversity. *Fraxinus excelsior* and *Quercus robur* had higher TreM richness on average, and *Fagus sylvatica* and *Platanus* x *hispanica* had lower TreM richness on average than other species, however only *Fraxinus excelsior* and *Fagus sylvatica* were significant predictors of TreM richness. This relationship of TreM richness to species was also found in the Chillingham Park parkland estate in northern England, with *Fraxinus excelsior* found to have a high TreM richness and *Fagus sylvatica* found to have a low TreM richness.

compared to other broadleaf species (Hall and Bunce, 2011). Further research in to the differences in parkland tree species' TreM diversity is needed to confirm this trend.

Tree species was a significant predictor of TreM abundance in 53% of TreM groups, with certain species having a greater relative abundance of certain TreM groups compared to other species. For example, *Fagus sylvatica* had the highest relative TreM abundance of root buttress cavities. However for the most part many parkland tree species had a low sample size (Figure 3), meaning key species important for certain TreMs were difficult to identify. Previous studies looking at species effect on TreM diversity have focused on the comparison between broadleaf and coniferous species, with no studies explicitly comparing between broadleaf species (Asbeck et al., 2021). However overall, *Fraxinus excelsior* had the greatest diversity of TreMs, followed by *Quercus robur*, *Acer pseudoplatanus*, *Platanus* x *hispanica*, *Castanea sativa*, *Tilia cordata* and *Fagus sylvatica*. *Quercus robur* has previously been linked to supporting a high diversity of species compared to other tree species (Southwood, 1961; Mitchell et al., 2019), which this study supports.

The high TreM diversity of *Fraxinus excelsior* could be attributed to the majority of *Fraxinus excelsior* surveyed within the Harewood Estate exhibiting Ash Dieback *Hymenoscyphus fraxineus* symptoms that are comparable to the old-growth characteristics exhibited by older, decaying and dying trees (Bengtsson et al., 2021). Non-native and ornamental species *Acer pseudoplatanus*, *Platanus x hispanica*, *Castanea sativa* had a greater diversity of TreMs than native *Tilia cordata* and *Fagus sylvatica*. However non-native species support fewer native species as there has been less time for them to form associations (Kennedy and Southwood, 1984; Brändle and Brandl, 2001), therefore their contribution to the overall parkland biodiversity is likely lower than for native trees. Different tree species provided different TreM community compositions — a diverse mosaic of microhabitats — which in turn may support slightly different niches and increase the overall biodiversity of the parkland (Alexander et al., 2006; Sjöman et al., 2016). However to further clarify the effect of tree species on TreM diversity, it may be more important to focus on tree functional groups that are related to the occurrence of certain TreMs as opposed to species (Asbeck, et al., 2020).

3.4.4 Landscape management can affect TreM diversity but is not a main driver

Landscape characteristics had a limited effect on TreM diversity compared to tree size, age and species despite management being important for the continuity of the parkland landscape. The Deer Park was more important for TreM diversity than the South Park and the Deer Park had a significantly higher TreM richness than the South Park. The interaction between parkland site and leaf area illustrated that TreM richness increased with decreasing leaf area in the Deer Park whereas the opposite was true for leaf area in the South Park. Leaf area has previously been suggested to act a proxy for tree size, canopy health and microclimate (e.g. trunk light exposure). The Deer Park was also found to be a significant predictor of higher abundance of dead branches and fallen deadwood. This suggests that the Deer Park is more important for TreM diversity due to the higher TreM

richness, lower leaf area suggesting crown retrenchment, and higher abundance of canopy and fallen deadwood. This could be linked to a higher number of veteran trees per hectare found in the Deer Park than the South Park. Management continuity of the Deer Park could have led to these differences, with Johann and Schaich (2016) finding a relationship between private forest ownership and higher TreM diversity. The South Park has been more intensively managed, being previously ploughed and grazed and frequently cut compared to the Deer Park (Firth, 1980).

Other landscape characteristics were found to have a limited effect on TreM diversity. The spatial layout of trees in parkland is important aesthetically (Walerzak et al., 2015), however only decreasing distance to the nearest woodland was found to have a significant effect, increasing TreM abundance of insect galleries and bore holes as well as dead branches. These findings agree with Asbeck et al. (2020) who found no relationship between the spatial distribution of trees and their TreM diversity. The canopy cover of the Deer Park and North Front falls within the definition of wood-pasture set out by Plieninger et al. (2015) (tree canopy density >10%), however the canopy cover in the South Park does not meet this definition. Despite open-grown trees being an important feature of wood-pasture and parkland, providing distinct microclimate and microhabitats, parkland structural complexity was not a driver of TreM diversity. This is surprising as a relationship has previously been found between lower tree density in forest plots and higher TreM richness (Regnery et al., 2013). This suggests that tree size, age and species are more important drivers of TreM diversity and further study is needed on parkland structural complexity, including environmental drivers, to fully explore this relationship.

Tree management may have positively contributed to TreM diversity. Wood-pasture and parkland trees have historically undergone pollarding management (Kirby et al., 1995; Read and Bengtsson, 2019), and despite no evidence of this occurring on the parkland trees surveyed as part of this study, evidence of the removal of dead canopy branches was widespread. Pollarding has been shown to extend the lives of trees (Nolan et al., 2020) as well as increasing TreMs (specifically tree hollows) formation rate (Sebek et al., 2013), with a recent study finding that intensive tree maintenance stimulating tree microhabitat development in urban forests (Großmann et al., 2020). This suggests that trees that have undergone management via dead branch removal in the parkland could have higher TreM diversity compared to forest trees which do not undergo this management regime.

3.4.5 Conclusions

As a social–ecological system, the parkland tree community has been shaped by the parkland creation and subsequent management regime, with little input from natural factors. The similarity of species and age of parkland trees suggests relatively low levels of diversity within the tree communities themselves, which poses a threat to parkland continuity. However due to the dominance of large, old trees, the microhabitat biodiversity value of individual trees in the parkland was higher than in broadleaf forests. Tree characteristics influenced TreM diversity more than landscape management characteristics, with the mosaic of microhabitats created by larger, older

and a more diverse species community of trees being important for a higher biodiversity value of parkland trees. Yet, historical tree management may have positively contributed to TreM diversity. This is one of the first studies to quantify parkland TreM diversity and identify that certain tree and landscape characteristics drive this diversity. This study supports existing research that suggests tree size, age and live status are the main drivers of TreM diversity. Understanding the biodiversity of parkland trees and what drives this can be used to inform future long-term management plans for the parkland estate. Future management should focus on individual tree-level management such as protecting and extending the lives of the current tree stock and leaving dead trees and deadwood on site, as well as increasing the number and species diversity of trees in the parkland estate.

4 The ecosystem service values provided by parkland trees

4.1 Introduction

Ecosystem services (ES) can be classified in to three categories: provisioning, regulating and maintenance, and cultural services (Haines-Young and Potschin, 2018). Provisioning services comprises the products humans obtain from ecosystems, for example food and raw materials. Regulating and maintenance services regulate and maintain ecosystem processes, for example nutrient cycling and regulating water flow. Cultural services are the non-material benefits humans obtain from ecosystems through, for example, recreation, aesthetic appreciation and a sense of place.

Trees are known to provide many ecosystem service benefits including timber (UK National Ecosystem Assessment, 2011), carbon sequestration (Nowak and Greenfield, 2018) and human well-being (Salmond et al., 2016), and ES research on them has mainly focused on forest (Gamfeldt et al., 2013), agricultural (Barrios et al., 2018) and urban ecosystems (Hall et al., 2018; Turner-Skoff and Cavender, 2019). One land use type that is under-researched in the ES literature is wood-pasture and parkland. Wood-pasture and parkland are social–ecological systems and the trees there have historically provided multiple services, including the provisioning of forest products (e.g. timber, fruit, animal fodder) and grazing land (Rackham, 1976; Bergmeier et al., 2010; Read and Bengtsson, 2019). Trees in current UK parkland estates for the most part are no longer used for their products, with their value coming from the other ES benefits and public goods they provide. Therefore this chapter will focus on the regulating and cultural service values trees provide in parkland estates, with the aim of informing estates how to best manage land for multiple ES benefits.

It is important to understand the changes in ES values over time. When considering future sustainability and resilience, long-term scales are more relevant to decision-makers (Rodríguez et al., 2006; Boyd et al., 2013). Temporal scale is also relevant to veteran trees, with many living for centuries (Lindenmayer et al., 2014). The best and most informed management decisions need to take this in to account and require data-driven decisions to guide policy and land management.

There are different ways to assess the benefits delivered by trees, which could include a monetary valuation of the asset value and the benefits the trees in question provide (Gómez-Baggethun et al., 2010; Laurila-Pant et al., 2015). Both monetary and non-monetary valuation have been demonstrated to be important to land managers and policy-makers when valuing biodiversity and ES in different scenarios (Ruckelshaus et al., 2015; Handmaker et al., 2021), therefore this chapter will provide monetary and non-monetary ES values.

This chapter builds upon the work of Peacock et al. (2018) to quantify both the regulating and cultural ES benefits of trees on different parkland sites in the Harewood Estate, investigate how different tree (size, age, species, health) and landscape (planting regime ,land management) characteristics affect

ecosystem services delivery, and make use of historical parkland tree survey data to quantify changes in the trees and their ES over time. The close proximity of the Harewood Estate parkland to the Leeds urban conurbation, whilst still within a rural agricultural area, makes it an ideal setting to investigate the ES values of trees in an underrepresented yet important habitat.

Specifically, this chapter sets out to answer the following research questions:

- What are the regulating and cultural ES values provided by parkland trees?
- What differences in tree and landscape characteristics can explain differences in ES values provided by parkland trees?
- How have the parkland trees and the ES benefits they provide changed in 20 years between 1999 and 2017/2020?

4.2 Methods

The fieldwork and ES valuation methodologies are as detailed in Chapter 2.

4.2.1 Regulating and cultural ES valuation

Parkland trees were assessed for carbon storage, carbon sequestration, avoided stormwater runoff and air pollution removal regulating ES values using the i-Tree Eco tool, with tree amenity value cultural ES assessed using the CAVAT tool. Both monetary and non-monetary ES valuation was carried out for parkland trees, as detailed in Section 2.5 (regulating ES) and Section 2.6 (cultural amenity ES). Dead trees were kept in for carbon storage analysis but taken out for other regulating ES as they did not have a value. Dead trees were kept in for amenity cultural value analysis despite having a value of £0.

4.2.2 Tree and landscape characteristics analysis

To test the hypothesis that ES value is influenced by a combination of tree and landscape characteristics, statistical analysis was carried out to confirm the relative strengths of the input tree and landscape variables (Appendix B) on the i-Tree and CAVAT valuation outputs, as well as for input variables not directly used by either model.

DBH was analysed as a categorical variable (DBH size class) to get a more comprehensive result for DBH size from analysis as well as act as a proxy for tree age class, applicable to the majority of broadleaf, large stature trees in the study. Trees were also classified in to 'veteran' and 'non-veteran' categories to encompass trees which were of a large DBH for their species but not large in comparison to other species (e.g. Crab Apple *Malus sylvestris*). Veteran categorisation status was estimated based on the presence of multiple veteran tree features as detailed in Section 2.6.

The ES variables were found to be non-normal regardless of whether they were statistically transformed or not, therefore non-parametric statistics were employed to analyse these variables. Spearman's Rank correlation was used to analyse the relationship between the ES response

variables and continuous tree and landscape characteristics (leaf area, distance to nearest tree, distance to nearest woodland). Kruskal-Wallis with post-hoc Dunn tests were used to analyse the differences between categorical tree and landscape characteristics (DBH size class, veteran status, species, condition, parkland site, crown light exposure) and ES values, and *p*-values were adjusted with the Benjamini-Hochberg method to reduce the probability of type I errors occurring.

4.2.3 20 year changes analysis

To quantify the changes in parkland trees between 1999 and 2017/2020, both the growth rate and changes in regulating ES were quantified. Mann-Whitney *U* tests were used to test for differences between carbon storage, carbon sequestration, avoided runoff and pollution removal of 1999 and 2017/2020 trees.

For quality control in data processing, annual growth rates of individual trees were categorised as NA and removed from growth rate calculations for trees that were dead (n=7), not surveyed in 1999 (n=21) or the DBH was not measured in 1999 (n=4), and sapling trees planted after the 1999 parkland survey was undertaken (n=125) (Supplementary Appendix S1; Supplementary Appendix S2). Non-comparable DBH measurements taken under 1 m and above 1.6 m were removed from growth rate calculations (+-0.3 m from 1.3 m), because they differed too greatly from the 1.3 m standard DBH measurement height. Any data outliers that appeared possibly incorrect were rechecked mathematically and, if necessary, remeasured. Negative growth rate values that were likely due to sampling error and not tree decomposition or trunk hollowing were removed from growth rate calculations (n=1). In total 400 trees were analysed to quantify annual growth rate.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Regulating and cultural ES values provided by parkland trees

4.3.1.1 Regulating ES

Parkland trees currently provide 1,224,030 kg of carbon storage, 14,522 kg/year of gross carbon sequestration, 693 m³/year avoided stormwater runoff and 412 kg/year air pollution removal regulating ES benefits (Table 5). This has been valued at a total of £73,442 carbon storage value and £4,055 total annual benefits value. The parkland trees in the Deer Park were found to provide the greatest total regulating ES value in terms of carbon storage (711,893 kg), gross carbon sequestration (7,729 kg/year), avoided stormwater runoff (373 m³/year) and air pollution removal (222 kg/year) than the South Park or North Front. However, per hectare, the North Front provided the greatest values in terms of carbon storage (17,550 kg/ha), avoided runoff (16 m³/ha/year) and pollution removal (10 kg/ha/year), with the Deer Park still providing the greatest carbon sequestration benefit per hectare (183 kg/ha/year) (Table 6). Both the North Front and the Deer Park have

approximately 7 trees/hectare compared to 2.6 trees/hectare for the South Park, suggesting an increase of the number of trees on a parkland site increases the regulating ES of that site.

Table 5. Total regulating ecosystem service values of the parkland trees in the South Park, Deer Park, North Front and total study area. Total annual benefits calculated as the sum of gross carbon sequestration, avoided stormwater runoff and air pollution removal.

Parkland site	Number of trees	Carbon storage		Gross carbon sequestration		Avoided stormwater runoff		Air pollution removal		Total annual benefits
		(kg)	(£)	(kg/yr)	(£/yr)	(m³/yr)	(£/yr)	(kg/yr)	(£/yr)	(£/yr)
South Park	181	334,704.80	20,082.33	5,736.30	344.16	156.80	238.54	93.29	482.42	1,065.32
Deer Park	314	711,892.90	42,713.47	7,728.60	463.65	372.80	566.84	221.70	1,146.56	2,177.17
North Front	69	177,431.90	10,645.90	1,057.40	63.39	163.70	247.95	96.97	501.49	812.91
Study	564	1,224,029.60	73,441.70	14,522.30	871.20	693.30	1,053.33	411.96	2,130.47	4,055.40
area										

Table 6. Per hectare regulating ecosystem service values of the parkland trees in the South Park, Deer Park, North Front and total study area. Total annual benefits per hectare calculated as the sum of gross carbon sequestration, avoided stormwater runoff and pollution removal.

Parkland site	Number of trees	Number of trees/ha	Carbon storage/ha		Gross carbon sequestration /ha		Avoided stormwater runoff/ha		Air pollution removal/ha		Total annual benefits /ha
			(kg)	(£)	(kg/yr)	(£/yr)	(m³/yr)	(£/yr)	(kg/yr)	(£/yr)	(£/yr)
South Park	181	2.6	4,802.08	288.13	82.30	4.94	2.25	3.42	1.34	6.92	15.28
Deer Park	314	7.5	16,893.52	1,013.61	183.40	11.00	8.85	13.45	5.26	27.21	51.67
North Front	69	6.8	17,550.14	1,053.01	104.59	6.27	16.19	24.53	9.59	49.60	80.41
Study area	564	4.6	10,037.14	602.23	119.08	7.14	5.69	8.64	3.38	17.47	33.25

4.3.1.2 Cultural ES

Parkland trees currently provide £28,117,919 in amenity ES value (Table 7). Trees in the Deer Park were found to provide a greater total and per hectare amenity value than the South Park. The Deer Park provided £24,958,590 and £592,278/ha amenity value compared to the South Park providing £3,159,329 and £45,328/ha. This also suggests that an increase in the number of trees on a parkland site increases the cultural ES of that site.

Table 7. Total and per hectare cultural amenity ecosystem service values of the parkland trees in the South Park and Deer Park.

Parkland site	Number of trees	Number of trees/ha	Amenity value	Amenity value/ha	
			(£)	(£)	
South Park	181	2.6	3,159,328.78	45,327.53	
Deer Park	314	7.5	24,958,590.15	592,277.87	
Study area	495	4.4	28,117,918.94	637,605.42	

4.3.2 Tree and landscape characteristics driving ES values in parkland trees

The majority of ES values provided by parkland trees could be explained by differences in tree and landscape characteristics (Table 8) and the initial parameters used in the i-Tree Eco and CAVAT tools to quantify the ES (Appendix B). However, further analysis of tree and landscape characteristics revealed the relative strengths of these variables on ES valuation outputs. Tree size (DBH size class and leaf area) was the strongest driver of ES values, whereas landscape characteristics (specifically distance to nearest woodland and distance to nearest tree) were weak drivers. Correlation between other tree and landscape characteristics (species, veteran status, condition, parkland site, crown light exposure) with tree size could not be excluded, indicating these were weaker drivers of ES values. Similar relationships were identified for avoided runoff and pollution removal due to both ES being calculated using the same input variables (Appendix B).

Table 8. Significant^a results of Kruskal-Wallis and Spearman's Rank correlation analysis confirming which ecosystem service (ES) values provided by parkland trees can be explained by different tree and landscape characteristics. Where correlation analysis was able to be carried out for continuous variables, the direction of the relationship is confirmed (+ denotes a positive relationship, - denotes a negative relationship). Test statistics given in full in Appendix E.

	Carbon storage	Gross carbon sequestration	Avoided stormwater runoff	Air pollution removal	Amenity value
DBH size class	***	***	***	***	***
Leaf area	***	*	***	***	***
	+	+	+	+	+
Veteran status	***	***			***
Species	***	***	***	***	**
Condition	***	***	***	***	***
Parkland site	**	***	***	***	***
Distance to nearest		**	***	***	***
woodland		+	-	-	-
Distance to nearest		**	**	**	**
tree		+	-	-	-
Crown light	***	***	***	***	***
exposure					

^a *** *p*<0.001, ** *p*<0.01, * *p*<0.05, . *p*<0.1.

4.3.2.1 Tree size

Both DBH size class and tree canopy leaf area were significant predictors of all ES values (Figure 10). Carbon storage, gross carbon sequestration, avoided runoff, pollution removal and amenity value increased with increasing DBH. ES values were significantly lower in the young and semi-mature age classifications, increasing significantly between mature age classes, but were only significantly higher in the over-mature and veteran age classifications for carbon storage and amenity value (Figure 10.A; Figure 10.E). Leaf area was also significantly positively correlated with all ES values (Figure 10). Leaf area was used directly to calculate both avoided runoff (r_s =1.00, p<0.001) and pollution removal (r_s =1.00, p<0.001) values and therefore exhibited a strong significant positive correlation.



Figure 10. Relationships between tree size (DBH size class and leaf area) and ES values. DBH size class: A) Carbon storage ($\chi^2(4)$ =489.360, p<0.001); B) Gross carbon sequestration DBH size class ($\chi^2(4)$ =124.180, p<0.001); C) Avoided stormwater runoff ($\chi^2(4)$ =318.84, p<0.001); D) Air pollution removal ($\chi^2(4)$ =317.76, p<0.001); E) Amenity value ($\chi^2(4)$ =305.82, p<0.001). Leaf area: F) Carbon storage (r_s =0.75, p<0.001); G) Gross carbon storage (r_s =0.09, p<0.05); H) Amenity value (r_s =0.77, p<0.001). Trendline added based on the formula ' $y \sim x$ '.

4.3.2.2 Tree species

Tree species ES values differed and were a strong driver of ES values despite their relationship with tree size. Carbon storage values increased with increasing DBH for all species modelled, greater in some species (e.g. *Cedrus* spp., *Fagus sylvatica*, *Platanus* x *hispanica*) and smaller in other species (e.g. *Quercus robur*, *Alnus glutinosa*) (Figure 11). The carbon storage values modelled by i-Tree Eco are capped at 7,500 kg to prevent overestimation of the value for very large trees. Eight trees had their carbon storage values capped (*Cedrus libani* n=3, *Fagus sylvatica* n=1, *Fraxinus excelsior* n=1, *Platanus* x *hispanica* n=2, *Quercus robur* n=1), suggesting these trees had the greatest carbon storage values.



Figure 11. Relationships between DBH (cm) and carbon storage (kg), gross carbon sequestration (kg/yr), avoided stormwater runoff (m^3 /yr), air pollution removal (g/yr) and amenity value (£) of individual parkland trees by species. Trendlines fit a linear regression.

Gross carbon sequestration values both increased and decreased for species depending on whether a tree was considered to have reached maturity. Tree maturity is defined by i-Tree Eco as when a tree species is reaching its maximum growth height (Nowak, 2020). The Eco model decreases the annual growth rate when a tree is reaching maturity, causing a decline in gross carbon sequestration values. The DBH at which a species was considered to have reached maximum growth height differed between species. Avoided runoff and pollution removal species relationships were analogous, reflecting an increase in leaf area with increasing DBH. *Cedrus* spp. showed the highest increases in avoided runoff and pollution removal relative to their size due to being evergreen, as opposed to broadleaf trees which have very limited avoided runoff and pollution removal values in the leaf-off season (Nowak, 2020). *Aesculus hippocastanum* showed a negative relationship in avoided runoff and pollution removal relative to their size likely due to the small sample size (n=6). Amenity value also increased with increasing DBH, although the influence of other tree and landscape characteristics likely better explain species ES values.

4.3.3 20 year parkland tree changes

4.3.3.1 Growth rate

The maximum annual growth rate recorded was 2.00 cm per year, with the minimum annual growth rate recorded at 0.03 cm per year. Annual growth rate increased with increasing tree size; on average significantly higher for the largest parkland trees than for smaller trees (Figure 12). Annual growth rate increased significantly between mature (66-95 cm and 96-125 cm) and over-mature and veteran (≥126 cm) size classes.



Figure 12. Annual trunk growth rate by diameter at breast height (DBH) size class of parkland trees. Significant differences amongst groups denoted by different letters (p<0.05), achieved using Tukey post-hoc tests based on the model formula $x \sim y$.

Cedrus spp. and *Platanus x hispanica* had significantly higher growth rates compared to the majority of other parkland species (Figure 13). The top 10% (n=40) growth rates of different species 35% were *Quercus robur,* 22.5% *Cedrus spp.,* 15% *Platanus x hispanica,* 7.5% *Fraxinus excelsior,* 5% *Fagus sylvatica* and *Castanea sativa* and *Tilia cordata,* 2.5% other species (*Quercus coccinea* and *Acer platanoides*). Despite growth rates differing between tree species, no significant interactions

were found between species and DBH or leaf area or location in order to explain the relationship between growth rate and DBH.



Figure 13. Annual trunk growth rate (cm) of parkland trees by species. Significant differences amongst groups denoted by different letters (p<0.05), achieved using Tukey post-hoc tests based on the model formula $x \sim y$.

4.3.3.2 Historical ES changes

Since 1999, 14 trees have been removed from the parkland: 9 trees in the Deer Park, 4 trees in the North Front, and 1 tree in the South Park. Of these trees, 57% were *Quercus robur*, 14% were *Cedrus libani* and the remaining individuals were *Aesculus hippocastanum*, *Acer platanoides*, *Fraxinus excelsior* and *Fagus sylvatica*. This is calculated at an annual mortality rate of 0.12%, or 2% in 20 years. All but two of these trees were classed as a mature age (Hutton Forestry, 1999), with an estimated 71% of the trees being classified as veteran based on having a large DBH or great chronological age for the species (Defra, 2007), and tree condition comments from the 1999 parkland tree survey (Hutton Forestry, 1999). 7 trees have died and been left as standing deadwood, which were able to be surveyed and valued for carbon storage ES benefits.

The carbon storage value of trees in the parkland has significantly increased between 1999 and 2017/2020 (z=2.33, p<0.05) (Figure 14). The gross carbon sequestration value of trees in the parkland has significantly decreased between 1999 and 2017/2020 (z=6.24, p<0.001). The avoided runoff and pollution removal values have not changed significantly between 1999 and 2017/2020.



Figure 14. Changes in A) carbon storage (z=2.33, p<0.05), B) gross carbon sequestration (z=6.24, p<0.001), C) avoided stormwater runoff (z=0.05, p>0.05) and D) air pollution removal (z=-0.37, p>0.05) ecosystem service (ES) values of trees in the Harewood Estate parkland between 1999 and 2017/2020. Significant differences amongst groups denoted by different letters (p<0.05).

4.4 Discussion

4.4.1 Quantified ES benefits

Parkland trees currently provide an estimated 1,224,030 kg of carbon storage, 14,522 kg/year of gross carbon sequestration, 693 m³/year avoided stormwater runoff and 412 kg/year air pollution removal regulating benefits for three parkland sites within the Harewood Estate. This has been valued at a total of £73,442 carbon storage value and £4,055 total annual benefits value. Parkland trees currently provide £28,117,919 in amenity value.

4.4.1.1 Parkland ES values are low compared to similar urban landscapes

Compared to similar urban landscapes, the Harewood Estate parkland provides less ES value. When compared to Hyde Park, an urban park with open-grown trees in central London, the ES values are less than half the value that Hyde Park provides per hectare (Rogers et al., 2017). The University of Leeds campus, located 10 km south of the Harewood Estate, also provides more ES values per hectare, although the gap is narrower (Gugan et al., 2019). However, this is likely due to both Hyde Park and the University of Leeds having more trees per hectare: 22.4 trees/ha and 36.3 trees/ha respectively compared to only 4.6 trees/ha for the Harewood Estate. Some difference in values could also be attributed to this study using updated, more accurate i-Tree Eco algorithms

since the studies by Rogers et al. and Gugan et al. (Nowak, 2020). From a simplistic point of view, this suggests that in order to increase the ES values of the parkland estate, more trees should be planted. However this outcome does not take in to account the potential trade-offs that this management decision may have on other ES values (Mitchell et al., 2015), such as the cultural heritage value of the open vistas of the 'Capability' Brown parkland landscape (Natural England, 2016), or biodiversity (Chapter 3).

4.4.1.2 Parkland estates are more valuable per tree than other land use types

On an individual tree level, trees in Hyde Park and the University of Leeds with a DBH greater than 100 cm represent less than 1% of the population, compared to 43% of trees in the Harewood Estate. Veteran trees have been previously shown to provide more ES than younger trees, including storing larger quantities of carbon both above- (Clark and Clark, 1996; Stephenson et al., 2014) and below-ground (Dean et al., 2020), and greater cultural and aesthetic values (Blicharska and Mikusiński, 2014). Veteran trees also have the most cumulative benefits due to their relatively long lifespan (Nowak, 2004; Hand et al., 2019). It could therefore be suggested that Harewood Estate trees provide more value per tree than those in Hyde Park and the University of Leeds due to typically being larger and older, despite having less trees per hectare. Thus stately homes have an unusual size class of tree that is particularly important for ES.

4.4.1.3 Cultural ES valuation method is important

The cultural amenity ES value of the Harewood Estate parkland trees was estimated at £28 million, a higher value than their regulating ES. However, the CAVAT methodology used has limitations for estimating cultural ES values, particularly for veteran trees. The amenity value produced by CAVAT captures the aesthetic value of parkland trees, which is an important feature of a designed landscape (Kümmerling and Müller, 2012; Walerzak et al., 2015). However, this valuation is arguably a subjective judgement despite the reproducible methodology (Price, 2020). The monetary replacement value it represents is pragmatic yet may not be appropriate for rural, veteran parkland trees which have a range of cultural, historic, heritage values attached to them from both an individual tree and landscape perspective (Blicharska and Mikusiński, 2014). The monetary values produced by CAVAT also vary considerably, for example a difference of £774,846 between the most and least valuable parkland trees surveyed. Trees with veteran tree features are also penalised by CAVAT (unless the tree is formally classified as veteran), with CAVAT values being reduced with increasing age, poor vitality and wounds or damage. Due to this, the methodology has previously been assessed as having a low usefulness for the economic valuation of veteran trees (Östberg and Trädförening, 2019). Alternative methods of cultural ES valuation such as photo elicitation could be better suited for valuing the cultural ES of parkland trees (Plieninger et al., 2015), however many of these methods are on a landscape-scale as opposed to tree-scale. Cultural ES have been generally neglected in ES research (Baveye, 2017; Boerema et al., 2017) because they include intangible concepts, such as aesthetic value or a sense of place, and are considered difficult to quantify (Daniel et al., 2012; Milcu et al., 2013; Willcock et al., 2017), as well as people valuing cultural ES in different ways, and these values changing over time (Plieninger, Bieling, et al., 2015; Gould et al., 2018). The amenity value of trees is an important aspect governing trees retention and management in parkland landscapes, and should not be overlooked despite criticisms of valuation methodologies and suitability of use for veteran tree valuation.

4.4.2 Tree size is most important for high ES values

Tree size was the most important driver of ES values. Both DBH and leaf area were found to be the dominant drivers of ES values. Tree size measurements were consistently important input variables in to all ES valuation models: carbon storage, gross carbon sequestration and amenity value use DBH and avoided runoff and pollution removal use leaf area (Appendix B). Correlations between significant tree and landscape characteristics (species, veteran status, condition, parkland site, crown light exposure) and tree size further suggest tree size are the most important variables to be included in ES valuation models. However including some of the initial parameters (e.g. leaf area) used to quantify some ES variables (e.g. pollution removal) in analysis could lead to circular reasoning. The further analysis of tree and landscape characteristics was carried out as sensitivity analysis to reveal the relative strengths of these variables on ES valuation outputs. Sensitivity analysis on the i-Tree Eco model carried out by Lin et al. (2020) agrees with these findings, with DBH playing the most important role in carbon storage and sequestration estimation and leaf area index being one of the most important variables in air pollution removal. This suggests management should focus on protecting the current tree stock to reach maturity, as tree size is the most important driver of ES values.

Veteran status was an important driver of ES values, however it was only important where tree size was also important for regulating ES. This suggests tree area (e.g. woody biomass, leaf area, canopy size), and its link with tree age, was in fact the main important variable driving regulating ES values rather than veteran tree microhabitat features. Amenity value takes veteran status directly in to account, making it an important driver of amenity ES value. This link between tree area and higher ES values could be affected by tree health and therefore whether a tree is veteran or not. For example, trunk hollowing could lead to an overestimation of trunk wood biomass in i-Tree allometric equations (Zheng et al., 2016). Therefore trees exhibiting certain veteran tree characteristics could lead to inaccurate ES estimates.

The annual growth rate was on average significantly higher for the largest parkland trees than for smaller trees. This contradicts the classical idea of 'rise-and-fall' unimodal patterns of tree size-growth relationships: tree biomass growth declining the larger and older a tree becomes (Weiskittel et al., 2011), however studies providing clear evidence of these relationships are limited (Sheil et al., 2017). More recent studies agree with the results of this study that annual growth rate increased with increasing DBH (Stephenson et al., 2014; Sheil et al., 2017; Forrester, 2021), yet

suggest this result may not be unequivocal. Measurement errors and data control procedures can bias estimates of biomass growth (Sheil et al., 2017), with an overall tree volume change important to measure as opposed to primarily changes in trunk biomass (Forrester, 2021). A lack of replicated measurements, with this study only comparing measurements between 20 years, could also lead to biased estimates. Parkland tree characteristics could also explain this result. Open-grown parkland trees could be released from tree-tree competition, allowing a larger canopy to develop and subsequently increasing growth rate (Lennon, 2009; Thorpe et al., 2010). Therefore despite many of the Harewood Estate parkland trees exhibiting decay features associated with tree death, many of these trees may have not reached an age of senescence yet, as growth rates of large trees still show decline in the last period of life (Forrester, 2021). This result alludes that the modelled carbon sequestration is inaccurate and actual parkland tree gross carbon storage should be greater than what was estimated by i-Tree Eco. The Eco model decreases the annual growth rate when a tree is reaching maturity, causing a decline in gross carbon sequestration values, however the calculated annual growth rate of trees between 1999 and 2017/2020 suggested these trees are still growing and in fact are increasing in volume more than smaller, younger trees. Consequently, large, old trees are not simply senescent carbon reservoirs but actively sequester large amounts of carbon and provide large canopy areas compared to smaller trees.

4.4.3 Both native and non-native species are important for ES values

Both native and non-native tree species were important drivers of ES values, yet tree size was still the most important driver of ES values. Tree species was a consistent input variables in to all ES valuation models, yet different species were important for different ES values, agreeing with previous research on large-stature trees (Hand et al., 2019). Sensitivity analysis on the i-Tree Eco model carried out by Lin et al. (2020) also agrees with these findings, with species being a minor driver in carbon storage and sequestration estimation compared to DBH. Differences in species morphologies such as wood density, leaf size and area, and growth habit are the most likely explanation for differences in species ES values (McPherson et al., 2016; Nowak, 2020), but this was beyond the scope of the current study to investigate.

Non-native, ornamental tree species are an important part of parkland estates and could be important in a changing future. Native and non-native species had the highest growth rates of individual trees, however only *Cedrus spp.* and *Platanus x hispanica* had significantly higher growth rates than the other species. Growth rate varies across tree species (Vaz Monteiro et al., 2017), so species that have higher growth rates will reach maturity faster and will be able to provide greater ES values. This also suggests that longer-lived species such as *Quercus robur* and *Platanus x hispanica* (Hand et al., 2019) can provide more ES values over their lifetimes compared to shorter-lived species such as *Alnus glutinosa*. *Platanus x hispanica* and *Cedrus libani* are a defining feature of 'Capability' Brown landscapes (Gregory et al., 2013). Historic parks and gardens such as the Harewood Estate parkland act as a living collection of rare and ornamental species (Prigioniero

46

et al., 2020). Some, such as *Cedrus atlantica* and *Cedrus libani* are now under threat in their native habitat (Gardner, 2013; Thomas, 2013), making the Harewood Estate an important resource for ex-situ conservation and research (Dosmann, 2006; Westwood et al., 2020). These non-native, ornamental species are therefore important for cultural ES and conservation. The inclusion of non-native tree species could be important for the future resilience of the parkland estate. Tree pests and diseases are predicted to decrease the ES provided by trees in the future (Boyd et al., 2013). Non-native species made up 11% of the Harewood Estate parkland trees (Figure 3). Non-native tree species have fewer pests and diseases associated with them as they have been removed from their native range where specialists herbivores and diseases are present (Connor et al., 1980). Alternative, potentially non-native species, will be important to consider planting when thinking about a more resilient future parkland tree community less vulnerable to pests, diseases and future climate change scenarios (Mitchell et al., 2021). Utilising the strengths of different species and their functional differences can help increase ES values and improve resilience of parkland estates in the future.

4.4.4 ES values increased and decreased in 20 years

The mortality rate of the Harewood Estate parkland trees was 0.12% per annum. This is lower than expected when compared with other studies which have found an ancient tree natural mortality rate of between 1-2% (Drobyshev et al., 2008; Bengtsson et al., 2012). Open-grown *Quercus robur* trees have been found to have a lower mortality than those in high density forests (Drobyshev et al., 2008), and these results suggest that the majority of parkland trees have not yet reached the end of their lives despite many being classified as veteran.

Different ES increased and decreased in value over 20 years, likely due to the retention of standing dead trees, higher annual growth rate in larger trees and the planting of new sapling trees. The low tree mortalities in the parkland since 1999 have contributed to the carbon storage value of the parkland trees increasing significantly in 20 years. Continued annual growth of the mature and veteran parkland trees along with the important carbon storage value of standing dead trees left on site (Keith et al., 2009; Pfeifer et al., 2015) both contributed to this carbon storage increase, as well as the planting of new sapling trees. The gross carbon sequestration value of parkland trees has significantly decreased in 20 years. This could be attributed to more trees reaching their mature height than 20 years ago and growth rates levelling off, parameterised by i-Tree Eco model used to calculate it. However, the calculated annual growth rates than smaller trees.

The avoided runoff and pollution removal values have not changed significantly in 20 years, suggesting there has been a negligible change in the net leaf area of the parkland trees in 20 years. Tree mortalities will have decreased the net leaf area, however these could have been offset by the planting of new sapling trees. As trees age the canopy starts to retrench and reduce in volume

(Dujesiefken et al., 2016), which decreases the overall leaf area, yet the continued growth rate in larger trees could be offsetting any veteran tree canopy declines. Monitored ES changes in UK farmland, forestry and upland sites found similar trends over 20 years that there was generally no net loss in regulating ES, with regulating ES generally increasing (Dick et al., 2016). In order to draw specific conclusions on the temporal changes in ES, more information on the specific drivers and the landscape history is needed (Tomscha and Gergel, 2016).

4.4.5 Conclusions

Parkland trees are valuable to the Harewood Estate and this has been shown through the regulating and cultural ES benefits they provide. The low number of parkland trees per hectare generated lower ES values compared to comparable urban landscapes, but parkland estates are more valuable per tree due to the large population of veteran trees compared to other land use types. Cultural ES are important to include in ES valuations, particularly in historic parkland estates with known aesthetic and cultural heritage values, but the choice of valuation methodology is important, as monetary replacement valuation may be too simplistic to encompass the many intangible cultural ES. Tree size was the most important driver of ES values, suggesting management should focus on protecting the current tree stock to reach maturity to increase parkland ES values. The annual growth rate was significantly higher for the largest parkland trees than for smaller trees, contradicting classical ideas about tree size-growth relationships. Calculation discrepancies and tree characteristics could potentially explain this, however more recent research agrees with these findings. Along with the mortality rate of the Harewood Estate parkland trees being lower than expected, this suggests the majority of parkland trees have not reached an age of senescence yet, further confirming large, old trees are important for ES values. Both native and non-native tree species were important drivers of ES values and longer-lived species could provide more ES values over their lifetimes compared to shorter-lived species. Different ES increased and decreased in value over 20 years, likely due to the retention of standing dead trees, higher annual growth rate in larger trees and the planting of new sapling trees. Understanding the ES values parkland trees provide and what drives this can be used to inform future long-term management plans for the parkland estate.

5 The trade-offs and synergies between biodiversity, regulating ecosystem services and cultural ecosystem services in parkland trees

5.1 Introduction

One of the main challenges for decision-makers and land managers is navigating trade-offs and synergies between biodiversity and multiple ecosystem services (ES) (UK National Ecosystem Assessment, 2011; Fu et al., 2015). Trade-offs occur when the provision of one set of variables or outcomes can only be achieved at the expense of others (Rodríguez et al., 2006; Howe et al., 2014; Tomscha and Gergel, 2016), whereas synergies occur when two or more variables or outcomes change in the same direction (Bennett et al., 2009; Howe et al., 2014). In some scenarios, a tradeoff may be an explicit choice; but in others, trade-offs arise without premeditation or awareness that they are taking place (Rodríguez et al., 2006). Land use decisions inevitably come with trade-offs, therefore understanding biodiversity and ES relationships is essential to support the minimisation trade-offs and the maximisation of potential synergies.

Trade-off analysis is particularly important for sites like the Harewood Estate, which are multifunctional landscapes. Historic parkland estates are known to be important for their unique biodiversity; some sites in the UK are notified as Sites of Special Scientific Interest (Natural England, 2015), as well as being important for cultural heritage; many including the Harewood Estate are Registered Parks and Gardens (Historic England, 1984). The management requirements of both outcomes may not be compatible. The study and understanding of these trade-offs between biodiversity, regulating ES values and cultural ES values on historic parkland are only just starting to be undertaken.

Specifically, this chapter sets out to answer the following research questions:

- What biodiversity, regulating ES and cultural ES variables show associations in parkland trees?
- Which types of biodiversity and ES are related negatively (trade-off) or positively (synergy) in these trees?

5.2 Methods

The biodiversity value is taken to be the habitat value of individual trees based on tree-related microhabitats (TreMs). This is based on TreM richness, TreM abundance and TreM evenness to account for TreM diversity as a whole. TreM abundance was the sum of all the TreMs recorded per tree (TreM density). Simpson's evenness ($E_{1/D}$) was used to calculate a measure of evenness that was independent of species richness (Magurran, 2013). Regulating ES were taken from i-Tree Eco outputs: carbon storage (kg), gross carbon sequestration (kg/year), avoided stormwater runoff

(m³/year), air pollution removal (g/year). Cultural ES was taken from the tree amenity value (CAVAT) output (£).

5.2.1 Statistical analysis

The correlation coefficient method was chosen to determine associations between biodiversity and ES, due to its ease of defining no-effect relationships based on the correlation strength as opposed to other methodologies. This makes it a useful method for trade-off analysis compared to descriptive methods, regression analysis or multivariate statistics (Mouchet et al., 2014; Lee and Lautenbach, 2016).

Spearman's rank correlation was chosen to carry out calculations for all relationships due to the distribution of the data being non-normal, despite many data transformations being carried out. This included Tukey's Ladder of Powers transformation which was the closest to normality. In order to compare biodiversity and ES, all variables were standardised to z-scores (scaling the data to mean 0, standard deviation 1).

The relationships between the variables were illustrated in a principal component analysis (PCA) using the imputePCA function in the missMDA package, used to account for missing biodiversity values in the complete dataset (Josse and Husson, 2016).

5.3 Results

The correlation matrix indicated that TreM richness, TreM abundance, carbon storage, gross carbon sequestration, avoided stormwater runoff and air pollution removal were significantly positively correlated with one another, with only TreM evenness showing significant negative correlations with the other variables (Figure 15).

Trees that exhibited higher TreM richness and abundance per tree were found to be less even TreM communities. This relationship is reflected in the associations of biodiversity and ES; TreM richness and TreM abundance were found to be positively correlated with the ES whereas TreM evenness was found to be negatively correlated. This was further illustrated by PCA analysis (Figure 16). Gross carbon sequestration was found to have only a weak positive correlation with TreM richness, with TreM abundance and TreM evenness not significant.

Carbon storage, gross carbon sequestration, avoided runoff, pollution removal and amenity value were all found to be positively correlated with each other. Avoided runoff and pollution removal were found to be perfectly positively correlated, due to both ES being calculated using the same variables (Appendix B). Relationships between avoided runoff and pollution removal with other variables were therefore similar.



Figure 15. Pairwise Spearman's Rank correlation coefficients (r_s) between biodiversity and ecosystem service values. Blue are positive relationships (synergies) and red are negative relationships (trade-offs) (p<0.05). White indicates relationships with no established inter-relationship (p>0.05).



Figure 16. PCA plot highlighting the discrimination between biodiversity (TreM richness, TreM abundance, TreM evenness), regulating ecosystem services (carbon storage, carbon sequestration, avoided stormwater runoff, air pollution removal) and cultural ecosystem services (amenity value) variables. Dim 1 represents 56.90% and Dim 2 represents 17.22% of the variation.

5.4 Discussion

5.4.1 Relationships are synergistic between biodiversity and ES

TreM richness and abundance were found to have synergies with the ES analysed. These results support the hypothesis that there is generally a positive relationship between biodiversity and ES (Haines-Young and Potschin, 2010; Tilman et al., 2014), with biodiversity being shown to be synergistic with most ES in this study, and as with other studies (Balvanera et al., 2006; Cardinale et al., 2012; Harrison et al., 2014), due to the positive relationship between biodiversity and ecosystem functioning (Figure 1, Tilman et al., 2014; Dasgupta, 2021). The only trade-offs identified were between TreM evenness and the other biodiversity values, regulating and cultural ES. This is due to trees exhibiting higher TreM evenness having lower TreM richness and TreM abundance per tree. The unevenness of TreMs could be due to the majority of TreM-bearing trees in the parkland being of mature or veteran age (Figure 4) as well as the majority of species being Quercus robur (Figure 3). This could have contributed to many of the same TreM type occurring on the same tree, for example crown deadwood occurring at a high abundance on senescent trees due to age. Gross carbon sequestration was found to have only a weak synergy with TreM richness, with no significant association with TreM abundance and TreM evenness. This could be due to the carbon sequestration rate being similar for mature and veteran trees (Figure 10). In contrast, the biodiversity value of older trees was found to be higher (Figure 5; Figure 6; Table 4) suggesting there is a trade-off between gross carbon sequestration and biodiversity in parkland trees. However, the modelled carbon sequestration rate could be incorrect for mature and veteran parkland trees, as it was shown in Chapter 4 they had a higher annual growth rate the larger the tree was, which was the opposite relationship the i-Tree Eco model predicted to calculate the gross carbon sequestration.

This study found synergies between all regulating and cultural ES (Figure 15). This is comparable to a synthesis of ES relationships carried out by Lee and Lautenbach (2016), finding synergistic relationships between carbon sequestration, storage and bio-remediation by biota and bequest to future generations, as well as between carbon sequestration, storage and accumulation by ecosystems and scientific, educational, heritage, entertainment and aesthetic values. However, overall the majority of relationships between regulating and cultural ES are undecided or found to have no-effect (Lee and Lautenbach, 2016). Lee and Lautenbach note that the types of cultural services analysed were limited, with 69% of cultural case studies analysed focusing on 'physical and experiential interactions' with different environments rather than aesthetic, heritage or bequest which are more related to the cultural values the Harewood Estate parkland is known for. This suggests that cultural ES are understudied and there is not enough evidence to gain a clear picture of regulating and cultural ES relationships in the range of different scenarios they present themselves in.

52

This study has contributed to the evidence and knowledge gap around biodiversity and cultural ES relationships in different land management scenarios (Balvanera et al., 2006). It found a positive relationship between TreM richness, TreM abundance, and amenity value. This supports previous evidence that higher cultural ES can be associated with more biodiverse landscapes (Schneiders et al., 2012; Cáceres et al., 2015; Assandri et al., 2018; Tew et al., 2019). The knowledge gap around biodiversity and cultural ES may be due to many components of biodiversity having a cultural value, for example the appreciation of wildlife and scenic places, spiritual, religious, educational and recreational values (Mace et al., 2012) and therefore there being less need for separation when analysing ES trade-offs.

This study also found synergies between all regulating ES. Regulating services have been previously found to have strong synergistic relationships with each other (Lee and Lautenbach, 2016) due to their association with ecosystem processes and functions (Bennett et al., 2009; de Groot et al., 2010) and general positive relationship with biodiversity (Balvanera et al., 2006; Mace et al., 2012; Harrison et al., 2014).

In summary, this study has found that in the case of the Harewood Estate parkland, the majority of the biodiversity, regulating ES and cultural ES relationships are synergistic. This indicates the parkland estate is a multifunctional landscape. This may also be because none of the parkland trees are known to provide any provisioning services. Provisioning ES have previously found to be more likely to have trade-offs with biodiversity, regulating and cultural ES (Raudsepp-Hearne et al., 2010; Power, 2010; Lee and Lautenbach, 2016), explaining why in this study the majority of the relationships were found to be synergistic.

5.4.2 Parkland is still a multifunctional landscape

PCA illustrated that all but TreM evenness was explained by 56.90% of the variation between variables (Figure 16). This suggests that TreM richness, TreM abundance, carbon storage, carbon sequestration, avoided runoff, pollution removal, amenity value could be grouped together in an 'ES bundle'. This confirms that the Harewood Estate parkland is a multifunctional landscape. Multifunctional landscapes with intermediate human intervention (such as wood-pastures and parklands) have a positive effect on regulating and cultural ES, biodiversity, and are more highly valued compared to intensified systems (García-Llorente et al., 2012; Torralba et al., 2016; Assandri et al., 2018; Kay et al., 2018). Identifying these bundles has been receiving increased attention as they can give a compelling message to decision-makers when working with complex landscapes (Queiroz et al., 2015; Baró et al., 2017; Ament et al., 2017). However these associations would need to appear together repeatedly in order to meet the ES bundle definition set out by Raudsepp-Hearne et al. (2010) and Mouchet et al. (2014). It is beyond the scope of this study to confirm spatial or temporal consistencies.

5.4.3 Tree size and age underlie synergistic relationships

Understanding the drivers and mechanisms that underlie the relationships between biodiversity and multiple ES is fundamental for understanding the trade-offs and synergies between them to make land management decisions (Bennett et al., 2009; Landuyt et al., 2016; Dade et al., 2019). Correlation analysis alone cannot explore how various complex tree characteristics (e.g. DBH, species) or landscape factors (e.g. management practises) influence relationships between biodiversity and ES.

Comparing the tree and landscape drivers previously found for biodiversity and ES is able to address this shortfall in methodology. Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 concluded that tree size was a consistent dominant driver of increases in biodiversity and ES value, with larger, older trees providing greater biodiversity and ES values. This concurs with previous morphometric research using PCA which found the DIM1 first principal axis (Figure 16) nearly always counts for size in morphometric analysis (Berner, 2011). However, there could be collinearity between all the ES explanatory variables as they all use tree size as a variable to determine the valuation output (Appendix B). This could have introduced bias into the trade-off calculations, meaning the ES bundle is showing a relationship that was built in to the ES valuation models. Tree size is a covariate and cannot be excluded from analysis due to tree size being an intrinsic characteristic (Zuur et al., 2010). Nevertheless, the TreM results were classified into an ES bundle with ES, as well as being driven by tree size rather than the model relationship being caused by it (Table 2; Table 4; Paillet et al., 2019).

Previous studies on forest attributes concur with this study's findings that larger trees have on average a positive effect on ES (Harrison et al., 2014; Felipe-Lucia et al., 2018) and provide more ES than other younger trees (Lindenmayer and Laurance, 2017). This suggests that the potential collinearity between ES variables should not discount the results of this study, as a mechanistic understanding as well as previous research supports the conclusions of this study. However caution should be taken when making predictions using this method and specific variable combination in other parkland sites with different or unknown collinearity structures, as the underlying drivers and mechanisms may be different (Dormann et al., 2013).

5.4.4 Conclusions

This is one of the first studies to quantify the trade-offs and synergies between biodiversity and ES of parkland trees. Overall, there were synergistic associations between biodiversity, regulating ES and cultural ES. This study supports existing research which has broadly found synergies between biodiversity and these ES, and suggests that the Harewood Estate parkland is functioning as a successful multifunctional landscape. However, trade-off analysis results can be context dependent and be influenced by the method used to analyse trade-offs. The study found that biodiversity, regulating and cultural ES of parkland trees could be grouped in to an 'ES bundle' as they appear in a data cluster together. However to confirm this they would need to appear together repeatedly either

spatially or temporally. It is likely that this ES bundle is driven by tree size and age, with previous chapters concluding that tree size was a consistent dominant driver in increases in biodiversity and ES values. This suggests however that there was collinearity between ES variables as they all use tree size as a variable to determine a valuation output. Nevertheless, the results concur with previous studies. A cautionary approach should be taken when applying this methodology to different parkland sites as ES bundles may not be comparable.

6 Discussion

6.1 Big trees are best

Throughout this investigation, it has been shown that it is the largest and oldest trees that contribute disproportionately to biodiversity and ES values. Tree size has been the dominant factor in influencing both the biodiversity value and the regulating and cultural ES values compared to other tree and landscape characteristics. This finding is supported by previous work that has shown that tree size can be the dominant influence on TreM diversity (Asbeck et al., 2021), and influence the amount of biodiversity supported by individual trees, with larger trees acting as keystone structures for increasing biodiversity (Lindenmayer et al., 2014). Larger trees were also found to have higher regulating ES values, in line with previous literature (Hand et al., 2019). This investigation found evidence that there was no decline in growth rate that would be expected in larger, older parkland trees and they had a higher growth rate than smaller, younger trees. This implies a continued increase in values as these trees age. The link between tree size and age — the age-diameter relationship — is well known (White, 1998; Lennon, 2009), and this thesis further strengthens the knowledge on veteran trees and the important biodiversity and ES values they provide. This is particularly relevant for cultural ES, as the age of trees, rather than their size, often influences their value through their longevity in human communities (Lindenmayer and Laurance, 2017; Nolan et al., 2020). Larger, older trees are rare in other land use classes (Hand et al., 2019; Asbeck et al., 2021), parkland estates are therefore important strongholds for these veteran and ancient trees. The dominance of larger, older trees in parkland tree community is therefore able to support more biodiversity and greater ES values per tree, although the relative paucity of trees in parklands could reduce these benefits on a landscape-scale.

Tree species was also an important driver of biodiversity and ES values. A more diverse tree species community is important for a higher biodiversity value of parkland trees as they provide a diverse mosaic of microhabitats which in turn supports slightly different habitat niches (Alexander et al., 2006; Sjöman et al., 2016). However species that are valuable for biodiversity may not necessarily be as valuable for regulating or cultural ES. For example, *Fagus sylvatica* had a low TreM diversity, yet had relatively high carbon storage, avoided runoff, pollution removal and amenity values compared to other parkland tree species. Utilising the strengths of different species and their functional differences can help increase biodiversity and ES values, and improve resilience of parkland estates in the future.

Tree characteristics were more important than landscape management characteristics at predicting the value of trees. The spatial layout of trees in the parkland landscape is an important part of its classification and values (Walerzak et al., 2015), yet this study found limited evidence that these were main factors driving biodiversity and ES values. However, this study did not explore the effect of environmental drivers on biodiversity and ES such as solar radiation, precipitation and wind.

Previous studies have found a link between the distinct microclimates of open-grown trees and rare invertebrates (Manning et al., 2006; Sebek et al., 2016). Felipe-Lucia et al. (2018) found that environmental factors play an important role in driving ES in combination with tree characteristics. However the study also found that tree characteristics such as mean DBH and structural heterogeneity were the most important factors explaining ES values.

This thesis has shown the valuation of parkland trees is a useful tool for the valuation of parkland landscapes. However, this study has also highlighted the complexity of these landscapes in that different tree and landscape characteristics impacted the value of parkland trees. In order to apply the methodologies used in this thesis to other parkland estates, the suitability and limitations of the valuation methods used for valuing veteran parkland trees need to be highlighted.

6.2 Parkland is a landscape mosaic

Biodiversity, regulating ES and cultural ES were overwhelmingly synergistic when trade-off analysis was carried out, suggesting that the Harewood Estate parkland is functioning as a successful multifunctional landscape. This study focused on parkland trees as a proxy for historic parkland valuation due to open-grown trees being significant to the classification of the habitat. However, the scrub and grassland understorey not surveyed in this study are also important defining features of wood-pasture and parkland and are therefore valuable. Ecological surveys undertaken in the Harewood Estate parkland in 2020-2021 concluded that the scrub cover is low and the grazed grassland is agriculturally improved species-poor condition due to the dominance of grasses (Penny Anderson Associates, 2021a; Penny Anderson Associates, 2021b). This thesis found limited landscape-scale drivers on parkland tree biodiversity and ES, however the combination of tree, scrub and grassland features in a multifunctional mosaic is what gives historic parkland an important biodiversity (Tscharntke et al., 2005; Bergmeier et al., 2010; Torralba et al., 2016), regulating (Torralba et al., 2016; Kay et al., 2018) and cultural (Plieninger et al., 2013; Fagerholm et al., 2016; Oteros-Rozas et al., 2018) value on a landscape-scale.

Veteran parkland trees have been shown to provide important microhabitats for a range of species, in particular saproxylic insects (Jonsell, 2012). Many of the associated saproxylic insects are also pollinators that require flowers to complete their lifecycle, many with specific requirements in terms of plant species used and the period in which foraging needs to take place (Falk, 2021). The pollen and nectar required by these insects is deficient in the parkland; the majority of parkland trees are *Quercus robur* which is of low value as a pollen and nectar resource (Alexander et al., 2006; Donkersley et al., 2017). This, coupled with the low level of scrub cover (e.g. Hawthorn, *Prunus* spp., *Rubus* spp.), which has been attributed to providing an important floral source for saproxylic pollinators (Falk, 2021), as well as the species-poor grassland which has a low abundance of non-grass flowering plants (Penny Anderson Associates, 2021a), suggests the Harewood Estate parkland may not be fulfilling all the habitat requirements of these rare, threatened specialist

saproxylic insects. The low diversity of flowering plants available may also not provide the breadth of flowering period required (March until October). It is therefore important to consider the parkland landscape mosaic when valuing the whole parkland ecosystem.

6.3 Threats to Harewood Estate parkland continuity

Land use change is one of the main drivers of biodiversity and ecosystem service declines in the UK (Foley et al., 2005; UK National Ecosystem Assessment, 2011; Hayhow et al., 2019), therefore how land is managed is important. Threats to the Harewood Estate parkland continuity have been identified in this thesis, including: i) tree generation gap, meaning there is a gap in time where there will be very few veteran tree habitats to support veteran tree biodiversity on site; ii) the low parkland tree diversity due to the dominance of *Quercus robur*, therefore landscape continuity is more sensitive to pests, diseases and climate change; iii) distance between veteran trees is too large, potentially affecting the connectivity of specialist invertebrates; and iv) high-intensity and incorrect grazing and grassland management, leading to a lack of tree recruitment and lower species diversity in the grassland.

Wood-pasture and parkland are multifunctional landscapes of anthropogenic origin, so constant low intensity management is crucial for the maintenance of biodiversity and ES (Bugalho et al., 2011). Conservation of the Harewood Estate parkland is important; the parkland is a 'Capability' Brown Grade I Registered Park and Garden (Historic England, 1984) and a priority habitat of biodiversity conservation significance (JNCC, 2019). However, these important cultural heritage ES can either encourage the maintenance of these valuable landscapes or act as barriers to necessary innovation and development (Plieninger, Bieling, et al., 2015) — conservation should not be done for conservation's sake. Future management of parkland estates should aim to keep the landscape multifunctionality in order to maximise multiple biodiversity and ES benefits, as was concluded by trade-off analysis (Chapter 5). Parkland estates need to be able to adapt to ecosystem degradation and biodiversity loss and future threats of climate change and emerging pests and diseases.

6.4 Parkland management recommendations

The most important parkland management recommendations should initially focus on tree-level management. This thesis concluded tree characteristics – in particular tree size – affect parkland tree biodiversity and ES values more than landscape management characteristics, therefore evidence-based sustainable management recommendations should initially focus on tree-level management as the easiest and most cost effective way of increasing and maintaining parkland values.

A parkland tree management plan should be created, detailing how mature and veteran trees should be managed, with the aim of retaining them to maintain parkland continuity and reducing the gap between tree cohorts. Tree work on veteran trees could involve impeding bark damage by livestock

58

and reducing ground compaction around roots, as well as the prevention of serious mechanical failure through selective pruning and removal of large branches (British Standards Institution, 2010; Lonsdale, 2013). Pollarding has also been shown to extend the lives of trees (Nolan et al., 2020). Retaining all forms of deadwood (crown, fallen, standing) could also be important as a way of bridging the gap between tree generations. Retaining parkland *Fraxinus excelsior* with Ash Dieback after death could be an important part of this (Bengtsson et al., 2021), as this thesis showed Fraxinus excelsior had the highest TreM diversity of all parkland tree species likely due to exhibiting old-growth characteristics associated with Ash Dieback disease progression. Veteranisation (deliberate damaging of trees to stimulate infection and decay) could be an 'engineering' solution. Examples include techniques to mimic natural damage (Bengtsson et al., 2015) and artificial nest and habitat boxes (Newton, 1994; Carlsson et al., 2016). Previous removal of deadwood from the parkland trees and pollarding act as a type of veteranisation, increasing TreMs, specifically hollows, formation rate (Sebek et al., 2013) and TreM development (Großmann et al., 2020). However this would only be worthwhile on younger trees, yet semi-mature trees are lacking in the Harewood Estate parkland (Figure 4), with all the trees surveyed having at least one TreM already present. Ultimately, parkland tree management needs to be considered on a tree-by-tree basis depending on objectives and local circumstances (Plieninger et al., 2015).

It is also important to take into account the surrounding landscape management, as parkland trees are keystone structures, acting as habitat 'islands' in unfavourable landscapes (Manning et al., 2006). This thesis has compared parkland trees with trees found in broadleaf European forests, and the tree management principles are analogous (Lonsdale, 2013). However, wood-pasture and parkland is a distinct habitat from intact woodland, with different understorey management. Both are recognised as different priority habitats of biodiversity conservation significance in the UK (JNCC, 2019). Therefore wood-pasture and parkland should not replace woodland to meet conservation goals, but instead enhance the parkland mosaic in estates to support a larger number of species and act as stepping stones between woodland patches. New trees and more sympathetic grassland management are key to improving connectivity. New trees could be introduced in to the parkland through either natural regeneration or tree planting. Individual large old trees can act as nodes of regeneration (Fischer et al., 2009; Mölder et al., 2019) due to contributing a disproportionately large number of germinants (Wenk and Falster, 2015). The success of natural tree regeneration has recently been shown on abandoned farmland in England (Broughton et al., 2021) and indeed during fieldwork for this thesis many seedling Quercus robur were observed in the parkland. However woodpasture and parkland require active management, therefore protection of sapling trees from grazers and mowing, or a reduced intensity, would be required if they are to make it beyond seedling establishment.

The species selection and location of new tree planting is important to consider (Hand et al., 2019) and this thesis has given an insight in to this through the explanation of biodiversity and ES values

by different tree and landscape characteristics. Native tree species were better for biodiversity than non-native species, with both native and non-native species important for different ES. In urban environments, it is recommended the species distribution follows the 30/20/10 rule where no family represents more than 30%, no genus more than 20% and no individual species more than 10% of the total tree population (Santamour, 1990; British Standards Institution, 2014; Trees and Design Action Group, 2021), meaning *Quercus robur* exceeds this guideline at 79% of the parkland tree population. Alternative, potentially non-native species, will be important to consider planting when thinking about a more resilient future parkland tree community less vulnerable to pests, diseases and future climate change scenarios, utilising the strengths and functional differences of different species (Mitchell et al., 2016; Mitchell et al., 2021).

The location of new plantings could be based on historic tree layouts set out by 'Capability' Brown or near current dead or dying trees. Planting around the current mature and veteran parkland trees could be beneficial. New trees can act as protection buffers to protect vulnerable veteran trees, for example from windthrow. Trees in these buffers would be recruits into the parkland tree population to eventually replace the existing veteran trees after they have died (Lindenmayer, 2017). The increased density of trees could have an impact on the microclimatic conditions important for creating certain microhabitats, however this thesis found limited effects of the spatial distribution of trees on TreM diversity, agreeing with previous studies (Asbeck, Messier, et al., 2020). However, overcrowding could lead to a reduced canopy size, which was shown to negatively affect ES values. Allowing trees to reach their maximum canopy size whilst also having neighbours could accommodate for both greater biodiversity and ES values.

Sympathetic grassland management could be key to improving landscape connectivity for parkland species, increasing grassland species diversity for saproxylic pollinators, as well as for increasing natural tree recruitment into the parkland. Livestock grazing is an important component of wood-pasture and parkland management (Plieninger, Hartel, et al., 2015). The correct grazing pressure and grazing regime is essential to ensure the parkland habitat mosaic and tree regeneration while halting the encroachment of dense scrub cover (Plieninger, 2007; Bergmeier et al., 2010). For the principal parkland regeneration phases in the New Forest, UK, maximum grazing pressure thresholds constitute 0.3 AU ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ (grazing animal units per hectare per year) for cattle, 0.15 AU ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ for ponies, and 0.45 AU ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ for deer (Mountford and Peterken, 2003), with similar thresholds in former pastures and arable fields in Belgium (Plieninger, Hartel, et al., 2015). Browsing intensity is greater in spring and summer on saplings, when new growth is available, than in autumn or winter (Plieninger, Hartel, et al., 2015). Therefore, tree regeneration is not prevented by grazing outside the main tree growth period. Whilst grazing of wood-pasture and parkland is most common, a combination of grazing and mowing could help promote a greater diversity of non-grass flowering species (The Wildlife Trusts, 2016). Nationally rare waxcap fungi are found in the Harewood Estate parkland grassland (Penny Anderson Associates, 2021c), therefore a mosaic of cut and uncut grassland could be necessary to maintain the waxcaps whilst increasing flowering plant diversity. Parkland grassland structural heterogeneity would allow for many habitat niches for all these management objectives.

6.5 Results in the broader context of parkland estates

The findings of this thesis can be applied to other parkland estates wishing to enhance the biodiversity and ES values of their parkland. Broadly, as with the Harewood estate, other parkland estates should initially focus on tree-level management as the easiest and most cost effective way to increase and maintain parkland values. However, with regards to the successful multifunctionality of other parkland estates, bespoke research will be needed as the specific trade-off analysis done in this thesis is likely not comparable to other estates whose biodiversity, regulating ES and cultural ES values differ. The successful multifunctionality of parkland estates by providing multiple societal benefits fulfils the role many of these landscapes once had (Bergmeier et al., 2010; Plieninger, Hartel, et al., 2015). This thesis has shown they still have an important part to play in meeting 21st century societal challenges such as ecosystem degradation, biodiversity loss, and climate change through providing important habitats and ES, and under the correct sustainable management regime parkland estates can help meet these challenges.

The dissemination of parkland management recommendations is key to helping meet these challenges. Organisations affiliated with parkland estates could be key to this, such as the Treasure Houses of England heritage consortium (Treasure Houses of England, 2021), or charities regularly engaging with parkland estates such as the Ancient Tree Forum conservation charity (Ancient Tree Forum, 2021). Consultations with land managers could help integrate recommendations into long-term parkland estate management plans.

Given this thesis represents one of the first investigations of the trade-off relationships between the important values parkland estates provide, future research should strive to ascertain whether the findings presented here are ubiquitous across parkland estates – whether biodiversity, regulating ES and cultural ES always synergistic. Future studies should also seek to encompass a greater number of tree species into analysis to explain some relationships found with different species' values, which was not possible in this investigation owing to a statistically insignificant number of some tree species. It would also be interesting to explore tree functional groups and how different functional ratios could change biodiversity and ES values.

7 Conclusion

This thesis has demonstrated that historic parklands are complex landscapes which are valuable in many different ways. Parkland trees have been shown to be valuable for biodiversity. regulating ES and cultural ES. TreM diversity was higher in parkland trees than trees found in broadleaf European forests. Parkland trees currently provide 1,224,030 kg of carbon storage, 14,522 kg/year of gross carbon sequestration, 693 m³/year avoided stormwater runoff and 412 kg/year air pollution removal regulating ES value and £28,117,919 in cultural amenity ES value within the Harewood Estate. This thesis has also shown that the value of a parkland depends on the tree and landscape characteristics. However, the consistent dominant driver of these values is tree-level characteristics, specifically tree size and age, agreeing with the previous literature that it is the largest and oldest trees that contribute disproportionately to biodiversity and ES. Tree species also plays an important role in driving these values; however, species that provide a high value for biodiversity may not necessarily provide a high value for ES. Despite this, biodiversity, regulating ES and cultural ES were overwhelmingly synergistic when trade-off analysis was carried out, suggesting the Harewood Estate parkland is a successful multifunctional landscape. Multifunctional landscapes with intermediate human intervention (such as wood-pastures and parklands) have been shown to have a positive effect on biodiversity, regulating and cultural ES. Although, this study has shown individual parkland trees are valuable, the scrub and grassland understorey are important defining features of wood-pasture and parkland and are therefore valuable. As social-ecological systems, the type of value is dictated by the management regime preference. The main future threats identified in the continuity of the Harewood Estate parkland are the tree generation gap, low parkland tree diversity, large distance between veteran trees, and lack of tree recruitment. Future management should initially focus on maintaining and retaining parkland trees, as these trees provide greater benefits the larger and older they become, makes this the easiest, most cost effective way of increasing and maintaining parkland values. Improving the connectivity is also crucial and can be achieved through new trees and more sympathetic grassland management. Parkland estates have an important part to play in biodiversity and ecosystem recovery, and under the correct management regime they can help achieve this. Further research now needs to take place across other parkland estates to identify whether biodiversity, regulating ES and cultural ES are always synergistic.

8 Bibliography

- Alcock, I., White, M.P., Lovell, R., Higgins, S.L., Osborne, N.J., Husk, K. and Wheeler, B.W. 2015.
 What accounts for 'England's green and pleasant land'? A panel data analysis of mental health and land cover types in rural England. *Landscape and Urban Planning*. 142, pp.38–46.
- Alexander, K., Butler, J. and Green, T. 2006. The value of different tree and shrub species to wildlife. *British Wildlife*. **18**(1), pp.18–28.
- Alfaro, R.I., Fady, B., Vendramin, G.G., Dawson, I.K., Fleming, R.A., Sáenz-Romero, C., Lindig-Cisneros, R.A., Murdock, T., Vinceti, B., Navarro, C.M., Skrøppa, T., Baldinelli, G., El-Kassaby, Y.A. and Loo, J. 2014. The role of forest genetic resources in responding to biotic and abiotic factors in the context of anthropogenic climate change. *Forest Ecology and Management.* 333, pp.76–87.
- Ament, J.M., Moore, C.A., Herbst, M. and Cumming, G.S. 2017. Cultural Ecosystem Services in Protected Areas: Understanding Bundles, Trade-Offs, and Synergies. *Conservation Letters*. **10**(4), pp.440–450.
- Ancient Tree Forum 2021. Ancient Tree Forum. [Accessed 20 November 2021]. Available from: https://www.ancienttreeforum.org.uk/.
- Asbeck, T., Basile, M., Stitt, J., Bauhus, J., Storch, I. and Vierling, K. 2020. Tree related microhabitats are similar in mountain forests of Europe and North America and their occurrence may be explained by tree functional groups. *Trees.* **34**, pp.1453–1466.
- Asbeck, T., Großmann, J., Paillet, Y., Winiger, N. and Bauhus, J. 2021. The Use of Tree-Related Microhabitats as Forest Biodiversity Indicators and to Guide Integrated Forest Management. *Current Forestry Reports*. **7**, pp.59–68.
- Asbeck, T., Messier, C. and Bauhus, J. 2020. Retention of tree-related microhabitats is more dependent on selection of habitat trees than their spatial distribution. *European Journal of Forest Research*. **139**, pp.1015–1028.
- Asbeck, T., Pyttel, P., Frey, J. and Bauhus, J. 2019. Predicting abundance and diversity of treerelated microhabitats in Central European montane forests from common forest attributes. *Forest Ecology and Management.* **432**, pp.400–408.
- Askwith, C. 1999. The economic contribution of historic parks, gardens and designed landscapes: A review of existing data and research and recommendations for future research. *International Journal of Phytoremediation*. **21**(1), pp.27–79.
- Assandri, G., Bogliani, G., Pedrini, P. and Brambilla, M. 2018. Beautiful agricultural landscapes promote cultural ecosystem services and biodiversity conservation. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*. **256**, pp.200–210.
- Ballesteros, J.A., Stoffel, M., Bodoque, J.M., Bollschweiler, M., Hitz, O. and Díez-Herrero, A. 2010.
 Changes in wood anatomy in tree rings of Pinus pinaster Ait. following wounding by flash floods.
 Tree-Ring Research. 66(2), pp.93–103.
- Balvanera, P., Pfisterer, A.B., Buchmann, N., He, J.-S., Nakashizuka, T., Raffaelli, D. and Schmid,
 B. 2006. Quantifying the evidence for biodiversity effects on ecosystem functioning and services. *Ecology Letters*. 9(10), pp.1146–1156.
- Baró, F., Gómez-Baggethun, E. and Haase, D. 2017. Ecosystem service bundles along the urbanrural gradient: Insights for landscape planning and management. *Ecosystem Services*. 24, pp.147–159.
- Barrios, E., Valencia, V., Jonsson, M., Brauman, A., Hairiah, K., Mortimer, P.E. and Okubo, S. 2018. Contribution of trees to the conservation of biodiversity and ecosystem services in agricultural landscapes. *International Journal of Biodiversity Science, Ecosystem Services and Management.* 14(1), pp.1–16.
- Barsoum, N., Gill, R., Henderson, L., Peace, A., Quine, C., Saraev, V. and Valatin, G. 2016.Biodiversity and rotation length: economic models and ecological evidence *In: FCRN022*.Forestry Commission, p.10.
- Barth, B.J., FitzGibbon, S.I., Gillett, A., Wilson, R.S., Moffitt, B., Pye, G.W., Adam, D., Preece, H. and Ellis, W.A. 2019. Scattered paddock trees and roadside vegetation can provide important habitat for koalas (*Phascolarctos cinereus*) in an agricultural landscape. *Australian Mammalogy*. **42**(2), pp.194–203.
- Basile, M., Asbeck, T., Pacioni, C., Mikusiński, G. and Storch, I. 2020. Woodpecker cavity establishment in managed forests: relative rather than absolute tree size matters. *Wildlife Biology*. 2020(1), pp.1–9.
- Baveye, P.C. 2017. Quantification of ecosystem services: Beyond all the "guesstimates", how do we get real data? *Ecosystem Services*. **24**, pp.47–49.
- Bengtsson, V., Hedin, J. and Niklasson, M. 2012. Veteranisation of oak managing trees to speed up habitat production *In: Trees beyond the wood.*, p.11.
- Bengtsson, V., Niklasson, M. and Hedin, J. 2015. Tree veteranisation Using tools instead of time. *Conservation Land Management*. **Summer**, pp.14–17.
- Bengtsson, V., Stenström, A., Wheater, C.P. and Sandberg, K. 2021. The impact of ash dieback on veteran trees in southwestern Sweden. *Baltic Forestry*. **27**(1), p.558.
- Bennett, E.M., Peterson, G.D. and Gordon, L.J. 2009. Understanding relationships among multiple ecosystem services. *Ecology Letters*. **12**(12), pp.1394–1404.
- Bennett, K.D. 1989. A provisional map of forest types for the British Isles 5000 years ago. *Journal of Quaternary Science*. **4**(2), pp.141–144.
- Bergman, K.O. 2006. Living coastal woodlands conservation of biodiversity in Swedish Archipelagos. Swedish Forest Agency.
- Bergman, K.O., Jansson, N., Claesson, K., Palmer, M.W. and Milberg, P. 2012. How much and at what scale? Multiscale analyses as decision support for conservation of saproxylic oak beetles. *Forest Ecology and Management.* **265**, pp.133–141.
- Bergmeier, E., Petermann, J. and Schröder, E. 2010. Geobotanical survey of wood-pasture habitats

in Europe: diversity, threats and conservation. *Biodiversity and Conservation*. **19**, pp.2995–3014.

- Berner, D. 2011. Size correction in biology: how reliable are approaches based on (common) principal component analysis? *Oecologia*. **166**, pp.961–971.
- Blicharska, M. and Mikusiński, G. 2014. Incorporating Social and Cultural Significance of Large Old Trees in Conservation Policy. *Conservation Biology*. **28**(6), pp.1558–1567.
- Boddy, L. 2001. Fungal community ecology and wood decomposition processes in angiosperms: from standing tree to complete decay of coarse woody debris. *Ecological Bulletins*. **49**, pp.43–56.
- Boerema, A., Rebelo, A.J., Bodi, M.B., Esler, K.J. and Meire, P. 2017. Are ecosystem services adequately quantified? *Journal of Applied Ecology*. **54**(2), pp.358–370.
- Boyd, I.L., Freer-Smith, P.H., Gilligan, C.A. and Godfray, H.C.J. 2013. The consequence of tree pests and diseases for ecosystem services. *Science*. **342**(6160), p.1235773.
- Brändle, M. and Brandl, R. 2001. Species richness of insects and mites on trees: Expanding Southwood. *Journal of Animal Ecology*. **70**(3), pp.491–504.
- Briffa, K.R. 2000. Annual climate variability in the Holocene: Interpreting the message of ancient trees. *Quaternary Science Reviews*. **19**(1–5), pp.87–105.
- British Standards Institution 2010. *BS 3998:2010 Tree work Recommendations* 3rd ed. BSI Standards Limited.
- British Standards Institution 2012. BS 5837:2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction-Recommendations 4th ed. BSI Standards Limited.
- British Standards Institution 2014. BS 8545:2014 Trees: from nursery to independence in the landscape - Recommendations. BSI Standards Limited.
- Bugalho, M.N., Caldeira, M.C., Pereira, J.S., Aronson, J. and Pausas, J.G. 2011. Mediterranean cork oak savannas require human use to sustain biodiversity and ecosystem services. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*. **9**(5), pp.278–286.
- Burnham, K.P. and Anderson, D.R. 2004. Multimodel Inference: Understanding AIC and BIC in Model Selection. *Sociological Methods & Research*. **33**(2), pp.261–304.
- Butler, J., Alexander, K. and Green, T. 2002. Decaying Wood: An Overview of Its Status and Ecology in the United Kingdom and Continental Europe. USDA Forest Service General Technical Reports. 181, pp.11–19.
- Cáceres, D.M., Tapella, E., Quétier, F. and Díaz, S. 2015. The social value of biodiversity and ecosystem services from the perspectives of different social actors. *Ecology and Society*. **20**(1), p.62.
- Cardinale, B.J., Duffy, J.E., Gonzalez, A., Hooper, D.U., Perrings, C., Venail, P., Narwani, A., MacE, G.M., Tilman, D., Wardle, D.A., Kinzig, A.P., Daily, G.C., Loreau, M., Grace, J.B., Larigauderie, A., Srivastava, D.S. and Naeem, S. 2012. Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. *Nature*. 486, pp.59–67.

- Cardinale, B.J., Srivastava, D.S., Duffy, J.E., Wright, J.P., Downing, A.L., Sankaran, M. and Jouseau, C. 2006. Effects of biodiversity on the functioning of trophic groups and ecosystems. *Nature*. **443**, pp.989–992.
- Carlsson, S., Bergman, K.O., Jansson, N., Ranius, T. and Milberg, P. 2016. Boxing for biodiversity: evaluation of an artificially created decaying wood habitat. *Biodiversity and Conservation*. **25**, pp.393–405.
- Carpenter, S.R., Mooney, H.A., Agard, J., Capistrano, D., DeFries, R.S., Díaz, S., Dietz, T., Duraiappah, A.K., Oteng-Yeboah, A., Pereira, H.M., Perrings, C., Reid, W. V., Sarukhan, J., Scholes, R.J. and Whyte, A. 2009. Science for managing ecosystem services: Beyond the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. **106**(5), pp.1305–1312.
- Chave, J., Andalo, C., Brown, S., Cairns, M.A., Chambers, J.Q., Eamus, D., Fölster, H., Fromard, F., Higuchi, N., Kira, T., Lescure, J.P., Nelson, B.W., Ogawa, H., Puig, H., Riéra, B. and Yamakura, T. 2005. Tree allometry and improved estimation of carbon stocks and balance in tropical forests. *Oecologia*. **145**, pp.87–99.
- Chételat, J., Kalbermatten, M., Lannas, K.S.M., Spiegelberger, T., Wettstein, J.B., Gillet, F.,
 Peringer, A. and Buttler, A. 2013. A contextual analysis of land-use and vegetation changes in
 two wooded pastures in the Swiss Jura Mountains. *Ecology and Society*. 18(1), p.39.
- Clark, D.B. and Clark, D.A. 1996. Abundance, growth and mortality of very large trees in neotropical lowland rain forest. *Forest Ecology and Management.* **80**(1–3), pp.235–244.
- Coker, T.L.R., Rozsypálek, J., Edwards, A., Harwood, T.P., Butfoy, L. and Buggs, R.J.A. 2019. Estimating mortality rates of European ash (Fraxinus excelsior) under the ash dieback (Hymenoscyphus fraxineus) epidemic. *Plants, People, Planet.* **1**(1), pp.48–58.
- Connor, E.F., Faeth, S.H., Simberloff, D. and Opler, P.A. 1980. Taxonomic isolation and the accumulation of herbivorous insects: a comparison of introduced and native trees. *Ecological Entomology*. **5**(3), pp.205–211.
- Costanza, R., de Groot, R., Sutton, P., van der Ploeg, S., Anderson, S.J., Kubiszewski, I., Farber,
 S. and Turner, R.K. 2014. Changes in the global value of ecosystem services. *Global Environmental Change*. 26, pp.152–158.
- Dade, M.C., Mitchell, M.G.E., McAlpine, C.A. and Rhodes, J.R. 2019. Assessing ecosystem service trade-offs and synergies: The need for a more mechanistic approach. *Ambio.* **48**, pp.1116–1128.
- Daniel, T.C., Muhar, A., Arnberger, A., Aznar, O., Boyd, J.W., Chan, K.M.A., Costanza, R., Elmqvist, T., Flint, C.G., Gobster, P.H., Grêt-Regamey, A., Lave, R., Muhar, S., Penker, M., Ribe, R.G., Schauppenlehner, T., Sikor, T., Soloviy, I., Spierenburg, M., Taczanowska, K., Tam, J. and Dunk, A. von der 2012. Contributions of cultural services to the ecosystem services agenda. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.* **109**(23), pp.8812–8819.

Dasgupta, P. 2021. The Economics of Biodiversity: The Dasgupta Review. London: HM Treasury.

- David, D.W., Wang, Y. and Naumann, U. 2017. Statistical methods for analysing multivariate abundance data. Available from: https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/mvabund/mvabund.pdf.
- Dean, C., Kirkpatrick, J.B., Doyle, R.B., Osborn, J., Fitzgerald, N.B. and Roxburgh, S.H. 2020. The overlooked soil carbon under large, old trees. *Geoderma*. **376**, p.114541.
- Defra 2018. A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment [Online]. London. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/25-year-environment-plan.
- Defra 2007. *Hedgerow Survey Handbook: A standard procedure for local surveys in the UK* 2nd ed. London: Defra.
- Derroire, G., Coe, R. and Healey, J.R. 2016. Isolated trees as nuclei of regeneration in tropical pastures: testing the importance of niche-based and landscape factors. *Journal of Vegetation Science*. **27**(4), pp.679–691.
- Díaz, S., Fargione, J., Chapin, F.S. and Tilman, D. 2006. Biodiversity Loss Threatens Human Well-Being. *PLoS Biology*. **4**(8), p.e277.
- Díaz, S., Pascual, U., Stenseke, M., Martín-López, B., Watson, R.T., Molnár, Z., Hill, R., Chan, K.M.A., Baste, I.A., Brauman, K.A., Polasky, S., Church, A., Lonsdale, M., Larigauderie, A., Leadley, P.W., Van Oudenhoven, A.P.E., Van Der Plaat, F., Schröter, M., Lavorel, S., Aumeeruddy-Thomas, Y., Bukvareva, E., Davies, K., Demissew, S., Erpul, G., Failler, P., Guerra, C.A., Hewitt, C.L., Keune, H., Lindley, S. and Shirayama, Y. 2018. Assessing nature's contributions to people. *Science*. **359**(6373), pp.270–272.
- Díaz, S., Settele, J., Brondízio, E.S., Ngo, H.T., Agard, J., Arneth, A., Balvanera, P., Brauman, K.A., Butchart, S.H.M., Chan, K.M.A., Lucas, A.G., Ichii, K., Liu, J., Subramanian, S.M., Midgley, G.F., Miloslavich, P., Molnár, Z., Obura, D., Pfaff, A., Polasky, S., Purvis, A., Razzaque, J., Reyers, B., Chowdhury, R.R., Shin, Y.J., Visseren-Hamakers, I., Willis, K.J. and Zayas, C.N. 2019. Pervasive human-driven decline of life on Earth points to the need for transformative change. *Science*. **366**(6471), p.eaax3100.
- Dick, J., Andrews, C., Beaumont, D.A., Benham, S., Dodd, N., Pallett, D., Rose, R., Scott, T., Smith, R., Schäfer, S.M., Turner, A. and Watson, H. 2016. Analysis of temporal change in delivery of ecosystem services over 20 years at long term monitoring sites of the UK Environmental Change Network. *Ecological Indicators*. **68**, pp.115–125.
- Doick, K.J., Buckland, A. and Clarke, T.-K. 2020. Historic Urban Tree Canopy Cover of Great Britain. *Forests.* **11**(10), p.1049.
- Doick, K.J., Neilan, C., Jones, G., Allison, A., McDermott, I., Tipping, A. and Haw, R. 2018. CAVAT (Capital Asset Value for Amenity Trees): valuing amenity trees as public assets. *Arboricultural Journal*. **40**(2), pp.67–91.
- Donkersley, P., Rhodes, G., Pickup, R.W., Jones, K.C., Power, E.F., Wright, G.A. and Wilson, K.
 2017. Nutritional composition of honey bee food stores vary with floral composition. *Oecologia*.
 185, pp.749–761.

- Dormann, C.F., Elith, J., Bacher, S., Buchmann, C., Carl, G., Carré, G., Marquéz, J.R.G., Gruber, B., Lafourcade, B., Leitão, P.J., Münkemüller, T., Mcclean, C., Osborne, P.E., Reineking, B., Schröder, B., Skidmore, A.K., Zurell, D. and Lautenbach, S. 2013. Collinearity: A review of methods to deal with it and a simulation study evaluating their performance. *Ecography*. 36(1), pp.27–46.
- Dosmann, M.S. 2006. Research in the Garden: Averting the Collections Crisis. *The Botanical Review*. **72**(3), pp.207–234.
- Drénou, C., Bouvier, M. and Lemaire, J. 2015. The diagnostic method ARCHI applied on declining pedunculate oaks. *Arboricultural Journal*. **37**(3), pp.166–179.
- Drobyshev, I., Niklasson, M., Linderson, H., Sonesson, K., Karlsson, M., Nilsson, S.G. and Lanner,
 J. 2008. Lifespan and mortality of old oaks Combining empirical and modelling approaches to
 support their management in Southern Sweden. *Annals of Forest Science*. 65, pp.401–401.
- Dujesiefken, D., Fay, N., De Groot, J.-W. and De Berker, N. 2016. Trees a Lifespan Approach: Contributions to arboriculture from European practitioners. (K. Witkos-Gnach & P. Tyszko-Chmielowiec, eds.). Wroclaw: Fundacja EkoRozwoju.
- Ekroth, A.K.E., Rafaluk-Mohr, C. and King, K.C. 2019. Host genetic diversity limits parasite success beyond agricultural systems: a meta-analysis. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B.* **286**(1911), p.20191811.
- ESRI 2020. ArcGIS Pro. Redlands, CA: Environmental Systems Research Institute.
- Fagerholm, N., Oteros-Rozas, E., Raymond, C.M., Torralba, M., Moreno, G. and Plieninger, T. 2016. Assessing linkages between ecosystem services, land-use and well-being in an agroforestry landscape using public participation GIS. *Applied Geography*. **74**, pp.30–46.
- Falk, S. 2021. A review of the pollinators associated with decaying wood, old trees and tree wounds in Great Britain. Woodland Trust.
- Fay, N. 2002. Environmental arboriculture, tree ecology and veteran tree management. *Arboricultural Journal.* **26**(3), pp.213–238.
- Fay, N. and De Berker, N. 1997. *Veteran Trees Initiative: Specialist Survey Method*. Peterborough: English Nature.
- Felipe-Lucia, M.R., Soliveres, S., Penone, C., Manning, P., van der Plas, F., Boch, S., Prati, D., Ammer, C., Schall, P., Gossner, M.M., Bauhus, J., Buscot, F., Blaser, S., Blüthgen, N., de Frutos, A., Ehbrecht, M., Frank, K., Goldmann, K., Hänsel, F., Jung, K., Kahl, T., Nauss, T., Oelmann, Y., Pena, R., Polle, A., Renner, S., Schloter, M., Schöning, I., Schrumpf, M., Schulze, E.D., Solly, E., Sorkau, E., Stempfhuber, B., Tschapka, M., Weisser, W.W., Wubet, T., Fischer, M. and Allan, E. 2018. Multiple forest attributes underpin the supply of multiple ecosystem services. *Nature Communications*. 9, p.4839.
- Firth, I.J.W. 1980. Landscape management: The conservation of a Capability Brown landscape -Harewood, Yorkshire. *Landscape Planning*. **7**(2), pp.121–149.
- Fischer, J., Stott, J. and Law, B.S. 2010. The disproportionate value of scattered trees. Biological

Conservation. 143(6), pp.1564–1567.

- Fischer, J., Stott, J., Zerger, A., Warren, G., Sherren, K. and Forrester, R.I. 2009. Reversing a tree regeneration crisis in an endangered ecoregion. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.* **106**(25), pp.10386–10391.
- Foley, J.A., DeFries, R., Asner, G.P., Barford, C., Bonan, G., Carpenter, S.R., Chapin, F.S., Coe,
 M.T., Daily, G.C., Gibbs, H.K., Helkowski, J.H., Holloway, T., Howard, E.A., Kucharik, C.J.,
 Monfreda, C., Patz, J.A., Prentice, I.C., Ramankutty, N. and Snyder, P.K. 2005. Global
 Consequences of Land Use. *Science*. **309**(5734), pp.570–574.
- Forest Research 2020. Pest and disease resources. Available from: www.forestresearch.gov.uk/tools-and-resources/pest-and-disease-resources/.
- Forestry Commission 2018. National Forest Inventory Woodland England 2018. [Accessed 16 February 2021]. Available from: https://data.gov.uk/dataset/cd748245-e68c-41e4-bb1a-4728bc64163c/national-forest-inventory-woodland-england-2018.
- Fornal-Pieniak, Ollik, M. and Schwerk, A. 2018. Impact of surroundings landscape structure on formation of plant species in afforestrated manor parks. *Applied Ecology and Environmental Research.* **16**(5), pp.6483–6497.
- Forrester, D.I. 2021. Does individual-tree biomass growth increase continuously with tree size? *Forest Ecology and Management.* **481**, p.118717.
- Frey-Ehrenbold, A., Bontadina, F., Arlettaz, R. and Obrist, M.K. 2013. Landscape connectivity, habitat structure and activity of bat guilds in farmland-dominated matrices. *Journal of Applied Ecology*. **50**(1), pp.252–261.
- Fu, B., Zhang, L., Xu, Z., Zhao, Y., Wei, Y. and Skinner, D. 2015. Ecosystem services in changing land use. *Journal of Soils and Sediments*. **15**, pp.833–843.
- Gallois, A., Audran, J.C. and Burrus, M. 1998. Assessment of genetic relationships and population discrimination among *Fagus sylvatica* L. by RAPD. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*. **97**, pp.211–219.
- Gamfeldt, L., Snäll, T., Bagchi, R., Jonsson, M., Gustafsson, L., Kjellander, P., Ruiz-Jaen, M.C.,
 Fröberg, M., Stendahl, J., Philipson, C.D., Mikusiński, G., Andersson, E., Westerlund, B.,
 Andrén, H., Moberg, F., Moen, J. and Bengtsson, J. 2013. Higher levels of multiple ecosystem
 services are found in forests with more tree species. *Nature Communications*. 4, p.1340.
- Gao, T., Nielsen, A.B. and Hedblom, M. 2015. Reviewing the strength of evidence of biodiversity indicators for forest ecosystems in Europe. *Ecological Indicators*. **57**, pp.420–434.
- García-Llorente, M., Martín-López, B., Iniesta-Arandia, I., López-Santiago, C.A., Aguilera, P.A. and Montes, C. 2012. The role of multi-functionality in social preferences toward semi-arid rural landscapes: An ecosystem service approach. *Environmental Science and Policy*. **19–20**, pp.136–146.
- Gardner, M. 2013. Cedrus libani. *The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species*. [Online], e.T46191675A46192926. [Accessed 25 February 2021]. Available from:

https://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2013-1.RLTS.T46191675A46192926.en.

- Geijzendorffer, I.R., Cohen-Shacham, E., Cord, A.F., Cramer, W., Guerra, C. and Martín-López, B.
 2017. Ecosystem services in global sustainability policies. *Environmental Science and Policy*.
 74, pp.40–48.
- Gibbons, P., Lindenmayer, D.B., Fischer, J., Manning, A.D., Weinberg, A., Seddon, J., Ryan, P. and Barrett, G. 2008. The Future of Scattered Trees in Agricultural Landscapes. *Conservation Biology*. 22(5), pp.1309–1319.
- Gillet, F. 2008. Modelling vegetation dynamics in heterogeneous pasture-woodland landscapes. *Ecological Modelling.* **217**(1–2), pp.1–18.
- Glendell, M. and Vaughan, N. 2002. Foraging activity of bats in historic landscape parks in relation to habitat composition and park management. *Animal Conservation*. **5**(4), pp.309–316.
- Gómez-Baggethun, E., de Groot, R., Lomas, P.L. and Montes, C. 2010. The history of ecosystem services in economic theory and practice: From early notions to markets and payment schemes. *Ecological Economics.* 69(6), pp.1209–1218.
- Gould, R.K., Coleman, K. and Gluck, S.B. 2018. Exploring dynamism of cultural ecosystems services through a review of environmental education research. *Ambio.* **47**, pp.869–883.
- Gregory, J., Spooner, S. and Williamson, T. 2013. Lancelot 'Capability' Brown: A Research Impact Review: Prepared for English Heritage by the Landscape Group, University of East Anglia [Online]. English Heritage. [Accessed 1 April 2021]. Available from: https://research.historicengland.org.uk/Report.aspx?i=15181.
- de Groot, R., Brander, L., van der Ploeg, S., Costanza, R., Bernard, F., Braat, L., Christie, M., Crossman, N., Ghermandi, A., Hein, L., Hussain, S., Kumar, P., McVittie, A., Portela, R., Rodriguez, L.C., ten Brink, P. and van Beukering, P. 2012. Global estimates of the value of ecosystems and their services in monetary units. *Ecosystem Services*. 1, pp.50–61.
- de Groot, R.S., Alkemade, R., Braat, L., Hein, L. and Willemen, L. 2010. Challenges in integrating the concept of ecosystem services and values in landscape planning, management and decision making. *Ecological Complexity*. **7**(3), pp.260–272.
- Großmann, J., Pyttel, P., Bauhus, J., Lecigne, B. and Messier, C. 2020. The benefits of tree wounds: Microhabitat development in urban trees as affected by intensive tree maintenance. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*. **55**, p.126817.
- Großmann, J., Schultze, J., Bauhus, J. and Pyttel, P. 2018. Predictors of microhabitat frequency and diversity in mixed mountain forests in South-Western Germany. *Forests.* **9**(3), p.104.
- Guerry, A.D., Polasky, S., Lubchenco, J., Chaplin-Kramer, R., Daily, G.C., Griffin, R., Ruckelshaus, M., Bateman, I.J., Duraiappah, A., Elmqvist, T., Feldman, M.W., Folke, C., Hoekstra, J., Kareiva, P.M., Keeler, B.L., Li, S., McKenzie, E., Ouyang, Z., Reyers, B., Ricketts, T.H., Rockström, J., Tallis, H. and Vira, B. 2015. Natural capital and ecosystem services informing decisions: From promise to practice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 112(24), pp.7348–7355.

- Gugan, A., Walker, H., Mooney, H. and Scott, C. 2019. *University of Leeds: Enhancing the Benefits* of *Trees on Campus*. United Bank of Carbon & Leeds Ecosystem, Atmosphere and Forest Centre, University of Leeds.
- Haines-Young, R. and Potschin, M. 2018. Common International Clasification of Ecosystem Services (CICES) V5.1 and Guidance on the Application of the Revised Structure [Online].
 Available from: www.cices.eu.
- Haines-Young, R. and Potschin, M. 2012. *Common international classification of ecosystem services* (CICES) V4 [Online]. Available from: www.cices.eu.
- Haines-Young, R. and Potschin, M. 2010. The links between biodiversity, ecosystem services and human well-being *In: Ecosystem Ecology: A New Synthesis.*, pp.110–139.
- Hall, C., O'Brien, L., Hand, K. and Raum, S. 2018. *Evaluation of i-Tree Eco surveys in Great Britain* - *Impacts and key lessons: The views of stakeholders*. Farnham: Forest Research.
- Hall, S.J.G. and Bunce, R.G.H. 2011. Mature trees as keystone structures in holarctic ecosystems

 a quantitative species comparison in a northern english park. *Plant Ecology and Diversity*.
 4(2–3), pp.243–250.
- Hand, K.L., Doick, K.J. and Moss, J.L. 2019. *Ecosystem services delivery by large stature urban trees.* Edinburgh: Forest Research.
- Handley, C. and Rotherham, I.D. (eds.). 2017. *What Did Capability Brown Do for Ecology? The Legacy for Biodiversity, Landscapes and Nature Conservation*. Sheffield: Wildtrack Publishing.
- Handmaker, O., Keeler, B.L. and Milz, D. 2021. What type of value information is most valuable to stakeholders? Multi-sector perspectives on the utility and relevance of water valuation information. *Environmental Science and Policy*. **115**, pp.47–60.

Harewood Estate 2021. Email from Ailsa Henderson, Development Manager, 3 February 2021.

- Harrison, P.A., Berry, P.M., Simpson, G., Haslett, J.R., Blicharska, M., Bucur, M., Dunford, R., Egoh,
 B., Garcia-Llorente, M., Geamănă, N., Geertsema, W., Lommelen, E., Meiresonne, L. and
 Turkelboom, F. 2014. Linkages between biodiversity attributes and ecosystem services: A systematic review. *Ecosystem Services*. 9, pp.191–203.
- Hartel, T., Dorresteijn, I., Klein, C., Máthé, O., Moga, C.I., Öllerer, K., Roellig, M., von Wehrden, H.
 and Fischer, J. 2013. Wood-pastures in a traditional rural region of Eastern Europe: Characteristics, management and status. *Biological Conservation*. **166**, pp.267–275.
- Hayhow, D., Burns, F., Eaton, M., Al Fulaij, N., August, T., Babey, L., Bacon, L., Bingham, C., Boswell, J., Boughey, K., Brereton, T., Brookman, E., Brooks, D., Bullock, D., Burke, O., Collis, M., Corbet, L., Cornish, N., De Massimi, S., Densham, J., Dunn, E., Elliott, S., Gent, T., Godber, J., Hamilton, S., Havery, S., Hawkins, S., Henney, J., Holmes, K., Hutchinson, N., Isaac, N., Johns, D., Macadam, C., Mathews, F., Nicolet, P., Noble, D., Outhwaite, C., Powney, G., Richardson, P., Roy, D., Sims, D., Smart, S., Stevenson, K., Stroud, R., Walker, K., Webb, J., Webb, T., Wynde, R. and Gregory, R. 2016. State of Nature 2016. *The State of Nature partnership*.

- Hayhow, D., Eaton, M., Stanbury, A., Burns, F., Kirby, W., Bailey, N., Beckmann, B., Bedford, J., Boersch-Supan, P., Coomber, F., Dennis, E., Dolman, S., Dunn, E., Hall, J., Harrower, C., Hatfield, J., Hawley, J., Haysom, K., Hughes, J., Johns, D., Mathews, F., McQuatters-Gollop, A., Noble, D., Outhwaite, C., Pearce-Higgins, J., Pescott, O., Powney, G. and Symes, N. 2019. State of Nature 2019. *The State of Nature partnership*.
- Historic England 1984. Harewood House, Grade I Park and Garden 1001218. [Accessed 24 June 2020]. Available from: https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1001218.
- Historic England 2018. Registered Parks and Gardens GIS Data. [Accessed 20 November 2020]. Available from: https://data.gov.uk/dataset/88cfe0de-85cd-431f-9836-2bee841d8165/registered-parks-and-gardens-gis-data.
- Horák, J. and Rébl, K. 2013. The species richness of click beetles in ancient pasture woodland benefits from a high level of sun exposure. *Journal of Insect Conservation*. **17**, pp.307–318.
- Hothorn, T., Bretz, F. and Westfall, P. 2008. Simultaneous Inference in General Parametric Models. *Biometrical Journal.* **50**(3), pp.346–363.
- Howe, C., Suich, H., Vira, B. and Mace, G.M. 2014. Creating win-wins from trade-offs? Ecosystem services for human well-being: A meta-analysis of ecosystem service trade-offs and synergies in the real world. *Global Environmental Change*. **28**, pp.263–275.
- Hutton Forestry 1999. Harewood Estate Parkland Tree Survey. September 1999.
- i-Tree 2020a. *i-Tree Eco Field Guide* [Online] v6.0. [Accessed 13 August 2020]. Available from: https://www.itreetools.org/support/resources-overview/i-tree-manuals-workbooks.
- i-Tree 2020b. *i-Tree Eco User's Manual* [Online] v6.0. [Accessed 3 August 2020]. Available from: www.itreetools.org.
- i-Tree 2020c. i-Tree Tools website. [Accessed 18 November 2020]. Available from: https://www.itreetools.org/.
- IPBES 2019. Summary for policymakers of the global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (S. Díaz, J. Settele, E. S. Brondízio, H. T. Ngo, M. Guèze, J. Agard, A. Arneth, P. Balvanera, K. A. Brauman, S. H. M. Butchart, K. M. A. Chan, L. A. Garibaldi, K. Ichii, J. Liu, S. M. Subramanian, G. F. Midgley, P. Miloslavich, Z. Molnár, D. Obura, A. Pfaff, S. Polasky, A. Purvis, J. Razzaque, B. Reyers, R. R. Chowdhury, Y. J. Shin, I. J. Visseren-Hamakers, K. J. Willis, & C. N. Zayas, eds.). Bonn, Germany: IPBES secretariat.
- IPNI 2021. International Plant Names Index [Online]. The Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew, Harvard University Herbaria & Libraries and Australian National Botanic Gardens. [Accessed 18 June 2021]. Available from: http://www.ipni.org.
- Jahed, R.R., Kavousi, M.R., Farashiani, M.E., Sagheb-Talebi, K., Babanezhad, M., Courbaud, B., Wirtz, R., Müller, J. and Larrieu, L. 2020. A Comparison of the Formation Rates and Composition of Tree-Related Microhabitats in Beech-Dominated Primeval Carpathian and Hyrcanian Forests. *Forests.* **11**(2), p.144.

- Jasińska, A.K., Boratyńska, K., Sobierajska, K., Romo, A., Ok, T., Kharat, M.B.D. and Boratyński, A. 2013. Relationships among *Cedrus libani*, *C. brevifolia* and *C. atlantica* as revealed by the morphological and anatomical needle characters. *Plant Systematics and Evolution*. **299**, pp.35– 48.
- JNCC 2019. UK BAP Priority Habitats. [Accessed 24 June 2020]. Available from: https://jncc.gov.uk/our-work/uk-bap-priority-habitats/.
- JNCC 2011. UK Biodiversity Action Plan; Priority Habitat Descriptions (Wood-Pasture and Parkland) (Updated 2011) [Online]. [Accessed 19 June 2020]. Available from: http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/page-5706.
- Johann, F. and Schaich, H. 2016. Land ownership affects diversity and abundance of tree microhabitats in deciduous temperate forests. *Forest Ecology and Management*. **380**, pp.70–81.
- Johnson, O. and More, D. 2006. Collins Tree Guide. London: HarperCollins.
- Jonsell, M. 2012. Old park trees as habitat for saproxylic beetle species. *Biodiversity and Conservation*. **21**(3), pp.619–642.
- Josse, J. and Husson, F. 2016. missMDA: A Package for Handling Missing Values in Multivariate Data Analysis. *Journal of Statistical Software*. **70**(1), pp.1–31.
- Kalcounis-Riippell, M.C., Psyllakis, J.M. and Brigham, R.M. 2005. Tree roost selection by bats: an empirical synthesis using meta-analysis. *Wildlife Society Bulletin*. **33**(3), pp.1123–1132.
- Kay, S., Crous-Duran, J., Ferreiro-Domínguez, N., García de Jalón, S., Graves, A., Moreno, G., Mosquera-Losada, M.R., Palma, J.H.N., Roces-Díaz, J. V., Santiago-Freijanes, J.J., Szerencsits, E., Weibel, R. and Herzog, F. 2018. Spatial similarities between European agroforestry systems and ecosystem services at the landscape scale. *Agroforestry Systems*. 92, pp.1075–1089.
- Keith, H., Mackey, B.G. and Lindenmayer, D.B. 2009. Re-evaluation of forest biomass carbon stocks and lessons from the world's most carbon-dense forests. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences. **106**(28), pp.11635–11640.
- Kennedy, C.E.J. and Southwood, T.R.E. 1984. The number of species of insects associated with British trees: A re-analysis. *The Journal of Animal Ecology*. **53**(2), pp.455–478.
- Kirby, K.J., Thomas, R.C., Key, R.S., McLean, I.F.G. and Hodgetts, N. 1995. Pasture-woodland and its conservation in Britain. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*. **56**(s1), pp.135–153.
- Klein, A.-M., Vaissire, B.E., Cane, J.H., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Cunningham, S.A., Kremen, C. and Tscharntke, T. 2006. Importance of pollinators in changing landscapes for world crops. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*. **274**(1608), pp.303–313.
- Kowarik, I., Buchholz, S., von der Lippe, M. and Seitz, B. 2016. Biodiversity functions of urban cemeteries: Evidence from one of the largest Jewish cemeteries in Europe. *Urban Forestry and Urban Greening.* **19**, pp.68–78.
- Kraus, D., Bütler, R., Krumm, F., Lachat, T., Larrieu, L., Mergner, U., Paillet, Y., Schuck, A. and

Winter, S. 2016. Catalogue of tree microhabitats: Reference field list. *Integrate+ Technical Paper.*, p.16.

- Kümmerling, M. and Müller, N. 2012. The relationship between landscape design style and the conservation value of parks: A case study of a historical park in Weimar, Germany. *Landscape and Urban Planning*. **107**, pp.111–117.
- Lander, T.A., Boshier, D.H. and Harris, S.A. 2010. Fragmented but not isolated: Contribution of single trees, small patches and long-distance pollen flow to genetic connectivity for *Gomortega keule*, an endangered Chilean tree. *Biological Conservation*. **143**(11), pp.2583–2590.
- Landuyt, D., Broekx, S. and Goethals, P.L.M. 2016. Bayesian belief networks to analyse trade-offs among ecosystem services at the regional scale. *Ecological Indicators*. **71**, pp.327–335.
- Larrieu, L. and Cabanettes, A. 2012. Species, live status, and diameter are important tree features for diversity and abundance of tree microhabitats in subnatural montane beech-fir forests. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research.* **42**(8), pp.1433–1445.
- Larrieu, L., Paillet, Y., Winter, S., Bütler, R., Kraus, D., Krumm, F., Lachat, T., Michel, A.K., Regnery,
 B. and Vandekerkhove, K. 2018. Tree related microhabitats in temperate and Mediterranean European forests: A hierarchical typology for inventory standardization. *Ecological Indicators*.
 84, pp.194–207.
- Lassauce, A., Paillet, Y., Jactel, H. and Bouget, C. 2011. Deadwood as a surrogate for forest biodiversity: Meta-analysis of correlations between deadwood volume and species richness of saproxylic organisms. *Ecological Indicators*. **11**(5), pp.1027–1039.
- Latham, J., Hall, J., Holl, K., Perry, S., Goldberg, E. and Reid, C. 2018. Guidelines for the Selection of Biological SSSIs. Part 2: Detailed Guidelines for Habitats and Species Groups. Chapter 2a Woodlands, Wood Pasture and Parkland, and Veteran Trees [Online]. Peterborough: JNCC. [Accessed 30 December 2020]. Available from: http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/page-2303.
- Laurila-Pant, M., Lehikoinen, A., Uusitalo, L. and Venesjärvi, R. 2015. How to value biodiversity in environmental management? *Ecological Indicators*. **55**, pp.1–11.
- Lawton, R., Fujiwara, D., Arber, M., Maguire, H., Malde, J., O'Donovan, P., Lyons, A. and Atkinson,
 G. 2020. DCMS Rapid Evidence Assessment: Culture and Heritage Valuation Studies -Technical Report [Online]. London. [Accessed 25 January 2021]. Available from: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_dat a/file/955142/REA_culture_heritage_value_Simetrica.pdf.
- Lear, R., Wigley, S., Lord, A., Lusardi, J. and Rice, P. 2020. *Natural Capital Atlases: Mapping Indicators for County and City Regions* [Online]. Available from: http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6672365834731520.
- Lee, H. and Lautenbach, S. 2016. A quantitative review of relationships between ecosystem services. *Ecological Indicators*. **66**, pp.340–351.
- Lennon, B. 2009. Estimating the age of groups of trees in historic landscapes. *Arboricultural Journal*. **32**(3), pp.167–188.

- Liira, J., Lõhmus, K. and Tuisk, E. 2012. Old manor parks as potential habitats for forest flora in agricultural landscapes of Estonia. *Biological Conservation*. **146**(1), pp.144–154.
- Liira, J., Suija, A. and Jüriado, I. 2020. Habitat and host specificity of epiphytic lichens in a rural landscape: cultural heritage habitats as refugia. *Biodiversity and Conservation*. **29**(7), pp.2141–2160.
- Lin, J., Kroll, C.N. and Nowak, D.J. 2020. Ecosystem Service-Based Sensitivity Analyses of i-Tree Eco. *Arboriculture & Urban Forestry*. **46**(4), pp.287–306.
- Lindenmayer, D.B. 2017. Conserving large old trees as small natural features. *Biological Conservation*. **211**, pp.51–59.
- Lindenmayer, D.B. and Laurance, W.F. 2017. The ecology, distribution, conservation and management of large old trees. *Biological Reviews*. **92**(3), pp.1434–1458.
- Lindenmayer, D.B., Laurance, W.F. and Franklin, J.F. 2012. Ecology: Global decline in large old trees. *Science*. **338**(6112), pp.1305–1306.
- Lindenmayer, D.B., Laurance, W.F., Franklin, J.F., Likens, G.E., Banks, S.C., Blanchard, W., Gibbons, P., Ikin, K., Blair, D., Mcburney, L., Manning, A.D. and Stein, J.A.R. 2014. New policies for old trees: Averting a global crisis in a keystone ecological structure. *Conservation Letters*. 7(1), pp.61–69.
- Lõhmus, K. and Liira, J. 2013. Old rural parks support higher biodiversity than forest remnants. *Basic* and Applied Ecology. **14**(2), pp.165–173.
- London i-Tree Eco Project 2015. Valuing London's Urban Forest: Results of the London i-Tree Eco Project. London: Treeconomics Ltd.
- London Tree Officers Association 2021. CAVAT. [Accessed 18 February 2021]. Available from: https://www.ltoa.org.uk/resources/cavat.
- Lonsdale, D. (ed.). 2013. Ancient and other veteran trees: further guidance on management. London: The Tree Council.
- Loyn, R.H. and Kennedy, S.J. 2009. Designing old forest for the future: Old trees as habitat for birds in forests of Mountain Ash Eucalyptus regnans. *Forest Ecology and Management.* **258**(4), pp.504–515.
- Luick, R. 2008. Transhumance in Germany. Report to European Forum on Nature Conservation and
Pastoralism [Online]. Available from:
http://www.efncp.org/download/Swabian_Alb_F_F_Download.pdf.
- Lutz, J.A., Furniss, T.J., Johnson, D.J., Davies, S.J., Allen, D., Alonso, A., Anderson-Teixeira, K.J.,
 Andrade, A., Baltzer, J., Becker, K.M.L., Blomdahl, E.M., Bourg, N.A., Bunyavejchewin, S.,
 Burslem, D.F.R.P., Cansler, C.A., Cao, K., Cao, M., Cárdenas, D., Chang, L.W., Chao, K.J.,
 Chao, W.C., Chiang, J.M., Chu, C., Chuyong, G.B., Clay, K., Condit, R., Cordell, S., Dattaraja,
 H.S., Duque, A., Ewango, C.E.N., Fischer, G.A., Fletcher, C., Freund, J.A., Giardina, C.,
 Germain, S.J., Gilbert, G.S., Hao, Z., Hart, T., Hau, B.C.H., He, F., Hector, A., Howe, R.W.,
 Hsieh, C.F., Hu, Y.H., Hubbell, S.P., Inman-Narahari, F.M., Itoh, A., Janík, D., Kassim, A.R.,

Kenfack, D., Korte, L., Král, K., Larson, A.J., Li, Y. De, Lin, Y., Liu, S., Lum, S., Ma, K., Makana, J.R., Malhi, Y., McMahon, S.M., McShea, W.J., Memiaghe, H.R., Mi, X., Morecroft, M., Musili, P.M., Myers, J.A., Novotny, V., de Oliveira, A., Ong, P., Orwig, D.A., Ostertag, R., Parker, G.G., Patankar, R., Phillips, R.P., Reynolds, G., Sack, L., Song, G.Z.M., Su, S.H., Sukumar, R., Sun, I.F., Suresh, H.S., Swanson, M.E., Tan, S., Thomas, D.W., Thompson, J., Uriarte, M., Valencia, R., Vicentini, A., Vrška, T., Wang, X., Weiblen, G.D., Wolf, A., Wu, S.H., Xu, H., Yamakura, T., Yap, S. and Zimmerman, J.K. 2018. Global importance of large-diameter trees. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*. 27(7), pp.849–864.

- Mace, G.M., Norris, K. and Fitter, A.H. 2012. Biodiversity and ecosystem services: A multilayered relationship. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*. **27**(1), pp.19–26.
- Magurran, A.E. 2013. Measuring Biological Diversity. Blackwell.
- Major, R.T. 1967. The Ginkgo, the most ancient living tree The resistance of *Ginkgo biloba* L. to pests accounts in part for the longevity of this species. *Science*. **157**(3794), pp.1270–1273.
- Manning, A.D., Fischer, J. and Lindenmayer, D.B. 2006. Scattered trees are keystone structures -Implications for conservation. *Biological Conservation*. **132**(3), pp.311–321.
- Manning, A.D., Gibbons, P., Fischer, J., Oliver, D.L. and Lindenmayer, D.B. 2013. Hollow futures?
 Tree decline, lag effects and hollow-dependent species. *Animal Conservation*. **16**(4), pp.395–403.
- Manning, A.D., Gibbons, P. and Lindenmayer, D.B. 2009. Scattered trees: a complementary strategy for facilitating adaptive responses to climate change in modified landscapes? *Journal of Applied Ecology*. **46**(4), pp.915–919.
- Martín-López, B., Gómez-Baggethun, E., García-Llorente, M. and Montes, C. 2014. Trade-offs across value-domains in ecosystem services assessment. *Ecological Indicators*. **37**(Part A), pp.220–228.
- Mason, W.L. 2007. Changes in the management of British forests between 1945 and 2000 and possible future trends. *Ibis.* **149**, pp.41–52.
- McDowell, N.G., Allen, C.D., Anderson-Teixeira, K., Aukema, B.H., Bond-Lamberty, B., Chini, L., Clark, J.S., Dietze, M., Grossiord, C., Hanbury-Brown, A., Hurtt, G.C., Jackson, R.B., Johnson, D.J., Kueppers, L., Lichstein, J.W., Ogle, K., Poulter, B., Pugh, T.A.M., Seidl, R., Turner, M.G., Uriarte, M., Walker, A.P. and Xu, C. 2020. Pervasive shifts in forest dynamics in a changing world. *Science*. 368(6494), p.eaaz9463.
- McPherson, E.G., van Doorn, N. and Peper, P.J. 2016. Urban tree database and allometric equations. Albany (CA, USA): US Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Research Station. General Technical Report PSW-GTR-253.
- Miklín, J. and Čížek, L. 2014. Erasing a European biodiversity hot-spot: Open woodlands, veteran trees and mature forests succumb to forestry intensification, succession, and logging in a UNESCO Biosphere Reserve. *Journal for Nature Conservation*. **22**(1), pp.35–41.

Milberg, P., Bergman, K.O., Sancak, K. and Jansson, N. 2016. Assemblages of saproxylic beetles

on large downed trunks of oak. *Ecology and Evolution*. **6**(6), pp.1614–1625.

- Milcu, A.I., Hanspach, J., Abson, D. and Fischer, J. 2013. Cultural Ecosystem Services: A Literature Review and Prospects for Future Research. *Ecology and Society*. **18**(3), p.44.
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment 2005. *Ecosystems and Human Well-Being: Synthesis*. World Heath Organisation.
- Mitchell, A. 1974. A Field Guide to the Trees of Britain and Northern Europe. London: Collins.
- Mitchell, M.G.E., Suarez-Castro, A.F., Martinez-Harms, M., Maron, M., McAlpine, C., Gaston, K.J., Johansen, K. and Rhodes, J.R. 2015. Reframing landscape fragmentation's effects on ecosystem services. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*. **30**(4), pp.190–198.
- Mitchell, R.J., Bellamy, P.E., Ellis, C.J., Hewison, R.L., Hodgetts, N.G., Iason, G.R., Littlewood, N.A., Newey, S., Stockan, J.A. and Taylor, A.F.S. 2019. Collapsing foundations: The ecology of the British oak, implications of its decline and mitigation options. *Biological Conservation*. 233, pp.316–327.
- Mitchell, R.J., Hewison, R.L., Haghi, R.K., Robertson, A.H.J., Main, A.M. and Owen, I.J. 2021. Functional and ecosystem service differences between tree species: implications for tree species replacement. *Trees - Structure and Function*. **35**, pp.307–317.
- Mitchell, R.J., Pakeman, R.J., Broome, A., Beaton, J.K., Bellamy, P.E., Brooker, R.W., Ellis, C.J., Hester, A.J., Hodgetts, N.G., Iason, G.R., Littlewood, N.A., Pozsgai, G., Ramsay, S., Riach, D., Stockan, J.A., Taylor, A.F.S. and Woodward, S. 2016. How to Replicate the Functions and Biodiversity of a Threatened Tree Species? The Case of *Fraxinus excelsior* in Britain. *Ecosystems.* 19, pp.573–586.
- Mölder, A., Sennhenn-Reulen, H., Fischer, C., Rumpf, H., Schönfelder, E., Stockmann, J. and Nagel,
 R.V. 2019. Success factors for high-quality oak forest (Quercus robur, Q. petraea) regeneration.
 Forest Ecosystems. 6, p.49.
- Mooney, H., Walker, H., Gugan, A. and Scott, C. 2020. *The Trees of Middleton Park: a case study of natural capital valuation in Middleton Park Ward, Leeds*. Leeds: United Bank of Carbon and University of Leeds.
- Mouchet, M.A., Né Lope Lamarque, P., Martín-Ló Pez, B., Crouzat, E., Gos, P., Byczek, C. and Lavorel, S. 2014. An interdisciplinary methodological guide for quantifying associations between ecosystem services. *Global Environmental Change*. 28, pp.298–308.
- Mountford, E.P. and Peterken, G.F. 2003. Long-term change and implications for the management of wood-pastures: Experience over 40 years from Denny Wood, New Forest. *Forestry*. **76**(1), pp.19–40.
- Natural Capital Committee 2020. Final Response to the 25 Year Environment Plan Progress Report[Online].[Accessed20May2021].Availablefrom:https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/natural-capital-committee-advice-on-governments-25-year-environment-plan.from:from:
- Natural England 2021. Ancient Woodland (England). [Accessed 16 February 2021]. Available from:

https://data.gov.uk/dataset/9461f463-c363-4309-ae77-fdcd7e9df7d3/ancient-woodland-england.

- Natural England 2015. Summary of evidence : Wood-pasture and parkland. *Natural England Access* to Evidence Information Note EIN011., pp.1–13.
- Natural England 2016. The contribution historic designed landscapes make to ecology, ecological connectivity, landscape character and ecosystem services based on a study of Capability Brown sites *In: What Capability Brown did for Ecology: the legacy for biodiversity, landscapes & nature conservation.* Sheffield, pp.1–13.
- Natural England 2020. Wood Pasture and Parkland (England). [Accessed 2 February 2021]. Available from: https://data.gov.uk/dataset/bac6feb6-8222-4665-8abe-8774829ea623/woodpasture-and-parkland-england.
- Neilan, C. 2017. CAVAT (Capital Asset Value for Amenity Trees) Full Method: Users' Guide.
- Newton, I. 1994. The role of nest sites in limiting the numbers of hole-nesting birds: A review. *Biological Conservation.* **70**(3), pp.265–276.
- Nocchi, G., Brown, N., Coker, T., Plumb, W., Stocks, J., Denman, S. and Buggs, R. 2021. Genomic structure and diversity of oak populations in British Parklands. *bioRxiv*.
- Nolan, V., Reader, T., Gilbert, F. and Atkinson, N. 2020. The Ancient Tree Inventory: a summary of the results of a 15 year citizen science project recording ancient, veteran and notable trees across the UK. *Biodiversity and Conservation*. **29**, pp.3103–3129.
- Nowak, D.J. 2004. Assessing Environmental Functions and Values of Veteran Trees In: G. Nicolotti and P. Gonthier, eds. Proc. of the International Congress on the Protection and Exploitation of Veteran Trees [Online]. Torino, Italy: Regione Piemonte and Universita di Torino, pp.45–49. Available

http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.546.2756&rep=rep1&type=pdf.

- Nowak, D.J. 2020. Understanding i-Tree: Summary of Programs and Methods. General Technical Report NRS-200 [Online]. Madison, WI: U.S: Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Northern Research Station. [Accessed 3 February 2021]. Available from: https://doi.org/10.2737/ NRS-GTR-200.
- Nowak, D.J. and Greenfield, E.J. 2018. US Urban Forest Statistics, Values, and Projections. *Journal* of Forestry. **116**(2), pp.164–177.
- OPAL 2013. Tree Health Survey. Available from: www.imperial.ac.uk/opal/surveys/treehealthsurvey/.
- Östberg, J. and Trädförening, S. 2019. *Economic Valuation methods and their use in valuing Veteran trees.* VETcert.
- Oteros-Rozas, E., Martín-López, B., Fagerholm, N., Bieling, C. and Plieninger, T. 2018. Using social media photos to explore the relation between cultural ecosystem services and landscape features across five European sites. *Ecological Indicators*. **94**, pp.74–86.
- Packham, J.R., Thomas, P.A., Atkinson, M.D. and Degen, T. 2012. Biological Flora of the British

Isles: Fagus sylvatica. Journal of Ecology. 100(6), pp.1557–1608.

- Paillet, Y., Archaux, F., Boulanger, V., Debaive, N., Fuhr, M., Gilg, O., Gosselin, F. and Guilbert, E.
 2017. Snags and large trees drive higher tree microhabitat densities in strict forest reserves. *Forest Ecology and Management.* 389, pp.176–186.
- Paillet, Y., Archaux, F., du Puy, S., Bouget, C., Boulanger, V., Debaive, N., Gilg, O., Gosselin, F. and Guilbert, E. 2018. The indicator side of tree microhabitats: A multi-taxon approach based on bats, birds and saproxylic beetles. *Journal of Applied Ecology*. 55(5), pp.2147–2159.
- Paillet, Y., Debaive, N., Archaux, F., Cateau, E., Gilg, O. and Guilbert, E. 2019. Nothing else matters? Tree diameter and living status have more effects than biogeoclimatic context on microhabitat number and occurrence: An analysis in French forest reserves. *PLoS ONE*. **14**(5), p.e0216500.
- Paltto, H., Nordberg, A., Nordén, B. and Snäll, T. 2011. Development of Secondary Woodland in Oak Wood Pastures Reduces the Richness of Rare Epiphytic Lichens. *PLoS ONE*. 6(9), p.e24675.
- Pandeya, B., Buytaert, W., Zulkafli, Z., Karpouzoglou, T., Mao, F. and Hannah, D.M. 2016. A comparative analysis of ecosystem services valuation approaches for application at the local scale and in data scarce regions. *Ecosystem Services*. 22(Part B), pp.250–259.
- Paprštein, F., Holubec, V. and Sedlák, J. 2015. Inventory and conservation of fruit tree landraces as cultural heritage of Bohemian Forest (Czech Republic), indicators for former settlements of ethnic minorities. *Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution*. **62**, pp.5–11.
- Parmain, G. and Bouget, C. 2018. Large solitary oaks as keystone structures for saproxylic beetles in European agricultural landscapes. *Insect Conservation and Diversity*. **11**(1), pp.100–115.
- Pautasso, M. and Chiarucci, A. 2008. A Test of the Scale-dependence of the Species Abundance– People Correlation for Veteran Trees in Italy. *Annals of Botany*. **101**(5), pp.709–715.
- Peacock, J., Ting, J. and Bacon, K.L. 2018. Economic value of trees in the estate of the Harewood House stately home in the United Kingdom. *PeerJ.* **6**, p.e5411.

Penny Anderson Associates 2021a. Harewood Estate Grassland Assessment.

Penny Anderson Associates 2021b. Harewood Estate Terrestrial Invertebrate Assessment.

Penny Anderson Associates 2021c. Harewood Estate Waxcap Fungi Assessment.

- Petit, S. and Watkins, C. 2003. Pollarding trees: Changing attitudes to a traditional land management practice in Britain 1600-1900. *Rural History*. **14**(2), pp.157–176.
- Pfeifer, M., Lefebvre, V., Turner, E., Cusack, J., Khoo, M., Chey, V.K., Peni, M. and Ewers, R.M. 2015. Deadwood biomass: an underestimated carbon stock in degraded tropical forests? *Environmental Research Letters*. **10**(4), p.044019.

Pijut, P.M. 2000. Cedrus - The True Cedars. Journal of Arboriculture. 26(4), pp.218–224.

Plieninger, T. 2007. Compatibility of livestock grazing with stand regeneration in Mediterranean holm oak parklands. *Journal for Nature Conservation*. **15**(1), pp.1–9.

Plieninger, T. 2012. Monitoring directions and rates of change in trees outside forests through

multitemporal analysis of map sequences. Applied Geography. 32(2), pp.566–576.

- Plieninger, T., Bieling, C., Fagerholm, N., Byg, A., Hartel, T., Hurley, P., López-Santiago, C.A., Nagabhatla, N., Oteros-Rozas, E., Raymond, C.M., van der Horst, D. and Huntsinger, L. 2015. The role of cultural ecosystem services in landscape management and planning. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*. 14, pp.28–33.
- Plieninger, T., Dijks, S., Oteros-Rozas, E. and Bieling, C. 2013. Assessing, mapping, and quantifying cultural ecosystem services at community level. *Land Use Policy*. **33**, pp.118–129.
- Plieninger, T., Hartel, T., Martín-López, B., Beaufoy, G., Bergmeier, E., Kirby, K., Montero, M.J., Moreno, G., Oteros-Rozas, E. and Van Uytvanck, J. 2015. Wood-pastures of Europe: Geographic coverage, social-ecological values, conservation management, and policy implications. *Biological Conservation*. **190**, pp.70–79.
- Power, A.G. 2010. Ecosystem services and agriculture: tradeoffs and synergies. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*. **365**(1554), pp.2959–2971.
- Prevedello, J.A., Almeida-Gomes, M. and Lindenmayer, D.B. 2018. The importance of scattered trees for biodiversity conservation: A global meta-analysis. *Journal of Applied Ecology*. **55**(1), pp.205–214.
- Price, C. 2020. Considerations concerning CAVAT: what does its "tree amenity value" actually measure? *Arboricultural Journal.*, pp.1–33.
- Prigioniero, A., Sciarrillo, R., Spuria, L., Zuzolo, D., Marziano, M., Scarano, P., Tartaglia, M. and Guarino, C. 2020. Role of historic gardens in biodiversity-conservation strategy: the example of the Giardino Inglese of Reggia di Caserta (UNESCO) (Italy). *Plant Biosystems.*, pp.1–11.
- Queiroz, C., Meacham, M., Richter, K., Norström, A. V., Andersson, E., Norberg, J. and Peterson,G. 2015. Mapping bundles of ecosystem services reveals distinct types of multifunctionality within a Swedish landscape. *Ambio.* 44, pp.89–101.
- R Core Team 2020. *R: A language and environment for statistical computing* [Online]. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Available from: https://www.r-project.org/.
- Rackham, O. 1986. The History of the Countryside. London: J.M. Dent.
- Rackham, O. 1976. Trees and Woodland in the British Landscape. London: J.M. Dent.
- Ranius, T., Johansson, P., Berg, N. and Niklasson, M. 2008. The influence of tree age and microhabitat quality on the occurrence of crustose lichens associated with old oaks. *Journal of Vegetation Science*. **19**(5), pp.653–662.
- Ranius, T., Niklasson, M. and Berg, N. 2009. Development of tree hollows in pedunculate oak (*Quercus robur*). *Forest Ecology and Management*. **257**(1), pp.303–310.
- Raudsepp-Hearne, C., Peterson, G.D. and Bennett, E.M. 2010. Ecosystem service bundles for analyzing tradeoffs in diverse landscapes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. **107**(11), pp.5242–5247.
- Read, H. 2000. Veteran Trees: A guide to good management. Peterborough: English Nature.
- Read, H. and Bengtsson, V. 2019. The Management of Trees in the Wood Pasture Systems of South

East England *In*: F. A. Álvarez, G. Gomez-Mediavilla and N. Lopez-Estebanez, eds. *Silvicultures - Management and Conservation*. London: IntechOpen, pp.1–25.

- Read, H.J., Wheater, C.P., Forbes, V. and Young, J. 2010. The current status of ancient pollard beech trees at Burnham Beeches and evaluation of recent restoration techniques. *Quarterly Journal of Forestry*. **104**(2), pp.109–120.
- Regnery, B., Paillet, Y., Couvet, D. and Kerbiriou, C. 2013. Which factors influence the occurrence and density of tree microhabitats in Mediterranean oak forests? *Forest Ecology and Management.* **295**, pp.118–125.
- Reid, C., Hornigold, K., McHenry, E., Nichols, C., Townsend, M., Lewthwaite, K., Elliot, M., Pullinger,
 R., Hotchkiss, A., Gilmartin, E., White, I., Chesshire, H., Whittle, L., Garforth, J., Gosling, R.,
 Reed, T. and Hugi, M. 2021. *State of the UK's Woods and Trees 2021*. Woodland Trust.
- del Río, M., Pretzsch, H., Alberdi, I., Bielak, K., Bravo, F., Brunner, A., Condés, S., Ducey, M.J., Fonseca, T., von Lüpke, N., Pach, M., Peric, S., Perot, T., Souidi, Z., Spathelf, P., Sterba, H., Tijardovic, M., Tomé, M., Vallet, P. and Bravo-Oviedo, A. 2016. Characterization of the structure, dynamics, and productivity of mixed-species stands: review and perspectives. *European Journal of Forest Research.* 135, pp.23–49.
- Roberts, J. 1995. Historic Parks and Gardens Listing, Awareness and the Future. *Journal of Architectural Conservation*. **1**(1), pp.38–55.
- Rodríguez, J.P., Beard, T.D., Bennett, E.M., Cumming, G.S., Cork, S.J., Agard, J., Dobson, A.P. and Peterson, G.D. 2006. Trade-offs across Space, Time, and Ecosystem Services. *Ecology and Society.* **11**(1), pp.1–14.
- Rogers, K., Goodenough, J., Frediani, K. and Watson, J. 2017. *Hyde Park Tree Benefits*. London: The Royal Parks.
- Le Roux, D.S., Ikin, K., Lindenmayer, D.B., Manning, A.D. and Gibbons, P. 2015. Single large or several small? Applying biogeographic principles to tree-level conservation and biodiversity offsets. *Biological Conservation*. **191**, pp.558–566.
- Ruckelshaus, M., McKenzie, E., Tallis, H., Guerry, A., Daily, G., Kareiva, P., Polasky, S., Ricketts, T., Bhagabati, N., Wood, S.A. and Bernhardt, J. 2015. Notes from the field: Lessons learned from using ecosystem service approaches to inform real-world decisions. *Ecological Economics.* 115, pp.11–21.
- Rumble, H., Rogers, K., Doick, K. and Hutchings, T. 2015. Valuing Wrexham's Urban Forest -Assessing the Ecosystem Services of Wrexham's Urban Trees: A Technical Report. Forest Research and Treeconomics.
- Rural Payments Agency and Natural England 2016. TE2: Planting standard parkland tree. *Countryside Stewardship grants.* [Online]. Available from: www.gov.uk/countrysidestewardship-grants/planting-standard-parkland-tree-te2.
- Rust, S. and Roloff, A. 2002. Reduced photosynthesis in old oak (*Quercus robur*): the impact of crown and hydraulic architecture. *Tree Physiology*. **22**(8), pp.597–601.

- Salmond, J.A., Tadaki, M., Vardoulakis, S., Arbuthnott, K., Coutts, A., Demuzere, M., Dirks, K.N., Heaviside, C., Lim, S., Macintyre, H., Mcinnes, R.N. and Wheeler, B.W. 2016. Health and climate related ecosystem services provided by street trees in the urban environment. *Environmental Health*. **15**(S36).
- Santamour, F.S. 1990. Trees for urban planting: Diversity, uniformity and common sense *In*: *Proceedings of the 7th Conference of the Metropolitan Tree Improvement Alliance (METRIA 7).*, pp.57–65.
- Šantrůčková, M., Demková, K., Dostálek, J. and Frantík, T. 2017. Manor gardens: Harbors of local natural habitats? *Biological Conservation*. **205**, pp.16–22.
- Šantrůčková, M., Demková, K., Dostálek, J. and Frantík, T. 2019. The Potential of Manor Gardens for Natural Habitats Conservation. *Journal of Landscape Ecology*. **12**(1), pp.59–72.
- Schall, P., Schulze, E.D., Fischer, M., Ayasse, M. and Ammer, C. 2018. Relations between forest management, stand structure and productivity across different types of Central European forests. *Basic and Applied Ecology.* **32**, pp.39–52.
- Schneiders, A., Van Daele, T., Van Landuyt, W. and Van Reeth, W. 2012. Biodiversity and ecosystem services: Complementary approaches for ecosystem management? *Ecological Indicators*. **21**, pp.123–133.
- Scholte, S.S.K., van Teeffelen, A.J.A. and Verburg, P.H. 2015. Integrating socio-cultural perspectives into ecosystem service valuation: A review of concepts and methods. *Ecological Economics*. **114**, pp.67–78.
- Sebek, P., Altman, J., Platek, M. and Cizek, L. 2013. Is Active Management the Key to the Conservation of Saproxylic Biodiversity? Pollarding Promotes the Formation of Tree Hollows. *PLoS ONE*. 8(3), p.60456.
- Sebek, P., Vodka, S., Bogusch, P., Pech, P., Tropek, R., Weiss, M., Zimova, K. and Cizek, L. 2016. Open-grown trees as key habitats for arthropods in temperate woodlands: The diversity, composition, and conservation value of associated communities. *Forest Ecology and Management*. **380**, pp.172–181.
- Seibold, S., Bässler, C., Brandl, R., Fahrig, L., Förster, B., Heurich, M., Hothorn, T., Scheipl, F., Thorn, S. and Müller, J. 2017. An experimental test of the habitat-amount hypothesis for saproxylic beetles in a forested region. *Ecology*. **98**(6), pp.1613–1622.
- Seibold, S., Hagge, J., Müller, J., Gruppe, A., Brandl, R., Bässler, C. and Thorn, S. 2018. Experiments with dead wood reveal the importance of dead branches in the canopy for saproxylic beetle conservation. *Forest Ecology and Management.* **409**, pp.564–570.
- Sheil, D., Eastaugh, C.S., Vlam, M., Zuidema, P.A., Groenendijk, P., van der Sleen, P., Jay, A. and Vanclay, J. 2017. Does biomass growth increase in the largest trees? Flaws, fallacies and alternative analyses. *Functional Ecology*. **31**(3), pp.568–581.
- Sheng, H.X., Xu, H., Zhang, L. and Chen, W. 2019. Ecosystem intrinsic value and its application in decision-making for sustainable development. *Journal for Nature Conservation*. **49**, pp.27–36.

- Siitonen, J. and Ranius, T. 2015. The importance of Veteran Trees for Saproxylic Insects *In*: K. Kirby and C. Watkins, eds. *Europe's Changing Woods and Forests: From Wildwood to Managed Landscapes*. Wallingford: CAB International, pp.140–153.
- Sjöman, H., Morgenroth, J., Sjöman, J.D., Sæbø, A. and Kowarik, I. 2016. Diversification of the urban forest Can we afford to exclude exotic tree species? *Urban Forestry and Urban Greening*. **18**, pp.237–241.
- Southwood, T.R.E. 1961. The number of species of insect associated with various trees. *Journal of Animal Ecology*. **30**(1), pp.1–8.
- Steffen, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S.E., Fetzer, I., Bennett, E.M., Biggs, R., Carpenter, S.R., De Vries, W., De Wit, C.A., Folke, C., Gerten, D., Heinke, J., Mace, G.M., Persson, L.M., Ramanathan, V., Reyers, B. and Sörlin, S. 2015. Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. *Science*. **347**(6223).
- Stephenson, N.L., Das, A.J., Condit, R., Russo, S.E., Baker, P.J., Beckman, N.G., Coomes, D.A., Lines, E.R., Morris, W.K., Rüger, N., Álvarez, E., Blundo, C., Bunyavejchewin, S., Chuyong, G., Davies, S.J., Duque, Á., Ewango, C.N., Flores, O., Franklin, J.F., Grau, H.R., Hao, Z., Harmon, M.E., Hubbell, S.P., Kenfack, D., Lin, Y., Makana, J.R., Malizia, A., Malizia, L.R., Pabst, R.J., Pongpattananurak, N., Su, S.H., Sun, I.F., Tan, S., Thomas, D., Van Mantgem, P.J., Wang, X., Wiser, S.K. and Zavala, M.A. 2014. Rate of tree carbon accumulation increases continuously with tree size. *Nature*. 507, pp.90–93.
- TEEB 2010. *Mainstreaming the Economics of Nature: A Synthesis of the Approach, Conclusions and Recommendations of TEEB.* London and Washington: Earthscan.
- Tengberg, A., Fredholm, S., Eliasson, I., Knez, I., Saltzman, K. and Wetterberg, O. 2012. Cultural ecosystem services provided by landscapes: Assessment of heritage values and identity. *Ecosystem Services.* 2, pp.14–26.
- Tew, E.R., Simmons, B.I. and Sutherland, W.J. 2019. Quantifying cultural ecosystem services: Disentangling the effects of management from landscape features. *People and Nature*. 1(1), pp.70–86.
- The Wildlife Trusts 2016. Managing Grasslands for Nature. A Guidance Note for Farmers and Landowners.
- Thomas, P. 2013. Cedrus atlantica. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. [Online], e.T42303A2970716. [Accessed 25 February 2021]. Available from: https://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2013-1.RLTS.T42303A2970716.en.
- Thomas, R., Lello, J., Medeiros, R., Pollard, A., Robinson, P., Seward, A., Smith, J., Vafidis, J. and Vaughan, I. 2017. *Data Analysis with R Statistical Software: A Guidebook for Scientists*. Eco-explore.
- Thorpe, H.C., Astrup, R., Trowbridge, A. and Coates, K.D. 2010. Competition and tree crowns: A neighborhood analysis of three boreal tree species. *Forest Ecology and Management.* **259**(8), pp.1586–1596.

- Tillon, L., Bresso, K. and Aulagnier, S. 2016. Tree selection by roosting bats in a European temperate lowland sub-Atlantic forest. *Mammalia*. **80**(3), pp.271–279.
- Tilman, D., Isbell, F. and Cowles, J.M. 2014. Biodiversity and Ecosystem Functioning. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*. **45**(1), pp.471–493.
- Tomscha, S.A. and Gergel, S.E. 2016. Ecosystem service trade-offs and synergies misunderstood without landscape history. *Ecology and Society*. **21**(1), p.43.
- Torralba, M., Fagerholm, N., Burgess, P.J., Moreno, G. and Plieninger, T. 2016. Do European agroforestry systems enhance biodiversity and ecosystem services? A meta-analysis. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment.* **230**, pp.150–161.
- Treasure Houses of England 2021. Treasure Houses of England. [Accessed 6 January 2021]. Available from: https://www.treasurehouses.co.uk/.
- Trees and Design Action Group 2021. *Trees, Planning and Development: A Guide for Delivery* [Online]. Available from: https://www.tdag.org.uk/trees-planning-and-development.html.
- Tscharntke, T., Klein, A.M., Kruess, A., Steffan-Dewenter, I. and Thies, C. 2005. Landscape perspectives on agricultural intensification and biodiversity ecosystem service management. *Ecology Letters*. **8**(8), pp.857–874.
- Turner-Skoff, J.B. and Cavender, N. 2019. The benefits of trees for livable and sustainable communities. *Plants, People, Planet.* **1**(4), pp.323–335.
- UK National Ecosystem Assessment 2014. *The UK National Ecosystem Assessment Follow-on: Synthesis of Key Findings*. UK: UNEP-WCMC, LWEC.
- UK National Ecosystem Assessment 2011. *The UK National Ecosystem Assessment Technical Report.* Cambridge: UNEP-WCMC.
- Vaz Monteiro, M., Levanič, T. and Doick, K.J. 2017. Growth rates of common urban trees in five cities in Great Britain: A dendrochronological evaluation with an emphasis on the impact of climate. Urban Forestry and Urban Greening. 22, pp.11–23.
- Vera, F.W.M. 2000. Grazing Ecology and Forest History. Wallingford: CABI.
- VETcert 2019. *Definition of a veteran tree within the scope of VETcert* [Online]. Available from: https://www.vetcert.eu/sites/default/files/2019-11/Definition Fact Sheet.pdf.
- Vitousek, P.M., Mooney, H.A., Lubchenco, J. and Melillo, J.M. 1997. Human domination of Earth's ecosystems. *Science*. **277**(5325), pp.494–499.
- Vogel, S., Gossner, M.M., Mergner, U., Müller, J. and Thorn, S. 2020. Optimizing enrichment of deadwood for biodiversity by varying sun exposure and tree species: An experimental approach. *Journal of Applied Ecology*. 57(10), pp.2075–2085.
- Vuidot, A., Paillet, Y., Archaux, F. and Gosselin, F. 2011. Influence of tree characteristics and forest management on tree microhabitats. *Biological Conservation*. **144**(1), pp.441–450.
- Walerzak, M.T., Swierk, D., Krzyzaniak, M. and Urbanski, P. 2015. A method of analysis and valorisation of historic green space arrangements in rural areas in Poland. *Bulgarian Journal of Agricultural Science*. **21**(3), pp.507–516.

- Wang, Y., Naumann, U., Wright, S.T. and Warton, D.I. 2012. mvabund an R package for modelbased analysis of multivariate abundance data. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*. 3(3), pp.471–474.
- Warton, D.I., Thibaut, L. and Wang, Y.A. 2017. The PIT-trap—A "model-free" bootstrap procedure for inference about regression models with discrete, multivariate responses. *PLoS ONE*. **12**(7), p.e0181790.
- Waters, C.N., Zalasiewicz, J., Summerhayes, C., Barnosky, A.D., Poirier, C., Ga uszka, A., Cearreta, A., Edgeworth, M., Ellis, E.C., Ellis, M., Jeandel, C., Leinfelder, R., McNeill, J.R., Richter, D. d., Steffen, W., Syvitski, J., Vidas, D., Wagreich, M., Williams, M., Zhisheng, A., Grinevald, J., Odada, E., Oreskes, N. and Wolfe, A.P. 2016. The Anthropocene is functionally and stratigraphically distinct from the Holocene. *Science*. **351**(6269), p.aad2622.
- Weiskittel, A.R., Hann, D.W., Kershaw Jr, J.A. and Vanclay, J.K. 2011. *Forest Growth and Yield Modeling*. Chicester, UK: John Wiley & Sons.
- Wenk, E.H. and Falster, D.S. 2015. Quantifying and understanding reproductive allocation schedules in plants. *Ecology and Evolution*. **5**(23), pp.5521–5538.
- Westwood, M., Cavender, N., Meyer, A. and Smith, P. 2020. Botanic garden solutions to the plant extinction crisis. *Plants, People, Planet.* **3**, pp.22–32.
- White, J. 1998. *Estimating the Age of Large and Veteran Trees in Britain*. Edinburgh: Forestry Commission.
- Willcock, S., Camp, B.J. and Peh, K.S.H. 2017. A comparison of cultural ecosystem service survey methods within South England. *Ecosystem Services*. **26**, pp.445–450.
- Williamson, T., Barnes, G. and Pillatt, T. 2017. *Trees in England: Management and disease since 1600.* Hertfordshire: University of Hertfordshire Press.
- Woodland Trust 2008a. Ancient Tree Guide 2: Trees in historic parks and landscape gardens.
- Woodland Trust 2008b. Ancient Tree Guide 4: What are ancient, veteran and other trees of special interest? Grantham: Woodland Trust.
- Woodland Trust 2021. Ancient Tree Inventory. [Accessed 18 February 2021]. Available from: https://ati.woodlandtrust.org.uk/.
- World Economic Forum 2020. The Global Risks Report 2020 15th ed.
- Zheng, Z., Zhang, S., Baskin, C., Baskin, J., Schaefer, D., Yang, X. and Yang, L. 2016. Hollows in living trees develop slowly but considerably influence the estimate of forest biomass. *Functional Ecology*. **30**(5), pp.830–838.
- Zuur, A.F., leno, E.N. and Elphick, C.S. 2010. A protocol for data exploration to avoid common statistical problems. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*. **1**(1), pp.3–14.

9 Appendices

Appendix A. The Tree-related Microhabitat (TreM) hierarchical typology taken from Kraus et al. (2016) and Asbeck et al. (2019) and summarised. An additional fallen deadwood microhabitat category was added to the TreM typology, taken from Fay and De Berker (1997), highlighted in bold.

Form	Group	TreM type	Code	Description				
Cavities	Woodpecker	Small woodpecker	CV11	Woodpecker breeding cavity with a round entrance				
	cavities	breeding cavity		< 4 cm in diameter.				
	(CV1)	Medium woodpecker	CV12	Woodpecker breeding cavity with a round entrance				
		breeding cavity		5–6 cm in diameter.				
		Large woodpecker	CV13	Woodpecker breeding cavity with an oval entrance				
		breeding cavity		> 10 cm in diameter.				
		Woodpecker foraging	CV14	Hollows resulting from woodpecker foraging. The				
		excavation		excavation is conical and ≥ 10 cm diameter. The				
			0.45	entrance is larger than the interior.				
		Woodpecker "flute"	CV15	At least three woodpecker nesting cavities on the				
		(breeding cavity string)		noighbouring covitios				
	Trunk covition	Trupk bood powity > 10	C)/21	Truck covity with mould covity better has ground				
		$\frac{11011 \text{K Dase Cavity}}{210} \ge 10$	6721	contact. The cavity is protected from the external				
	(0 12)	around contact)		microclimate and precipitation (a roof is present).				
		Trunk base cavity ≥ 30	CV/22					
		cm diameter (closed top	0122					
		ground contact)						
		Trunk cavity ≥ 10 cm	CV23	Trunk cavity with mould, without ground contact.				
		diameter (closed top, no		The cavity is protected from the external				
		ground contact)		microclimate and precipitation.				
		Trunk cavity ≥ 30 cm	CV24					
		diameter (closed top, no						
		ground contact)						
		Semi-open trunk cavity	CV25	Semi-open trunk cavity ≥ 30 cm diameter. The				
				cavity is not completely protected from the external				
				microclimate and precipitation can enter.				
		Chimney trunk cavity	CV26	The cavity is open at the top, > 30 cm diameter,				
	-			often due to stem breakage.				
	Branch holes	Rot hole cavity ≥ 5 cm	CV31	Rot hole originating from branch breakage at trunk, when fungal decay of wood is progressing faster than occlusion of wound.				
	(CV3)	diameter	C)/22					
		Rot noie cavity ≥ 10 cm diameter	CV32					
		Hollow branch	CV33	A rot-hole ≥ 10 cm diameter located on a large				
			0.00	broken limb. Often forming a roughly horizontal, tube-shaped shelter.				
	Dendrotelms	Water-filled hole ≥ 3 cm	CV41	Cup-shaped hollow where precipitation can				
	(CV4)	diameter, at trunk base		accumulate and then gradually evaporate.				
		Water-filled hole ≥ 15 cm	CV42					
		diameter, at trunk base						
		Water-filled hole ≥ 5 cm	CV43					
		diameter, in tree crown						
		Water-filled hole ≥ 15 cm	CV44					
		diameter, in tree crown						
	Insect	Insect gallery	CV51	Gallery with single small bore holes.				
	galleries and	Bore holes	CV52	Large bore hole \geq 2 cm diameter.				
	bore holes							
Information and a	(CV5)	Derly lease OF 000 and 2	INI4.4					
injuries and	Bark IOSS	Dark loss 25-600 cm ⁻ ,	11111	Loss of trunk bark thus sapwood is exposed.				
wounds	(1111)	Bark loss > 600 cm^2	INI12	4				
		minor decay						
	I	minul uecay	1	1				

		Bark loss 25-600 cm ² ,	IN13	
		clear signs of decay		
		Bark loss > 600 cm^2 ,	IN14	
	Exposed	Trunk breakage	INI21	The trunk has broken off exposing the heartwood >
	heartwood	Trunk breakage	11121	20 cm diameter. The tree is still alive and is
	(IN2)	Crown breakage	IN22	developing a secondary crown. Exposed heartwood ≥ 300 cm ² through the fork
			11.100	insertion breakage into the trunk.
		LIMD breakage	IN23	A 1st order ≥ 20 cm diameter branch has broken off.
		Splintered stem	IN24	Trunk has splintered ≥ 20 cm diameter at broken end, with several long splinters, due to high force wind.
	Cracks and scars	Crack ≥ 30 cm long; > 1 cm wide; > 10 cm deep	IN31	Line-shaped crack through the bark and into the underlying sapwood. Not recorded if injury had
	(IN3)	Crack ≥ 100 cm long; > 1 cm wide; > 10 cm deep	IN32	occluded.
		Lightning scar	IN33	Bark loss and crack caused by lightning strike exposing the sapwood. Not recorded if injury had occluded.
		Fire scar	IN34	Fire scar on trunk $\geq 600 \text{ cm}^2$.
Bark	Bark space (BA1)	Bark shelter	BA11	Loose hanging bark > 1 cm wide; > 10 cm deep; > 10 cm length. Open at the bottom, forming a shelter.
		Bark pocket	BA12	Detached bark > 1 cm wide; > 10 cm deep; > 10 cm length. Open at the top, forming a pocket where mould can accumulate.
	Bark texture (BA2)	Coarse bark	BA21	Coarse and fissured bark, sometimes tree species specific.
Deadwood	Dead	Sun exposed dead	DE11	Dead, decaying limbs in contact with living wood.
	branches (DE1)	branch, 10-20 cm diameter, ≥ 50 cm length		
	`	Sun exposed dead branch, > 20 cm	DE12	-
		diameter, ≥ 50 cm length		
		Not sun exposed dead branch, 10-20 cm	DE13	
		diameter, ≥ 50 cm length	DE44	4
		Not sun exposed dead branch, > 20 cm	DE14	
		diameter, ≥ 50 cm length Dead top	DE15	Entire top of the tree has died, ≥ 10 cm diameter
	Fallon	Follon doodwood unito	EDU	base.
	deadwood	Fallen deadwood units	FDU	within its natural height scope. 1 unit = > 15 cm diameter, \geq 100 cm length.
Deformation / growth form	Root buttress cavities	Small root buttress cavity ≥ 5 cm diameter	GR11	Natural hollow at the base of the tree trunk formed by the tree roots.
9.0	(GR1)	Large root buttress cavity ≥ 10 cm diameter	GR12	
		Trunk cleavage	GR13	Cleft ≥ 30 cm length formed by tree growth at trunk
	Twig tangles	Witches broom	GR21	Dense mass of intertwined twigs > 50 cm diameter
	(GR2)	Epicormic shoots	GR22	Presence of dense mass of shoots on the base (B),
				trunk (T) or crown (C) sprouting from dormant buds under the bark.
	Burrs and cankers	Burr	GR31	Presence of the proliferation of cells with rough bark but no rotten wood.
	(GR3)	Canker	GR32	Decayed canker with rotten wood and exposed sapwood.
Epiphytes	Fruiting bodies fungi	Annual polypore	EP11	Fruiting bodies of annual polypores > 5 cm diameter or group of > 10 fruiting bodies, remaining for
	(EP1)			several weeks.

		Perennial polypore	EP12	Fruiting bodies (conks) of perennial bracket fungi > 10 cm diameter with a woody texture and several layers of tubes
		Pulpy agaric	EP13	Large, thick, and pulpy or fleshy, gilled sporophores > 5 cm diameter or group of > 10 fruiting bodies, generally remaining for several weeks.
		Large ascomycetes	EP14	Fungi > 5 cm diameter or group covering > 100 cm ² of large tough hemispheric dark fungus looking like a lump of coal.
	Myxomycetes (EP2)	Slime mould	EP21	Amoeboid slime mould > 5 cm diameter which forms plasmodium, looking like gelatinous mass when fresh.
	Epiphytes	Bryophytes	EP31	Trunk covered in > 25 % mosses and liverworts.
	(EP3)	Foliose and fruticose lichens	EP32	Trunk covered in > 25 % foliose or fruticose lichens
		Woody vines	EP33	Climbing plants covering > 25 % of the tree surface.
		Ferns	EP34	Epiphytic ferns > 5 fronds growing directly on the trunk or at the intersection of a branch.
		Mistletoe	EP35	Individual clumps growing in the tree crown.
Nests	Vertebrate	Large vertebrate nest	NE11	Large bird nest > 80 cm diameter.
	nests (NE1)	Small vertebrate nest	NE12	Small bird or rodent nest > 10 cm diameter.
	Invertebrate nests (NE2)	Invertebrate nest	NE21	Presence of a nest containing invertebrate larvae.
Other	Exudates	Sap flow	OT11	Fresh sap flowing along > 50 cm length of the trunk.
	(OT1)	Resin flow	OT12	Fresh resin flowing along > 50 cm length of the trunk.
	Microsoil (OT2)	Crown microsoil	OT21	Presence of crown microsoil formed from debris and litter originating in the canopy.
		Bark microsoil	OT22	Presence of microsoil on the trunk bark formed from moss, lichen or epiphytic alga residues and old, thick and decaying bark.

Appendix B. Description of input variables used in i-Tree Eco (carbon storage, gross carbon sequestration, avoided stormwater runoff, air pollution removal) and CAVAT (amenity value) to calculate regulating and cultural ecosystem service benefits and values per tree. A detailed description of each calculation is provided in Nowak (2020) and (Doick et al., 2018).

Ecosystem service	Input variables	Calculation description
Carbon storage	DBH, species, total height, crown base height, crown width, crown light exposure, % crown missing	Annual increase in total tree biomass (excluding leaf area for deciduous species) estimated using species-specific allometric equations and then converted to above and below-ground carbon storage estimates.
Gross carbon sequestration	DBH, species, total height, crown light exposure, % crown missing, crown health, land use	Change in carbon storage from the current year to the next based on estimated annual growth rate. This does not account for carbon lost due to tree death or decay.
Avoided stormwater runoff	Species, total height, crown base height, crown width, % crown missing, % tree cover	Leaf area is calculated from species and crown measures, and combined with local hourly weather data, using accepted methods to estimate rainfall interception.
Air pollution removal	Species, total height, crown base height, crown width, % crown missing, % tree cover	Leaf area is calculated from species and crown measures, and combined with local hourly weather data, using accepted methods to estimate air pollutants interception.
Amenity value	DBH, tree unit value factor, community tree index, public accessibility factor, crown % completeness, crown % condition, amenity value, life expectancy	A monetary value is assigned based on tree health and function and the interaction with people.

Appendix C. Taxonomic details of tree species identified in the Harewood Estate parkland as part of the study^a.

Family	Genus	Species	Variety	Authority	Common name
Betulaceae	Alnus	glutinosa		(L.) Gaertn.	Alder
Fagaceae	Castanea	sativa		Mill.	Sweet Chestnut
	Fagus	sylvatica		L.	Beech
	Fagus	sylvatica	'Purpurea'	Aiton	Copper Beech
	Quercus	coccinea		Münchh.	Scarlet Oak
	Quercus	dentata		Thunb.	Daimyo Oak
	Quercus	petraea		(Matt.) Liebl.	Sessile Oak
	Quercus	robur		L.	Pedunculate oak
Juglandaceae	Juglans	regia		L.	Walnut
Oleaceae	Fraxinus	excelsior		L.	Ash
Pinaceae	Cedrus	atlantica		(Endl.) Manetti ex Carrière	Atlas Cedar
	Cedrus	atlantica	'Glauca'		Blue Atlas Cedar
	Cedrus	libani		A.Rich.	Cedar of Lebanon
	Pinus	sylvestris		L.	Scots Pine
Platanaceae	Platanus	x hispanica		Mill. ex Münchh.	London Plane
Rosaceae	Malus	sylvestris		(L.) Mill.	Crab Apple
	Prunus	avium		(L.) L.	Wild Cherry
Salicaceae	Salix	alba		L.	White Willow
	Salix	fragilis		L.	Crack Willow
Sapindaceae	Acer	campestre		L.	Field Maple
	Acer	platanoides		L.	Norway Maple
	Acer	pseudoplatanus		L.	Sycamore
	Aesculus	hippocastanum		L.	Horse Chestnut
Malvaceae	Tilia	cordata		Mill.	Small-leaved Lime

^a Confirmed by the Collins Tree Guide (Johnson and More, 2006) and International Plant Names Index (IPNI, 2021)

Appendix D. Microhabitat type and total number of observed tree-related microhabitats (TreMs) in the sample of 249 trees.

Group	TreM type code	Number of observations
Woodpecker cavities	CV11	18
(CV1)	CV12	7
	CV13	0
	CV14	0
	CV15	0
Trunk cavities	CV21	90
(CV2)	CV22	45
	CV23	35
	CV24	25
	CV25	5
	CV26	15
Branch holes	CV31	116
(CV3)	CV32	87
	CV33	42
Dendrotelms	CV41	69
(CV4)	CV42	9
	CV43	4
	CV44	13
Insect galleries and bore holes	CV51	74
(CV5)	CV52	1
Bark loss	IN11	8
(IN1)	IN12	1
	IN13	3
	IN14	0
Exposed heartwood	IN21	13
(IN2)	IN22	55
	IN23	154
	IN24	2
Cracks and scars	IN31	24
(IN3)	IN32	44
	IN33	5
	IN34	0
Bark space	BA11	10
(BA1)	BA12	14
Bark texture (BA2)	BA21	225
Dead branches	DE11	362
(DE1)	DE12	223
	DE13	445
	DE14	335
	DE15	130
Fallen deadwood	FDU	767
Root buttress cavities	GR11	417
(GR1)	GR12	237
	GR13	284
Twig tangles	GR21	6
(GR2)	GR22	335
Burrs and cankers	GR31	59
(GR3)	GR32	3
Fruiting bodies fungi	EP11	17
(EP1)	EP12	29
	EP13	10
	EP14	4
Myxomycetes(EP2)	EP21	0

Epiphytes	EP31	0
(EP3)	EP32	0
	EP33	0
	EP34	0
	EP35	0
Vertebrate nests	NE11	2
(NE1)	NE12	26
Invertebrate nests (NE2)	NE21	6
Exudates	OT11	1
(OT1)	OT12	0
Microsoil	OT21	50
(OT2)	OT22	43

Appendix E. Results of Kruskal-Wallis (Table A) and Spearman's Rank correlation (Table B) analysis confirming which ecosystem service (ES) values provided by parkland trees can be explained by different tree and landscape characteristics. The direction of the relationship was able to be confirmed in Table B by the Spearman's rank correlation coefficient

Table A	Carbon storage		Gross carbon sequestration			Avoided stormwater runoff			Air pollution removal			Amenity value			
	χ²	df	<i>p</i> -value ^a	χ²	df	<i>p</i> -value	χ²	df	p-value	χ²	df	<i>p</i> -value	χ²	df	<i>p</i> -value
DBH size	489.360	4	0.000***	124.180	4	0.000***	318.840	4	0.000***	317.760	4	0.000***	311.620	4	0.000***
class															
Veteran	56.644	1	0.000***	26.044	1	0.000***	1.489	1	0.223	1.551	1	0.213	27.383	1	0.000***
status															
Species	64.112	9	0.000***	56.708	9	0.000***	87.280	9	0.000***	87.512	9	0.000***	21.836	8	0.005**
Condition	35.869	6	0.000***	44.158	5	0.000***	20.994	5	0.001***	22.648	5	0.000***	92.069	5	0.000***
Parkland	12.017	2	0.002**	31.766	2	0.000***	59.125	2	0.000***	58.657	2	0.000***	120.590	1	0.000***
site															
Crown light	78.696	5	0.000***	33.654	4	0.000***	111.27	4	0.000***	110.98	4	0.000***	105.480	4	0.000***
exposure															

Table B	Carbon storage			Gross carbon sequestration			Avoided stormwater runoff			Air poll	ution remov	al	Amenity value		
	<i>r</i> ₅ ^b	<i>p</i> -value ^a	Dir.º	r _s	p-value	Dir.	rs	<i>p</i> -value	Dir.	r _s	<i>p</i> -value	Dir.	r _s	<i>p</i> -value	Dir.
Leaf area	0.750	0.000***	+	0.093	0.031*	+	0.997	0.000***	+	1.000	0.000***	+	0.770	0.000***	+
Distance to	0.027	0.522	+	0.111	0.01**	+	-0.148	0.001***	-	-0.144	0.001***	-	-0.174	0.000***	-
nearest															
woodland															
Distance to	-0.042	0.314	-	0.137	0.001**	+	-0.140	0.001**	-	-0.134	0.002**	-	-0.149	0.001**	-
nearest tree															

^a *** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, * p<0.05, . p<0.1.

^b Spearman's rank correlation coefficient

^c + denotes a positive relationship, - denotes a negative relationship